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Prospectus Supplement No. 2

(to Prospectus dated December 29, 2015)

GENIUS BRANDS INTERNATIONAL, INC.

7,385,000 Shares of Common Stock

This Prospectus Supplement No. 2 supplements and amends the prospectus dated December 29, 2015, as amended and
supplemented to date, relating to the public offering of up to 7,385,000 shares of common stock of Genius Brands
International, Inc. by the selling stockholders, including 3,480,000 outstanding shares and 3,905,000 shares issuable
upon exercise of outstanding warrants.

The selling stockholders may sell common stock from time to time in the principal market on which the common
stock is traded at the prevailing market price or in negotiated transactions. We will not receive any of the proceeds
from the sale of common stock by the selling stockholders.

This prospectus supplement incorporates into our prospectus the information contained in our attached:

·Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 12, 2016; and

·Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2016, filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on August 15, 2016.

You should read this prospectus supplement in conjunction with the prospectus, including any supplements and
amendments thereto. This prospectus supplement is qualified by reference to the prospectus except to the extent that
the information in the prospectus supplement supersedes the information contained in the prospectus.
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This prospectus supplement is not complete without, and may not be delivered or utilized except in connection with,
the prospectus, including any supplements and amendments thereto.

Our common stock is quoted on the OTCQB and trades under the symbol “GNUS”. The last reported sale price of our
common stock on the OTCQB on August 12, 2016, was $2.01 per share.

Investment in our common stock involves risks. See “Risk Factors” on page 5 of the prospectus, as updated or
superseded by the “Risk Factors” section included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2015.

Neither the Securities and Exchange Commission nor any state securities commission has passed upon the
adequacy or accuracy of this prospectus supplement. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offense.

The date of this prospectus supplement is August 15, 2016.
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UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

WASHINGTON, DC 20549

FORM 8-K

Current Report

Pursuant To Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

Date of Report (Date of earliest event reported): August 8, 2016

GENIUS BRANDS INTERNATIONAL, INC.

(Name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Nevada

(State or other jurisdiction of

Incorporation or organization)

301 N. Canon Drive, Suite 305

Beverly Hills, CA

(Address of principal executive offices)

000-54389
(Commission File Number)

20-4118216

(I.R.S. Employer

Identification Number)

90210

(Zip Code)
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Registrant’s telephone number, including area code: (310) 273-4222

________________________________________

(Former name or former address, if changed since last report)

Check the appropriate box below if the Form 8-K filing is intended to simultaneously satisfy the filing obligation of
the registrant under any of the following provisions (see General Instruction A.2. below):

☐ Written communications pursuant to Rule 45 under the Securities Act (17 CFR 230.425)

☐ Soliciting material pursuant to Rule 14a-12 under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.14a-12)

☐ Pre-commencement communications pursuant to Rule 14d-2(b) under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.14d-2(b))

☐ Pre-commencement communications pursuant to Rule 13e-4(c) under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.13e-4(c))
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Item 1.01	Entry into a Material Definitive Agreement.

On August 8, 2016, Llama Productions LLC, a California limited liability company (“Llama”) and a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Genius Brands International, Inc. (the “Company”), signed a Loan and Security Agreement (the “Loan and
Security Agreement”) with Bank Leumi USA (the “Lender”) pursuant to which the Lender agreed to make a secured loan
in an aggregate amount not to exceed $5,275,000 to Llama (the “Loan”). The proceeds of the Loan will be used to pay a
portion of the production of fifteen (15) episodes of the animated series Llama Llama to be initially exhibited on
Netflix.

To secure payment of the Loan, Llama has granted to the Lender a continuing security interest in and against,
generally, all of its tangible and intangible assets.

Under the Loan and Security Agreement, Llama can request revolving loan advances under (a) the Prime Rate Loan
facility and (b) the LIBOR Loan facility, each as further described in the Loan and Security Agreement attached as an
exhibit hereto. Prime Rate Loan advances shall bear interest, on the outstanding balance thereof, at a fluctuating per
annum rate equal to 1.0% plus the Prime Rate (as such term is defined in the Loan and Security Agreement). LIBOR
Loan advances shall bear interest, on the outstanding balance thereof, for the period commencing on the funding date
and ending on the date which is one (1), three (3) or six (6) months thereafter, at a per annum rate equal to 3.25% plus
the LIBOR determined for the applicable Interest Period (as such terms are defined in the Loan and Security
Agreement).

The term of the Prime Rate Loan facility and LIBOR Loan facility is 40 months from the date of the Loan and
Security Agreement.

The foregoing description of the Loan and Security Agreement is not purported to be complete and is qualified in its
entirety by reference to the full text of the Loan and Security Agreement attached to this Current Report on Form 8-K
as Exhibit 10.1, which is incorporated by reference herein.

Item 2.03	Creation of a Direct Financial Obligation or an Obligation under an Off-Balance Sheet
Arrangement of a Registrant.

The information set forth in Item 1.01 of this Current Report on Form 8-K is incorporated into this Item 2.03 by
reference.
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Item 9.01	Financial Statements and Exhibits.

(d)

Exhibit No. Description
10.1 Loan and Security Agreement by and between Llama Productions LLC and Bank Leumi USA.

2
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned hereunto duly authorized.

GENIUS BRANDS
INTERNATIONAL, INC.

Date: August 12, 2016 By: /s/ Andy Heyward
Name:Andy Heyward
Title: Chief Executive Officer
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Exhibit 10.1

LOAN AND SECURITY AGREEMENT

This Loan and Security Agreement (as amended, restated, supplemented, or otherwise modified from time to time,
this “Agreement”) is made and entered into as of August 5, 2016, by and between Llama Productions LLC, a California
limited liability company (the “Borrower”), and Bank Leumi USA, a New York banking corporation (the “Lender”).

RECITALS

This Agreement is entered into in reference to the following facts:

The Borrower has requested that the Lender make a loan to the Borrower of up to $5,275,000, the proceeds of which
shall be used to pay a portion of the expenses of producing, completing and delivering fifteen (15) episodes of a
premium pay animated children’s television series tentatively entitled Llama Llama and to pay interest, fees, costs and
other amounts related thereto. The Lender is willing to make such a loan to the Borrower on the terms contained
herein.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants contained herein, the parties hereby agree as follows.

ARTICLE 1 -DEFINITIONS

1.1.          Defined Terms. Initially capitalized terms used herein shall have the following meanings:

“Affiliate” means, as to any Person, any other Person who directly or indirectly, controls, is controlled by, or is under
common control with such Person. A Person shall be deemed to control another Person if the controlling Person
possesses, directly or indirectly, the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of the other
Person, whether through the ownership of voting securities, by contract, or otherwise.
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“Agreement” means this Loan and Security Agreement, as amended, restated, supplemented, or otherwise modified
from time to time after the Closing Date.

“Attorney Costs” means all reasonable fees of Babok & Robinson, LLP, the external legal counsel engaged by the
Lender to negotiate and close the Loan evidenced by this Agreement, and any reasonable related out-of-pocket
disbursements, filing, courier, messenger, copying and other fees and expenses incurred by such counsel.

“Available Commitment” means, as of any date, (a) the Commitment, minus (b) the sum of: (i) the unpaid balance of all
outstanding Loans and other Obligations; (ii) the aggregate amount of requested, but unfunded, Loans, prior to such
date; and (iii) the Interest and Fee Reserve.

“Borrowing Certificate” means a certificate substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit “A.”

“Budget” means the final budget for the Series, dated July 28, 2016, in the amount of $5,647,266, which has been
identified as such in the Completion Guaranty.

“Business Day” means: (a) any day that is not a Saturday, Sunday, or a day on which banks in Los Angeles, California
or New York, New York, are required or permitted to be closed, and (b) with respect to all notices, determinations,
fundings and payments in connection with LIBOR or LIBOR Loans, any day that is a Business Day pursuant to clause
“(a)” above and that is also a day on which trading is carried on by and between banks in the London interbank market.

“Capital Adequacy Regulation” means any guideline, request or directive of any central bank or other governmental
authority, or any other law, rule or regulation, whether or not having the force of law, in each case, regarding capital
adequacy of any bank or of any corporation controlling a bank.

“Cash Collateral Account” means account number           , in the name of the Borrower, maintained at the Lender’s
branch located at                              , Attention:             ;                     ; Swift Code:             ; Attention:                ; or
such other bank accounts or addresses as the Lender may hereafter designate.
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“Cash Flow Schedule” means the cash flow schedule for the Series, dated July 28, 2016, in the amount of $5,647,266,
which has been identified as such in the Completion Guaranty.

“Chain-of-Title Documents” means the documents listed in Schedule 1 hereto.

“Change of Control” means, Genius Brands ceases to have both beneficial ownership and voting control of 100% of the
voting interest of the Borrower.

“Closing Date” means the date on which all conditions precedent to the initial Loan specified in Article 5 hereof have
been satisfied.

“Collateral” has the meaning assigned thereto in Section 7.1 hereof.

“Collateral Proceeds” means all proceeds of the Collateral, including all amounts acquired or paid to or derived by or
payable directly and indirectly to the Borrower or any third Persons or any of their respective Affiliates on account of
the sale, lease, licensing, exchange, distribution, exploitation, or other disposition of the Collateral, including, without
limitation, the Netflix License Fee, money, royalties, fees, commissions, charges, payments, proceeds of any letter of
credit, advances, income, profit and other forms of payment, and proceeds of any insurance for any of the Collateral,
and any sums payable to the Borrower and any third Persons or any of their respective Affiliates under the Netflix
License Agreement.

“Collection Account” means account number            , in the name of the Borrower, maintained at the Lender’s branch
located at                                , Attention:                  ;                      ; Swift Code:           ; Attention:                ;
Reference:                , or such other bank accounts or addresses as the Lender may hereafter designate.

“Commitment” means five million two hundred seventy-five thousand Dollars ($5,275,000).

“Completion Agreement” means the Completion Agreement dated concurrently herewith, among the Completion
Guarantor and the Borrower for the Series and any amendments, supplements, modifications, extensions, renewals or
replacements thereto.
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“Completion Sums” means all sums advanced or expended by the Completion Guarantor pursuant to the Completion
Agreement and/or the Completion Guaranty to cover costs, expenses, claims, demands, and losses incurred by the
Completion Guarantor to complete and deliver the Series under the terms thereof.

“Completion Guarantor” means Film Finances, Inc., a California corporation.

“Completion Guaranty” means the Completion Guaranty for the Series, dated concurrently herewith, issued by the
Completion Guarantor in favor of the Lender, and any amendments, supplements, modifications, extensions, renewals
or replacements thereto, pursuant to which the Completion Guarantor has guaranteed to the Lender, inter alia, that the
Series will be duly and timely completed and delivered to Netflix and providing for a strike price (the “Strike Price”)
which, after the application of all credits for all other third party funds, does not exceed the Commitment minus the
Interest and Fee Reserve calculated on the Closing Date.

“Copyright Mortgage” means the Copyright Mortgage, dated concurrently herewith, from the Borrower, in a form
approved by the Lender and suitable for filing in the United States Copyright Office, pursuant to which the Borrower
granted to the Lender a Lien in its rights in the Series to secure the satisfaction of its obligations under the Loan
Documents.

“Default” means any event or condition specified in Section 11.1 that, with notice, the passage of time, the happening of
any other condition or event, or any combination thereof, would constitute an Event of Default.

“Default Rate” means a per annum interest rate at all times equal to the sum of the otherwise applicable interest rate plus
three percent (3%). Each Default Rate shall be adjusted simultaneously with any change in the applicable interest rate.

5
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“Delivery” means “Delivery” or the equivalent phrase, as defined in the Netflix Notice of Assignment.

“Delivery Materials” means the materials that must be delivered and/or made available to Netflix as specified in, and in
accordance with the terms of, the Netflix Notice of Assignment.

“Deposit Account Control Agreement” means the Deposit Account Control Agreement for the Cash Collateral Account,
dated on or about the date hereof, by and between the Borrower and the Lender, in a form approved by the Lender and
its counsel.

“Dollars” or “$” means the lawful currency of the United States of America.

“Episodes” collectively means each episode of the Series, and “Episode” means any of the Episodes.

“Equity Interests” means shares of the capital stock, partnership interests, membership interests in a limited liability
company, beneficial interests in a trust or other equity interests in any Person or any warrants, options or other rights
to acquire such interests.

“Event of Default” has the meaning specified in Section 11.1 hereof.

“Forum” has the meaning assigned therein in Subsection 13.4(b) hereof.

“Genius Brands” means Genius Brands International, Inc., a Nevada corporation.

“Guild Subordination Agreements” means the subordination agreement(s), the terms of which have been approved by
the Lender, subordinating any Lien which any applicable union or guild may have in the Collateral, which is subject to
the Lender’s Lien hereunder.

Edgar Filing: Genius Brands International, Inc. - Form 424B3

13



“Interest and Fee Reserve” means $478,619.

“Interest Payment Due Date” means (a) with respect to LIBOR Loans, the last Business Day of the Interest Period of
such LIBOR Loan; provided, however, if such Interest Period has a duration of more than three (3) months, then on
each day which occurs during such Interest Period every three (3) months from the first day of such Interest Period,
but in each case no later than the Maturity Date, and (b) with respect to Prime Rate Loans, the first day of each month
hereafter.

“Interest Period” means, as to any LIBOR Loan, the period commencing on the funding date of a Loan or on the date
such Loan is converted into or continued as a LIBOR Loan, and ending on a date which is one (1), three (3) or six (6)
months thereafter, provided, that: (i) in the case of immediately successive Interest Periods, each successive Interest
Period shall commence on the day on which the next preceding Interest Period expires; (ii) if any Interest Period
would otherwise expire on a day which is not a Business Day, the Interest Period shall be extended to expire on the
next succeeding Business Day; provided, however, if the next succeeding Business Day occurs in the following
calendar month, then such Interest Period shall expire on the immediately preceding Business Day; (iii) any Interest
Period that begins on the last Business Day of a calendar month (or on a day for which there is no numerically
corresponding day in the calendar month at the end of such Interest Period) shall end on the last Business Day of the
calendar month at the end of such Interest Period; (iv) the Borrower may not select an Interest Period for any LIBOR
Loan, which Interest Period expires later than the Maturity Date; and (v) there shall be no more than six (6) Interest
Periods in effect at any one time.

“Interest Rate” means the interest rates, including the Default Rate, set forth in Section 3.1.

“LIBOR” means for any Interest Period for LIBOR Loans, the rate of interest per annum (rounded to the nearest whole
multiple of 1/100th of 1.0%) equal to the quotient of the following (a) the LIBOR Base Rate divided by (b) one minus
the Reserve Requirement.

6
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“LIBOR Base Rate” means for any day, the per annum rate of interest determined on the basis of: (a) the rate for
deposits in United States Dollars having a maturity comparable to applicable Interest Period, appearing on Page
BBAM of the Bloomberg Financial Markets Information Service as of 11:00 a.m., Pacific Time (or as soon thereafter
as practical), on such day, or if such day is not a Business Day, on the immediately preceding Business Day, or (b) if
that such rate does not appear on Page BBAM of the Bloomberg Financial Markets Information Service (or otherwise
on such service) on any day, then the rate for such day shall be determined by reference to such other publicly
available service for displaying Eurodollar rates as may be reasonably selected by the Lender, or (c) in the absence of
such other service, the “LIBOR” for such day shall, instead, be determined based upon the average of the rates at which
the Lender is offered dollar deposits at or about 11:00 a.m., Pacific Time (or soon thereafter as practical), on such day,
or if such day is not a Business Day, on the immediately preceding Business Day, in the interbank Eurodollar market
in an amount comparable to the principal amount outstanding hereunder and for a period of one (1) month.

“LIBOR Loans” means, collectively, the Loans on which interest is calculated based on LIBOR.

“LIBOR Margin” means three and one-quarter percent (3.25%).

“Lien” means any interest in property securing an obligation owed to, or a claim by, a Person other than the owner of the
property, whether such interest is based on the common law, statute, or contract, and including without limitation, a
security interest, charge, claim, or lien arising from a mortgage, deed of trust, encumbrance, pledge, hypothecation,
assignment, deposit arrangement, agreement, security agreement, conditional sale or trust receipt or a lease,
consignment or bailment for security purposes, or other security device or arrangement of any kind or nature
whatsoever (including, without limitation, any financing or similar statement or notice filed under the UCC, as in
effect from time to time in the relevant jurisdiction, or any other similar recording or notice statute, and any lease
having substantially the same effect as any of the foregoing).

“Literary Property” means all general intangibles and rights in copyright and all other rights of every kind and nature
(including, without limitation, copyrights) now or hereafter acquired by the Borrower under all Chain-of-Title
Documents, the Teleplays, and any other literary, musical, dramatic or other literary material of any kind or nature
upon which, in whole or in part, the Series is or may be based, or from which it is or may be adapted or inspired or
which may be or has been used or included in the Series including, without limitation, all scripts, scenarios,
screenplays, bibles, stories, treatments, novels, outlines, books, titles, concepts, manuscripts or other properties or
materials of any kind or nature in whatever state of completion and all drafts, versions and variations thereof.

“Loan Documents” means this Agreement, the Note, the Copyright Mortgage, the Completion Guaranty, the Power of
Attorney, the Guild Subordination Agreements (as applicable), the Netflix Notice of Assignment, the Pledge
Agreement, the Deposit Account Control Agreement and all other agreements, instruments and documents heretofore,
now or hereafter evidencing, securing, guaranteeing, or otherwise relating to the Obligations, the Collateral, the
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Lender’s Lien therein, or any other aspect of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

“Loan Fee” means the sum of thirty-seven thousand seventeen Dollars ($37,017).

“Loan(s)” has the meaning assigned thereto in Section 2.1 hereof.

“Maturity Date” means November 5, 2019.

“Maximum Legal Rate” has the meaning assigned thereto in Section 3.2 hereof.

“Netflix” means Netflix, Inc., a Delaware corporation.

“Netflix License Agreement” means that certain License Agreement entered into as of March 29, 2016 between Netflix
and Genius Brands which was assigned by Genius Brands to the Borrower pursuant to a Joinder to License Agreement
and Assignment of Rights dated July 22, 2016.

7
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“Netflix License Fee” means the License Fee payable by Netflix as more particularly described in the Netflix Notice of
Assignment.

“Netflix Notice of Assignment” means the Notice of Assignment, dated concurrently herewith, in a form approved by
the Lender, by and among the Borrower, Netflix, the Completion Guarantor and the Lender.

“Non-Technical Specifications” has the meaning set forth in the Netflix Notice of Assignment.

“Note” means the Note, issued by the Borrower in favor of the Lender in the original principal amount equal to the
Commitment evidencing the Obligations.

“Notice of Conversion/Continuation” means the Notice of Conversion/ Continuation in the form attached hereto as
Exhibit “B.”

“Notice to Insurer” means a Notice to Insurer of even date herewith from the Borrower and the Lender, in a form
approved by the Lender, pursuant to which the insurance company identified therein receives notice of the Lender’s
Lien in the insurance policies obtained by the Borrower pursuant to Section 10.5 hereof.

“Obligations” collectively means all present and future loans, advances, liabilities, obligations, covenants, duties, and
indebtedness owing by the Borrower to the Lender in connection with the Series, whether or not arising under this
Agreement or any of the other Loan Documents, whether or not evidenced by any note, or other instrument or
document, whether arising from an extension of credit, opening of a letter of credit, acceptance, loan, guaranty,
indemnification or otherwise, whether direct or indirect (including, without limitation, those acquired by assignment
from others, and any participation by the Lender in any of Borrower’s and/or any such other Person’s debts owing to
others), absolute or contingent, due or to become due, primary or secondary, as principal or guarantor, and including,
without limitation, all principal, interest (including interest accruing prior to or after the initiation of insolvency
proceedings, whether or not allowed), charges, expenses, fees, reasonable outside attorneys’ fees and costs, filing fees
and any other sums chargeable to the Borrower hereunder or under any other Loan Document.

“Other Taxes” has the meaning assigned thereto in Subsection 13.8(a) hereof.
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“Permitted Liens” means (a) the Lender’s Lien under this Agreement and the other Loan Documents; (b) the Completion
Guarantor’s Lien granted to it under the terms of the Completion Agreement provided that the Lien is subject to an
agreement between the Lender and the Completion Guarantor making that Lien subject and subordinate to the Lender’s
Lien and repayment of the Obligations; (c) the rights granted to Netflix under the Netflix License Agreement, which
shall be subject and subordinate to the Lender’s Lien with respect to the Series; and (d) the Liens of any guilds so long
as such Liens are subject to a Guild Subordination Agreement.

“Person” means any natural person, corporation (including a business trust), partnership, limited liability company, joint
venture, association, trust, other business entity, or unincorporated organization or any other judicial entity, or a
nation, state, government entity or any agency or political subdivision thereof.

“Physical Properties” means all physical properties of every kind or nature of or relating to the Series or any of the
Episodes in whatever state of completion and all versions thereof, including, without limitation, all physical properties
relating to the development, production, completion, delivery, exhibition, distribution or other exploitation of the
Series, or any of the Episodes, and all versions thereof or any part thereof, including, without limitation, the Literary
Property and all Preprint Materials.

“Pledge Agreement” means the Pledge Agreement from Genius Brands in favor of the Lender with respect to 100% of
the Borrower’s Equity Interests owned by Genius Brands, in a form approved by the Lender, dated concurrently
herewith, as any such agreement may be amended, restated, modified, supplemented, renewed or replaced from time
to time.

8
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“Power of Attorney” means the power of attorney, in the form approved by the Lender, granted by the Borrower to the
Lender to exercise any and all of its rights in connection with the Series, subject to the terms set forth in the Loan
Documents.

“Preprint Materials” means all physical elements of each Episode of the Series, including without limitation, any video
digital recordings and HDTV format recordings and any and all other physical properties of every kind and nature
relating to each Episode in whatever state of completion, and all duplicates, drafts, versions, variations and copies of
each thereof.

“Prime Rate” means the variable rate of interest, per annum, published in the “Money Rates” column or section of The
Wall Street Journal (Western Edition) (the “WSJ”) as the “prime rate.” In the event two prime rates are published, the
higher rate shall be used. The Prime Rate is an index for determining the interest rate payable under the terms of this
Agreement. The Prime Rate is not necessarily the lowest rate offered by the banks that establish the rate or by the
Lender. In the event the WSJ ceases to publish the Prime Rate, the Lender, in its reasonable judgment, may substitute
any similar index for the Prime Rate. Any change in the Prime Rate shall take effect on the date of publication in the
WSJ. Each determination of the Prime Rate by the Lender shall be conclusive and final in the absence of manifest
error.

“Prime Rate Loan” means, collectively, the Loans on which interest is calculated by reference to the Prime Rate.

“Prime Rate Margin” means one percent (1.0%).

“Production Bank Account” means account number           , in the name of the Borrower, maintained at the Lender’s
branch located at                                  , Attention:                ;                       ; Swift Code:           ; Attention:
                  ; Reference:                  .

“Production Schedule” means, collectively, the Production Schedule and Post-Production Schedule dated July 26, 2016.

“Regulation D” means Regulation D of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, as in effect from time to
time.
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“Regulatory Change” means, with respect to the Lender, any change on or after the date of this Agreement in United
States Federal, state or foreign laws or regulations, including Regulation D, as in effect from time to time, or the
adoption or making on or after such date of any interpretations, directives or requests applying to a class of banks,
including the Lender, of or under any United States Federal or state, or any foreign, laws or regulations (whether or
not having the force of law) by any court or governmental or monetary authority charged with the interpretation or
administration thereof.

“Reserve Requirement” means, for any Interest Period, the average maximum rate at which reserves (including any
marginal, supplemental or emergency reserves) are required to be maintained during such Interest Period under
Regulation D against “Eurocurrency liabilities” (as such term is used in Regulation D) by banks. Without limiting the
effect of the foregoing, the Reserve Requirement shall reflect any other reserves required to be maintained by the
Lender by reason of any Regulatory Change against (i) any category of liabilities which includes deposits by reference
to which the LIBOR is to be determined as provided in the definition of “LIBOR Base Rate” or (ii) any category of
extensions of credit or other assets which include the Loans.

“Rules” has the meaning assigned thereto in Subsection 13.4(a) hereof.

“Series” means the premium pay animated children’s television series consisting of fifteen (15) twenty-two minute
episodes (some or all of which may consist of two (2) 11 minute segments if requested by Netflix), tentatively entitled
Llama Llama, by whatever title such series is now or may hereafter become known.

9
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“Taxes” has the meaning assigned thereto in Subsection 13.8 hereof

“Technical Specifications” has the meaning set forth in the Netflix Notice of Assignment.

“Teleplays” collectively means the final teleplays for each Episode, and “Teleplay” means any of the Teleplays.

“Termination Date” means the earliest to occur of (a) the Maturity Date, (b) the date the credit facility provided
hereunder is terminated by the Lender pursuant to Section 11.2, and (c) the date this Agreement is otherwise
terminated for any reason whatsoever.

“UCC” means the Uniform Commercial Code (or any successor statute) of the state of California or of any other state
the laws of which are required by Sections 9301-9306 thereof to be applied in connection with the issue of perfection
of Liens.

1.2.          Approval. The words “approval” and “approved” as used herein with reference to an approval right granted to
the Lender means that the Lender shall have the right in the Lender’s sole discretion to approve or to withhold approval
of the subject matter with respect to which the approval is required.

ARTICLE 2 -LOANS

2.1.          Commitment to Lend. Subject to satisfaction of all of the terms and conditions of this Agreement, including
the conditions precedent in Article 5, the Lender agrees, upon the request of the Borrower made from time to time
during the period from the Closing Date to the Termination Date, to make loans (each of which is hereinafter referred
to as a “Loan”) to the Borrower in an amount not to exceed at any time the Available Commitment, the proceeds of
which are to be used to pay a portion of the expenses of producing, completing and delivering the Series, except that
no Loans will be made if a Default or Event of Default exists except as determined by the Lender in its sole discretion.
Any portion of the Loan that has been repaid may not be reborrowed.

2.2.          Loan Procedure.
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(a)             Whenever the Borrower desires a Loan, the Borrower shall deliver to the Lender a Borrowing Certificate,
signed by an authorized officer of the Borrower, and which has been approved in writing by the Completion
Guarantor, no later than (i) 11:00 a.m. (Pacific Time) one (1) Business Day before the requested funding date in the
case of requests for Prime Rate Loans, or (ii) 11:00 a.m. (Pacific Time) three (3) Business Days in advance of the
requested funding date in the case of requests for LIBOR Loans; provided, however, the Lender shall have no
obligation to make more than one (1) Loan in any four (4) Business Day period.

(b)             The Borrowing Certificate shall specify (i) the requested funding date (which shall be a Business Day), (ii)
the aggregate amount of the requested Loans, (iii) whether the Loans requested are to be Prime Rate Loans or LIBOR
Loans, and (iv) if the requested Loans are to be LIBOR Loans, the requested Interest Period. Any Borrowing
Certificate made pursuant to Subsection 2.2(a) hereof shall be irrevocable and the Borrower shall be bound to borrow
the funds requested therein in accordance therewith.

(c)             The Lender shall make each such Loan available to the Borrower by wire transfer to the Production Bank
Account specified in the Borrowing Certificate in the amount of such Loan in same day funds (except for any part
thereof paid by the Lender to third Persons or to itself as permitted hereunder or under any of the Loan Documents).
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement, the Lender shall not be required to purchase
Dollar deposits in the London Interbank market or the applicable LIBOR market to fund any LIBOR Loans, and the
provisions hereof shall be deemed to apply as if the Lender had purchased such deposits to fund the LIBOR Loans.

(d)             Subject to the terms of this Agreement, the Lender shall be obligated to make Loans hereunder, only for the
following purposes and in the following amounts, all in connection with the acquisition, production, completion, and
distribution of the Series, and effecting Delivery to Netflix, and the proceeds thereof shall not be available for any
other purpose: (i) to pay a portion of the direct production costs of the Series, which shall not exceed the Available
Commitment; (ii) the payment of interest; (iii) the payment of the Attorney Costs and the Loan Fee; (iv) the bond fee
due to the Completion Guarantor for the Completion Guaranty to the extent included in the Budget and not previously
paid; and (v) the payment of the insurance premium for the insurance required under Section 10.5 hereof to the extent
not paid before the Closing Date.

10

Edgar Filing: Genius Brands International, Inc. - Form 424B3

22



2.3.          Loans. The Lender shall be deemed to have made Loans in accordance with Section 2.2 hereof on behalf of
the Borrower and the Lender may apply the proceeds of such Loan as follows:

(a)             Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Subsection 2.3(a), if the Completion Guarantor
or any Person acceptable to the Lender takes over the production of the Series pursuant hereto or pursuant to
agreements between the Completion Guarantor or such other Person and the Borrower, the Lender may make Loans
up to the amount of the Available Commitment and provide the proceeds thereof directly to the Completion Guarantor
or such other party. Payment of such proceeds may be made into an account over which the Completion Guarantor or
such other party may have sole dominion and control, to be used to finance the production of the Series and Delivery
to the Lender and to Netflix, and that such Loans shall constitute Loans hereunder; and

(b)             If a Default or Event of Default shall have occurred, the Lender may make Loans up to the amount of the
Available Commitment and pay the proceeds thereof directly to the Persons providing rights, services, facilities,
locations and materials in connection with the production of the Series and Delivery to Netflix.

2.4.          Initial Loan. The Borrower hereby authorizes and directs the Lender on the Closing Date to make Loans for
the account of the Borrower, to pay the following Persons the indicated amounts: (a) the Loan Fee to the Lender; (b)
the Attorney Costs to the Lender’s counsel; (c) if unpaid, the bond fee due to the Completion Guarantor for the
Completion Guaranty; (d) if unpaid, the premium to the insurance company providing the insurance required under
Section 10.5 hereof to pay the amount due in connection therewith on the Closing Date; (e) the appropriate draw down
for production costs of the Series for the next week to the extent included in the Budget; and (f) reimbursement to the
Borrower or such other Person(s) for certain production costs incurred prior to the Closing Date to the extent such
production costs are included in the Budget and the Completion Guarantor credits such expenses to the Strike Price.

2.5.          Conversion or Continuation.

(a)             The Borrower may, upon irrevocable written notice to the Lender in accordance with Subsection 2.5(b)
elect, as of any Business Day, to convert all or any part of the Prime Rate Loans, in either case in a minimum amount
of $250,000 and in integral multiples of $100,000 in excess thereof, into LIBOR Loans; or (ii) elect, as of the last day
of the applicable Interest Period, to continue any LIBOR Loans having Interest Periods expiring on such day or any
part thereof, in either case in the minimum amount and in integral multiples as specified above; provided, however,
that if at any time the aggregate amount of LIBOR Loans in respect of any LIBOR Loan is reduced, by payment,
prepayment, or conversion of part thereof to be less than $250,000 such LIBOR Loan shall at the Lender’s election
convert into Prime Rate Loans, and on and after such date the right of the Borrower to convert such Loans into
LIBOR Loans shall terminate.
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(b)             Whenever the Borrower elects to convert or continue Loans under this Section 2.5, the Borrower shall
deliver to the Lender a Notice of Conversion/Continuation, signed by an authorized officer or signatory of the
Borrower (i) no later than 11:00 a.m. (Pacific Time) one (1) Business Day in advance of the requested conversion
date, in the case of a conversion into Prime Rate Loans, and (ii) no later than 11:00 a.m. (Pacific Time) three (3)
Business Days in advance of the requested conversion or continuation date, in the case of a conversion into, or
continuation of, LIBOR Loans. The Notice of Conversion/Continuation shall specify (1) the conversion or
continuation date (which shall be a Business Day), (2) the amount and type of the Loans to be converted or continued,
(3) the nature of the requested conversion or continuation, and (4) in the case of a conversion into, or continuation of,
LIBOR Loans, the requested Interest Period. If the Borrower fails to provide a Notice of Conversion/Continuation for
any LIBOR Loans as provided above, such Loans shall convert to Prime Rate Loans on the last day of the Interest
Period therefor.

(c)             Any Notice of Conversion/Continuation made pursuant to this Section 2.5 shall be irrevocable and the
Borrower shall be bound to continue or convert the Loan specified therein in accordance therewith.

2.6.          Special Provisions Governing LIBOR Loans. Notwithstanding any other provisions of this Agreement to the
contrary, the following provisions shall govern with respect to LIBOR Loans.

(a)             If the introduction of or any change in or in the interpretation of any law or regulation makes it unlawful, or
any central bank or other governmental authority asserts that it is unlawful, for the Lender to perform its obligations
hereunder to make LIBOR Loans or to fund or maintain LIBOR Loans hereunder, (i) the obligation of the Lender to
make, or to convert Loans into or to continue Loans as, LIBOR Loans shall be suspended until the Lender notifies the
Borrower that the circumstances causing such suspension no longer exist, and (ii) the Borrower shall on the
termination of the Interest Period then applicable thereto, or on such earlier date required by law, prepay in full all
LIBOR Loans then outstanding together with accrued interest thereon, or convert all such LIBOR Loans into Prime
Rate Loans in accordance with Section 2.5 and pay to the Lender all other amounts payable by the Borrower
hereunder (including, without limitation, any amount payable in connection with a prepayment pursuant to Subsection
2.6(b)). The Lender shall promptly notify the Borrower if the terms of this Subsection 2.6(a) become applicable.

11
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(b)             After the occurrence of and during the continuance of any Event of Default, unless otherwise permitted by
the Lender in its sole discretion the Borrower may not borrow Loans as LIBOR Loans or elect to have any Loans
continued as, or converted to, LIBOR Loans after the expiration of any Interest Period then in effect for such Loans.

(c)             If for any reason (including voluntary or mandatory prepayment or acceleration), the Lender receives all or
part of the principal amount of a LIBOR Loan prior to the last day of the Interest Period for such Loan, the Borrower
shall immediately notify the Lender and, on demand by the Lender, pay the Lender the amount (if any) by which (i)
the additional interest which would have been payable on the amount so received had it not been received until the last
day of such Interest Period exceeds the interest which would have been recoverable by the Lender by placing the
amount so received on deposit in the certificate of deposit markets or the offshore currency interbank markets or
United States Treasury investment products, as the case may be, for a period starting on the date on which it was so
received and ending on the last day of such Interest Period at the interest rate determined by the Lender in its
reasonable discretion or (ii) the excess, if any, of the greater of the Lender’s cost of funds rate or the LIBOR, over the
reinvestment rate for those funds then available to the Lender, for a period starting on the date on which such payment
was so received and ending on the last day of such Interest Period. The Lender’s determination as to such amount shall,
absent manifest error, constitute rebuttably presumptive proof thereof.

(d)             The Borrower shall pay to the Lender, upon demand, such amounts as the Lender may determine to be
necessary to compensate it for any costs incurred or a reduction in amounts receivable by the Lender that the Lender
determines are attributable to its making or maintaining any LIBOR Loans, in each case resulting from any
Regulatory Change that: changes the basis of taxation of any amounts payable to the Lender in respect of any LIBOR
Loans (other than changes which affect taxes measured by or imposed on the overall net income of the Lender by the
jurisdiction in which the Lender has its principal office); or imposes or modifies any reserve, special deposit or similar
requirements relating to any extensions of credit or other assets of, or any deposits with or other liabilities of the
Lender (including any Loans or any deposits referred to in the definition of “LIBOR Base Rate”); or imposes any other
condition affecting the LIBOR Loans (or any of such extensions of credit or liabilities). The Lender shall notify the
Borrower of any event occurring after the date of this Agreement that will entitle the Lender to compensation pursuant
to this section as promptly as practicable after it obtains knowledge thereof and determines to request such
compensation. The Lender shall furnish the Borrower with a statement setting forth the basis and amount of each
request by the Lender for compensation under this Subsection 2.6(d). Determinations and allocations by the Lender
for purposes of this Subsection 2.6(d) of the effect of any Regulatory Change on its costs of maintaining its
obligations to make Loans or of making or maintaining Loans or on amounts receivable by it in respect of Loans, and
of the additional amounts required to compensate the Lender in respect of any additional costs shall, absent manifest
error, constitute rebuttably presumptive proof thereof.

(e)             If the Lender determines that the adoption or implementation of any Capital Adequacy Regulation, or
compliance by the Lender (or its applicable lending office) with any Capital Adequacy Regulation has or would have
the effect of reducing the rate of return on capital of the Lender or any person or entity controlling the Lender (a
“Parent”) as a consequence of its obligations hereunder to a level below that which the Lender (or its Parent) could have
achieved but for such adoption, change or compliance (taking into consideration its policies with respect to capital
adequacy) by an amount deemed by the Lender to be material, then from time to time, upon demand by the Lender,
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the Borrower shall pay to the Lender such additional amount or amounts as will compensate the Lender for such
reduction. The Lender shall furnish the Borrower with a statement setting forth the basis and amount of each request
by the Lender for compensation under this Subsection 2.6(e). A statement of the Lender claiming compensation under
this section and setting forth the additional amount or amounts to be paid to it hereunder shall, absent manifest error,
constitute rebuttably presumptive proof thereof.

(f)              The Borrower shall pay to the Lender, upon the request of the Lender, an amount sufficient (determined in
the sole good faith opinion of the Lender) to compensate it for any loss, costs or expense incurred by it as a result of
any failure by the Borrower to borrow a LIBOR Loan on the date for such borrowing specified in the relevant
Borrowing Certificate, including, without limitation, any such loss, cost or expense incurred in obtaining, liquidating,
employing or redeploying deposits from third parties, whether or not the Lender shall have funded or committed to
fund such Loan.

12
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(g)             If at any time the Lender, in its sole and absolute discretion, determines that: (i) the amount of the LIBOR
Loans for periods equal to the corresponding Interest Periods are not available to the Lender in the offshore currency
interbank markets, or (ii) the LIBOR does not accurately reflect the cost to the Lender of lending the LIBOR Loan,
then the Lender shall promptly give notice thereof to the Borrower, and upon the giving of such notice the Lender’s
obligation to make the LIBOR Loans shall terminate, unless the Lender and the Borrower agree in writing to a
different interest rate applicable to LIBOR Loans.

ARTICLE 3 -INTEREST, FEES, AND OTHER CHARGES

3.1.          Interest Rates.

(a)             All outstanding Obligations shall bear interest on the unpaid principal amount thereof (including, to the
extent permitted by law, on interest thereon not paid when due) from the date made until paid in full in cash at a rate
determined by reference to the Prime Rate or the LIBOR and clauses “(i)” or “(ii)” of this section, as applicable, but not to
exceed the Maximum Legal Rate described in Section 3.2. Any of the Loans may be converted into, or continued as,
Prime Rate Loans or LIBOR Loans in the manner provided in Section 2.5. If at any time Loans are outstanding with
respect to which notice has not been delivered to the Lender in accordance with the terms of this Agreement
specifying the basis for determining the interest rate applicable thereto, then those Loans shall be Prime Rate Loans
and shall bear interest at a rate determined by reference to the Prime Rate until notice to the contrary has been given to
the Lender and such notice has become effective. Except as otherwise provided herein, the outstanding Obligations
shall bear interest as follows: (i) for all Prime Rate Loans, at a fluctuating per annum rate equal to the Prime Rate
Margin plus the Prime Rate; and (ii) for all LIBOR Loans, at a per annum rate equal to the LIBOR Margin plus the
LIBOR determined for the applicable Interest Period.

(b)             Each change in the Prime Rate shall be reflected in the interest rate applicable to Prime Rate Loans as of
the effective date of each such change. All interest charges shall be computed on the basis of a year of 360 days and
actual days elapsed. Except as otherwise provided herein, all interest shall be payable in arrears on each Interest
Payment Due Date hereafter.

3.2.          Maximum Rate. No provision of this Agreement or the Note shall be deemed to establish or require the
payment of interest of a rate in excess of the maximum rate permitted by applicable law (the “Maximum Legal Rate”). If
the interest required to be paid under this Agreement or the Note exceeds the Maximum Legal Rate, the interest
required to be paid hereunder or under the Note shall be automatically reduced to the Maximum Legal Rate. If any
interest paid exceeds the then applicable interest rate, the excess of such interest over the maximum amount of interest
permitted to be charged shall automatically be deemed to reduce the accrued and unpaid fees and expenses due to the
Lender under this Agreement, if any; then to reduce the accrued and unpaid interest, if any; and then to reduce
principal of the Loan; the balance of any excess interest remaining after the application of the foregoing, if any, shall
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be refunded to the Borrower.

3.3.          Default Interest. If any of the Obligations are not paid when due (whether by acceleration or otherwise),
then all of the Obligations shall, without any notice, election or any other action by the Lender, bear interest at the
Default Rate applicable thereto until so paid, and if any other Default or Event of Default occurs, then at the election
of the Lender, while any such Default or Event of Default is outstanding, all of the Obligations shall bear interest at
the Default Rate applicable thereto.

3.4.          Late Payment. Any default in the payment of principal, interest, costs or any other sum due hereunder or
under any of the other Loan Documents will result in additional losses and expenses to the Lender which are difficult
to quantify. If the Borrower fails to make any payment of principal, interest, costs or any other sum due hereunder or
under any of the other Loan Documents within ten (10) Business Days after receipt of written notice that the same is
due and payable, then, in addition to any and all other rights and remedies of the Lender hereunder, under the Loan
Documents or otherwise at law or in equity, the Borrower shall also pay to the Lender a late payment charge equal to
three percent (3%) of the then overdue amount in question as a reasonable estimate of the Lender’s losses and expenses
due as a result of such overdue amount which late payment charge shall not bear interest if paid within ten (10)
Business Days after the date of such written notice. The assessment and collection of each such late charge shall be
without prejudice to all other rights of the Lender, other than damages to the extent covered by such late payment
charge.

13
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3.5.          Attorney Costs. On the Closing Date, the Borrower shall pay to the Lender, for payment to the Lender’s
counsel, the Attorney Costs.

3.6.          Loan Fee. On the Closing Date, the Borrower shall pay to the Lender the Loan Fee.

ARTICLE 4 -PAYMENTS AND REPAYMENTS

4.1.          Repayment of Loans. The Borrower shall repay the outstanding principal balance of the Loans and all other
Obligations in full, plus all accrued but unpaid interest thereon, on the Maturity Date or such earlier date as specified
herein.

4.2.          Mandatory Prepayments. The Borrower shall prepay, without penalty or premium, the Obligations by the
following amounts, as and when received by or as payable to the Borrower: (a) all Collateral Proceeds; (b) any
insurance proceeds to the extent and as provided in Section 10.5 hereof; and (c) as otherwise provided hereunder.

4.3.          Voluntary Prepayments. Upon at least two (2) Business Days prior notice to the Lender, the Borrower may
at its option prepay the Obligations in whole or in part, without penalty or premium. Once such notice of prepayment
has been given, the principal amount of the Loan(s) specified in such notice shall become due and payable on the date
specified in the notice; provided, however, that if prior to such prepayment date the Borrower advises the Lender in
writing that it wishes to cancel such prepayment notice, the Borrower’s sole liability shall be for any and all increased
costs and expenses incurred by the Lender, if any, as the result of the receipt of such notice. All prepayments shall
include payment of accrued interest on the principal amount so prepaid and shall be applied to payment of interest
before application to principal. With respect to any LIBOR Loans prepaid prior to the expiration date of the Interest
Period applicable thereto whether on the Maturity Date or otherwise, the Borrower shall pay to the Lender the
amounts described in Subsection 2.6(b).

4.4.          Payments and Computations.

(a)             All payments to be made by the Borrower shall be made without reduction, reserve, discount, withholding,
credit, set-off, recoupment or counterclaim, and irrespective of any claim which the Borrower may have against the
Lender. Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, all payments made by the Borrower shall be made to the
Collection Account and shall be made in Dollars and in immediately available funds, no later than 1:00 p.m. (Pacific
Time) on the day specified herein. Any payment received later than 1:00 p.m. (Pacific Time) shall be deemed to have
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been received on the following Business Day and any applicable interest or fee shall continue to accrue.

(b)             Subject to the provisions set forth in the definition of “Interest Period” herein, whenever any payment is due
on a day that is not a Business Day, such payment shall be made on the following Business Day, without being subject
to the assessment of a late charge, and such extension of time shall be included in the computation of interest or fees
thereon, as the case may be.

4.5.          Reserve Charges; Payments as Loans. At the option of the Lender, subject only to the terms of this Section
4.5, the Attorney Costs, the Loan Fee, interest, costs, fees, reimbursement obligations in connection with fees, taxes (if
any), and fees, expenses, and other sums payable hereunder, may be paid from the proceeds of Loans, whether made
following a request by the Borrower pursuant to Section 2.2 or a deemed request as provided in this Section 4.5. The
Borrower irrevocably authorizes the Lender to charge the Borrower’s loan account for the purpose of paying the
Attorney Costs, the Loan Fee, interest, reimbursement obligations, fees, premiums, and other sums payable hereunder,
including reimbursing expenses pursuant to Section 13.7. All such amounts charged shall constitute Loans and all
such Loans so made shall be deemed to have been requested by the Borrower pursuant to Section 2.2. It shall not be
necessary for any such Loan to be processed through the Production Bank Account. Interest shall be charged up to the
limits thereof in the Interest and Fee Reserve. The Lender will give the Borrower notice of any Loan under this
Section 4.5; provided, however, the failure to do so shall not relieve the Borrower of any of the Obligations with
respect thereto. Interest, costs, fees, expenses and other sums charged to the Interest and Fee Reserve shall be added to
the unpaid principal balance of the Loan as and when charged to the Interest and Fee Reserve. Upon making any Loan
for interest, the Attorney Costs, the Loan Fee, or any other costs, fees, and expenses payable hereunder, the Interest
and Fee Reserve, if any, shall thereupon be decreased by the amount of such Loan. If the amount of such costs, fees,
interest, and reimbursement obligations in connection with fees, taxes (if any), and other sums payable hereunder,
exceeds the amount of any remaining Interest and Fee Reserve therefor (if any), then the Borrower shall pay to the
Lender, on demand, the amount of such excess in cash.

14
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4.6.          Apportionment, Application and Reversal of Payments. All payments not constituting payment of specific
fees and all Collateral Proceeds received by the Lender shall be applied, subject to the provisions of this Agreement,
first, to pay any fees, expense reimbursements or indemnities (other than interest and principal) then due to the Lender
from the Borrower; second, to pay interest due in respect of all Loans; third, to pay principal of the Loans and fourth,
to the payment of any other Obligations due to the Lender. Notwithstanding any provision of this or any of the other
Loan Documents to the contrary, if the Lender determines at any time that the Interest and Fee Reserve will be less
than the total amount of interest accruing on the Loan before repayment thereof in full, then the Lender may retain
proceeds in the Collection Account, in an amount determined by the Lender in its reasonable discretion to pay interest,
at the interest rates provided for under this Agreement, owing on the Obligations on a current basis as a cash reserve
to be applied by the Lender to interest as and when due hereunder. The Lender shall have the continuing and exclusive
right to apply and reverse and reapply any and all such proceeds and payments to any portion of the Obligations in
such order as the Lender may determine in its sole and absolute discretion.

4.7.          Indemnity for Returned Payments. If, after receipt of any payment of, or proceeds applied to the payment of,
all or any part of the Obligations, the Lender is for any reason compelled to surrender such payment or proceeds to
any Person, because such payment or application of proceeds is invalidated, declared fraudulent, set aside, determined
to be void or voidable as a preference, impermissible setoff, or a diversion of trust funds, or for any other reason, then
the Obligations or part thereof intended to be satisfied shall be revived and continue and this Agreement shall continue
in full force as if such payment or proceeds had not been received by the Lender, and the Borrower shall be liable to
pay to the Lender, and hereby does indemnify the Lender and hold the Lender harmless for, the amount of such
payment or proceeds surrendered. The provisions of this Section 4.7 shall be and remain effective notwithstanding any
contrary action which may have been taken by the Lender in reliance upon such payment or application of proceeds,
and any such contrary action so taken shall be without prejudice to the Lender’s rights under this Agreement and shall
be deemed to have been conditioned upon such payment or application of proceeds having become final and
irrevocable. The provisions of this Section 4.7 shall survive the termination of this Agreement.

4.8.          Increased Capital. If the Lender determines that compliance by the Lender with any guideline or request
from any central bank or other governmental authority (whether or not having the force of law) affects or would affect
the amount of capital required or expected to be maintained by the Lender, or any corporation controlling the Lender,
and the Lender reasonably determines that the amount of such capital is increased by or based upon its commitment to
lend hereunder or its making or maintaining Loans hereunder or to otherwise extend credit to the Borrower hereunder,
and other commitments of this type, then, upon demand by the Lender, the Borrower shall immediately pay to the
Lender, from time to time as specified by the Lender, additional amounts sufficient to compensate the Lender in the
light of such circumstances, to the extent that (a) the Lender reasonably determines such increase in capital to be
allocable to the Lender’s commitment to make Loans hereunder, and (b) the Lender’s other similarly situated borrowers
are required to make such payments and provided that any such allocation of payments shall be made on a basis no
less favorable than the basis applied to other similarly situated borrowers. If the Lender increases the loan charges
pursuant to the terms of this Section 4.8, then the Borrower may, within ten (10) Business Days after being notified of
such increased charges, prepay all Obligations in full without penalty or premium or the increased loan charges. After
the expiration of the ten (10) Business Day period, the Borrower may repay the Obligations, which repayment shall
include the increased charges resulting from the changed capital requirements effective as of the first day of change,
but otherwise without penalty or premium.
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4.9.          Lender’s Books and Records. The Lender’s books and records showing the Obligations and the transactions
pursuant to this Agreement and the other Loan Documents shall be admissible in any action or proceeding arising
therefrom, and shall, absent manifest error, constitute rebuttably presumptive proof thereof, irrespective of whether
any Obligation is also evidenced by a promissory note or other instrument. If the Lender provides to the Borrower a
statement of Loans, payments and other transactions pursuant to this Agreement, then such statement shall, absent
manifest error, be deemed correct, accurate and binding on the Borrower and an account stated (except for reversals
and reapplications of payments made as provided in Section 4.6 hereof and corrections of errors discovered by the
Lender), unless the Borrower notifies the Lender in writing to the contrary within sixty (60) days after such statement
is received by the Borrower. If the Borrower gives the Lender a timely notice of objections, then only the items to
which exception is expressly made will be considered to be disputed by the Borrower.

15

Edgar Filing: Genius Brands International, Inc. - Form 424B3

32



ARTICLE 5 -LENDING CONDITIONS

The obligation of the Lender to make any Loan hereunder shall be subject to satisfaction of all of the conditions of this
Article 5 being satisfied at the time thereof

5.1.          Conditions Precedent to Initial Loan. The obligation of the Lender to make the initial Loan is subject to the
following conditions precedent having been satisfied in a manner satisfactory to the Lender:

(a)             The Lender’s receipt of fully executed documentation, including the Chain-of-Title Documents, evidencing
that the Borrower owns all rights in and to the Series, in perpetuity, throughout the world and all rights in connection
therewith, including, without limitation, the rights which are the subject of the Netflix License Agreement, and that all
payments for such rights have been paid and all reversionary rights, if any, have been fully, finally and
unconditionally terminated;

(b)             All appropriate documents (including Form PA or Form CO) evidencing the Borrower’s rights in and to the
Literary Property, have been duly submitted to and accepted for recordation in all appropriate governmental offices,
including the United States Registrar of Copyrights, accompanied by the required filing fees;

(c)             All appropriate documents evidencing that the Lender’s Lien in the Collateral and evidencing all other Liens
granted to the Lender in connection herewith, including the Copyright Mortgages, have been duly submitted to and
accepted for recordation in all appropriate governmental offices, including the United States Registrar of Copyrights
and the Secretary of State of California, accompanied by the required filing fees;

(d)             An examination of the records of the United States Copyright Office and the Secretary of State of
California, and any other appropriate governmental office, and a copyright and title search report on the Series
approved by the Lender and its counsel, reveals no interest of any Person which is contrary to the rights granted to the
Lender hereunder or under any other Loan Documents;

(e)             The Lender shall have received this Agreement and all of the items listed in Schedule 5 hereto, together
with all exhibits, attachments and supplementary documents that are not elsewhere identified in this Section 5.1, all in
form and substance approved by the Lender, and executed and delivered by all parties thereto when the nature of such
items so requires;
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(f)              The Borrower shall have performed and complied with all covenants, agreements and conditions contained
herein and the other Loan Documents that are required to be performed or complied with by any such Person before or
on the Closing Date, and all representations and warranties made by any such Person hereunder and/or in the other
Loan Documents shall be true and correct as of the Closing Date as if made on such date;

(g)             No Default or Event of Default shall exist on the Closing Date, or would exist after giving effect to the
Loans to be made on such date;

(h)             The Borrower shall have paid (or shall have provided for such payments in the initial Loan) all Attorney
Costs, the Loan Fee, and all other fees and expenses of the Lender incurred in connection with any of the Loan
Documents due hereunder to the Lender and to other Persons on or prior to the Closing Date;

(i)              There shall exist no action, suit, investigation, litigation or proceeding affecting the Borrower, Genius
Brands, Netflix or the Completion Guarantor pending or threatened before any court, governmental agency, or
arbitrator that might reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect upon the business, operations, property,
prospects or condition (financial or otherwise) of the Borrower, Genius Brands, Netflix or the Completion Guarantor
or upon the creditworthiness of any such Person or that purport to affect the legality, validity, or enforceability of this
Agreement or any other Loan Document or the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and, upon
request, the Lender shall have received a certificate of a manager or authorized officer of the Borrower, Genius
Brands, Netflix or the Completion Guarantor (as appropriate) to such effect;
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(j)              The Borrower has opened the Collection Account and the Production Bank Account;

(k)             The Borrower has opened the Cash Collateral Account and has deposited $1,000,000 therein;

(l)              The Completion Guarantor has issued the Completion Guaranty which specifies a Strike Price, which, after
all credits thereto, does not exceed the Available Commitment, calculated as of the Closing Date;

(m)           The Lender shall have received fully signed copies of the Netflix License Agreement and the Netflix
License Notice of Assignment, the terms of which are acceptable to the Lender and its counsel;

(n)             Each of the individual producers, directors and actors shall have executed his/her actor’s, director’s and
producer’s agreement, as appropriate and as required by the Completion Guarantor;

(o)             All proceedings taken in connection with the execution of this Agreement and all other Loan Documents,
and all documents and papers relating thereto shall be satisfactory in form, scope, and substance to the Lender;

(p)             Receipt and satisfactory review by the Lender of all information required to complete the Lender’s know
your customer process; and

(q)             Such other documents as the Lender may reasonably request in order to effect fully the purposes of this
Agreement and the other Loan Documents.

The acceptance by the Borrower of any Loans made on the Closing Date shall be deemed to be a representation and
warranty made by the Borrower to the effect that all of the conditions to the making of such Loans set forth in
Subsections 5.1(a) - (q) have been satisfied, with the same effect as delivery to the Lender of a certificate signed by an
authorized officer or signatory of the Borrower, dated the Closing Date, to such effect.

5.2.          Conditions Precedent to Loans. The obligation of the Lender to make each Loan, including the initial Loan
shall be subject to the further conditions precedent that on and as of the date of any such extension of credit:
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(a)             The Lender shall have received a duly executed Borrowing Certificate as and when required pursuant to
Section 2.2 hereof;

(b)             The following statements shall be true, and the acceptance by the Borrower of any extension of credit shall
be deemed to be a statement to the effect set forth in clauses (i) and (ii), with the same effect as the delivery to the
Lender of a certificate signed by an authorized r of the Borrower, dated the date of such extension of credit, stating
that:

(i)              The representations and warranties contained in this Agreement and the other Loan Documents are correct
in all material respects on and as of the date of such extension of credit as though made on and as of such date (except
with respect to any representation or warranty that is stated to be made as of a specific date which shall be deemed
repeated as of such date); and

(ii)            No event has occurred, or would result from such extension of credit, which constitutes a Default or an
Event of Default;

(c)             The Lender shall have received such other approvals, opinions or documents as the Lender may reasonably
request;

(d)             No order, judgment or decree of any governmental authority and no law, rule or regulation applicable to
the Lender shall purport by its terms to enjoin, restrain or otherwise prohibit the making of such Loan; and

(e)             Since the Closing Date, there shall not have occurred any material adverse change in the property, business,
operations, or financial condition of (i) the Borrower (and upon request the Lender shall have received a certificate of
the Borrower’s authorized officer to such effect), (ii) the Completion Guarantor, (iii) Netflix and (iv) and any Person
issuing indemnity insurance to Completion Guarantor for the purpose of assuring that the Completion Guarantor can
satisfy its obligations to the Lender under the Completion Guaranty.
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ARTICLE 6 -SERIES PRODUCTION, COMPLETION, DELIVERY AND DISTRIBUTION

The Borrower hereby warrants, represents, covenants and agrees to the Lender as follows.

6.1.          Budget; Cash Flow; Teleplays; Production Schedule.

(a)             True and complete copies of the Budget, the Cash Flow Schedule, each Teleplay, the Production Schedule,
and, upon request of the Lender, any agreements with any Person whose services are a requirement of any such
agreements, have been or will be furnished to the Lender. Such services agreements, the Budget, the Cash Flow
Schedule, the Teleplays and the Production Schedule are in form and substance consistent with the provisions of the
Completion Guaranty;

(b)             The Borrower, the Completion Guarantor and any other Person having approval rights with respect thereto
have approved, or with respect to each Teleplay will approve prior to production, the Budget, the Cash Flow
Schedule, each Teleplay and the Production Schedule, and all elements with respect to which they have approval
rights under the Completion Guaranty;

(c)             The Budget includes provisions for all expenses necessary for the production of the Delivery Materials in
accordance with the terms of this Agreement and the Netflix Notice of Assignment, including, but not limited to, any
and all costs of music, including all worldwide licenses and rights as and to the extent required by the Netflix License
Agreement; and

(d)             The service agreements required by the Completion Guarantor for the Series have been or will be approved
by the Completion Guarantor and such agreements are in full force and effect and (to the knowledge of the Borrower)
no party to any such agreement is in material default thereunder or has any accrued right of termination thereunder.

6.2.          Series Production.

(a)             The Borrower shall produce the Series and the Delivery Materials all in accordance with the Budget, the
Teleplays, the Production Schedule and the Cash Flow Schedule, and in a manner consistent with the provisions of
this Agreement and the Netflix License Agreement. The Borrower shall not make or permit to be made any material
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changes, modifications, or revisions to the Budget, the Teleplays, the Production Schedule or the Cash Flow Schedule
without the express authorization of the Completion Guarantor and any other Persons that have approval thereof.

(b)             The Borrower shall not make any change in the Budget that would increase, in the aggregate, the amount
thereof or any other changes therein without the prior approval of the Lender, the Completion Guarantor and any other
Person having approval rights with respect to such changes.

(c)             The Borrower shall cause the Series and the Delivery Materials, as appropriate, to strictly conform to all of
the Technical and Non-Technical Specifications.

6.3.          Element Changes. Except as expressly permitted by the terms of this Agreement and the Netflix Notice of
Assignment, the Borrower shall not make, agree to make, or permit to be made any variation or modification in any of
the elements of the Series that are subject to approval or consent pursuant to the Netflix Notice of Assignment, the
Completion Guaranty or this Agreement, without the prior consent of the Lender, the Completion Guarantor and
Netflix, respectively.

6.4.          Series Credits; Print Advertising. Subject to the prior approval of Netflix, the Borrower shall accord the
Lender credit as production financier in each Episode’s end titles in all positive prints thereof, provided that any casual
or inadvertent failure to accord such credit shall not constitute a breach of this Agreement, all in a size of type
customary for such credits. Unless the Lender notifies the Borrower otherwise, the form of the Lender’s credit in the
Series’ end titles shall be substantially as follows: “Production Financing Provided by Bank Leumi — David Henry.”
Subject to the Borrower’s prior consent for uses other than in a traditional tombstone, the Lender may use the
Borrower’s names in advertising and promotional material. Additionally, the Borrower shall accord the Lender’s
counsel, Babok & Robinson, LLP, with credit as legal counsel for the production financier in the Episodes’ end titles in
all positive prints thereof. The form of the Lender’s counsel credit in the Episodes’ end titles shall be substantially as
follows: “Legal Counsel to Bank Leumi — Babok & Robinson, LLP.” Borrower’s failure to accord credit in accordance
with the provisions of this paragraph shall not be deemed a breach of this Agreement; provided, however, upon the
Lender’s or Lender’s counsel’s, as the case may be, written notice, Borrower shall cure on a prospective basis any
material defect in the Lender’s or Lender’s counsel’s credit in prints issued or controlled by the Borrower. The Borrower
shall use reasonable efforts to notify its subdistributors of the credit obligations set forth herein, but the Borrower shall
not be responsible or liable for the failure of any such subdistributor to comply with the same.
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6.5.          Stop Date; Contingent Compensation; Fees.

(a)             The Borrower represents, warrants, and covenants that no actor shall be granted a “stop date” (as that term is
understood in the motion picture industry) in connection with such actor’s engagement for the Series unless permitted
by the Completion Guarantor.

(b)             The Borrower shall not enter into any agreement to pay any Person from the Collateral Proceeds any
residuals, profit participations, deferred compensation, contingent compensation, whether computed on the basis of
the Collateral Proceeds, net receipts from exploitation of the Series or otherwise (whether in a fixed amount or
computed on a percentage basis), unless all such payments are subordinated and subject to the rights of the Lender
under the Loan Documents or otherwise consented to by the Lender and the Borrower shall not pay (and shall not
allow the payment of) any such payments from the Collateral Proceeds until all Obligations have been satisfied in full.
The Lender shall not have any obligation to pay any such payments to any Person.

6.6.          Exhibition. If prohibited by the Netflix License Agreement, the Borrower shall not exhibit the Series (or any
Episode) for any Person other than Persons involved in the production of the Series, the Completion Guarantor,
Netflix and the Lender or their authorized representatives, without the Lender’s prior approval, which approval will not
be unreasonably withheld.

6.7.          Performance and Amendment of Agreements, Etc.

(a)             The Borrower shall effect Delivery to Netflix. The Borrower shall perform all of its obligations under the
Netflix License Agreement and the Netflix Notice of Assignment and shall enforce all of its rights and remedies
thereunder as it deems appropriate in its business judgment, except that the Borrower shall not take any action or fail
to take any action with respect to the Netflix License Agreement or the Netflix Notice of Assignment that would result
in a waiver or other loss of any material right or remedy of the Borrower or Netflix, respectively, thereunder. Under
no circumstances shall the Lender be obligated to effect Delivery to Netflix.

(b)             The Borrower shall not, without the Lender’s prior approval, modify, amend, supplement, compromise,
satisfy, release, terminate, or discharge the Netflix License Agreement, the Netflix Notice of Assignment, the
Completion Agreement, any collateral securing the same, any Person liable directly or indirectly with respect thereto,
or any agreement relating to the Netflix License Agreement, the Netflix Notice of Assignment, the Completion
Agreement, or the collateral therefor. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Borrower shall not, without
the Lender’s prior consent, amend or modify in any way the amount or payment due date(s) or the conditions of
payment of the Netflix License Fee.
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6.8.          Enforcement of Agreements.

(a)             The Borrower shall notify the Lender promptly after the Borrower becomes aware thereof, of any event or
fact which could give rise to a breach of any of the Chain-of-Title Documents or the Netflix License Agreement, and
shall diligently pursue such right and report to the Lender on all further developments with respect thereto.

(b)             Until all Obligations have been indefeasibly paid and performed in full, the Borrower shall, at its expense,
take all reasonable action to enforce the Chain-of-Title Documents and the Netflix License Agreement, and make
collection and take all appropriate legal action necessary to enforce collection, of all Collateral Proceeds, as and when
due, which may be owing by Netflix under the Netflix License Agreement or from any other Person pursuant to any
other agreement entered into by the Borrower with respect to the Collateral, and shall remit all sums so collected to
the Collection Account. If the Borrower fails after the Lender’s demand to pursue diligently any right under the Netflix
License Agreement or any other agreement entered into by the Borrower with respect to the Collateral, or if an Event
of Default then exists, the Lender may directly enforce such right in its own or the Borrower’s name and may enter into
such settlements or other agreements with respect thereto as the Lender shall determine.

(c)             In any suit, proceeding, arbitration, or action brought by the Lender under the Netflix License Agreement,
the Completion Agreement, or other agreement, for any sum owing thereunder or to enforce any provision thereof, the
Borrower shall indemnify and hold the Lender harmless from and against all expense, loss or damage suffered by
reason of any defense, setoff, counterclaims, recoupment, or reduction of liability whatsoever of Netflix or the
Completion Guarantor or other obligor thereunder arising out of a breach by the Borrower of any obligation
thereunder or arising out of any other agreement, indebtedness or liability at any time owing from the Borrower to or
in favor of such obligor or its successors.
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6.9.          Related Agreements. The Borrower represents and warrants to the Lender that:

(a)             it has obtained and has delivered or will deliver to the Lender as of the Closing Date true and complete
fully executed copies of the Chain-of-Title Documents, the Netflix License Agreement and the Completion
Agreement; (b) the Chain-of-Title Documents, the Netflix License Agreement, the Netflix Notice of Assignment, the
Completion Agreement, and all other agreements, certificates, exhibits, attachments, and other documents entered into
in connection therewith and related thereto are valid, binding, and subsisting agreements, enforceable against the
parties thereto in accordance with their respective terms except to the extent that such enforcement may be limited by
applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium, and other similar laws affecting creditors’ rights
generally and by general principles of equity; and (c) each of the foregoing agreements has been duly executed and
delivered by all parties thereto and all are and will be in full force and effect.

ARTICLE 7 -COLLATERAL

7.1.          Grant of Security Interest. As security for all of the Obligations, the Borrower hereby grants to the Lender a
continuing security interest in, Lien on, and right of set-off against, all of the Borrower’s assets, whether now owned or
hereafter acquired or arising and regardless of where located and whether or not in possession of the Borrower
(collectively, the “Collateral”), which includes without limitation, all of the Borrower’s right, title and interest in the
Chain-of-Title Documents, the Teleplays, the Literary Property, the Series, the Physical Properties, the Collection
Account, the Production Bank Account, the Cash Collateral Account, all accounts, deposit accounts, equipment,
general intangibles, intellectual property rights, inventory, investment property, letter of credit rights, chattel paper,
documents, instruments and other negotiable collateral, supporting obligations, and all other personal property of the
Borrower and the proceeds of the foregoing, and each and all of the following particular rights and properties of the
Series:

(a)             The Series and all collateral, allied, ancillary, subsidiary and merchandising rights therein, and all
properties and things of value pertaining thereto and all products and proceeds thereof whether now in existence or
hereafter made, acquired or produced (as used in this Article 7, the term the “Series” means and includes the Series and
all Episodes, and all of the aforesaid rights and the rights and property set forth in Sections 7.1(a)(i) through (xx)
below) including without limitation:

(i)              The Literary Property;

(ii)            The Physical Properties;
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(iii)          All Preprint Materials;

(iv)           All rights of the Borrower of every kind or nature in and to any and all music and musical compositions
created for, used in or to be used in connection with the Series including, without limitation, all copyrights therein and
all rights to perform, copy, record, re-record, produce, publish, reproduce or synchronize any or all of said music and
musical compositions as well as all other rights to exploit such music including record, soundtrack recording, and
music publishing rights;

(v)             All collateral, allied, ancillary, subsidiary, publishing and merchandising rights and all properties and
things of value, whether now in existence or hereafter made, acquired or produced by the Borrower of every kind and
nature, in each case pertaining to or derived from, appurtenant to or related to the Series or the Literary Property,
including, without limitation, all production, exploitation, reissue, remake, sequel, serial or series production rights by
use of film, tape or any other recording devices now known or hereafter devised, whether based upon, derived from or
inspired by the Series, the Literary Property or any part thereof; all rights to use, exploit and license others to use or
exploit any and all novelization, publishing, commercial tie-ups and merchandising rights of every kind and nature,
including, without limitation, all novelization, publishing, merchandising rights and commercial tie-ups arising out of
or connected with or inspired by the Series or the Literary Property, the title or titles of the Series or of any Episode,
the characters appearing in the Series or the Literary Property and/or the names or characteristics of said characters,
and including further, without limitation, any and all commercial exploitation in connection with or related to the
Series, all remakes or sequels thereof and/or the Literary Property;

(vi)           All rights of the Borrower of every kind or nature, present and future, in and to all agreements relating to
the development, production, completion, delivery and exploitation of the Series, including, without limitation, all
agreements for personal services, including the services of writers, directors, cast, producers, special effects personnel,
personnel, animators, cameramen and other creative, artistic and technical staff and agreements for the use of studio
space, equipment, facilities, locations, animation services, special effects services and laboratory contracts;

(vii)         All insurance and insurance policies heretofore or hereafter placed upon the Series or the insurable
properties thereof and/or any Person or Persons engaged in the development, production, completion, delivery or
exploitation of the Series and the proceeds thereof;
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(viii)       All copyrights, rights in copyrights, interests in copyrights and renewals and extensions of copyrights,
domestic and foreign, heretofore or hereafter obtained by the Borrower upon the Series or the Literary Property or any
part thereof, and the right (but not the obligation) to make publication thereof for copyright purposes, to register a
claim under copyright, and the right (but not the obligation) to renew and extend such copyrights, and the right (but
not the obligation) to sue in the name of the Borrower or in the name of the Lender for past, present and future
infringements of such copyrights;

(ix)           All rights of the Borrower to produce, acquire, release, sell, distribute, subdistribute, lease, sublease,
market, license, sublicense, exhibit, broadcast, transmit, reproduce, publicize or otherwise exploit the Series, the
Literary Property and any and all rights therein (including, without limitation, the rights referred to in Section
7.1(a)(iv) above) in perpetuity, without limitation, in any manner and in any media whatsoever throughout the
universe, including, without limitation, by projection, radio, all forms of television (including, without limitation, free,
pay, toll, cable, sustaining subscription, sponsored and direct satellite broadcast), in theaters, non-theatrically, on
cassettes, cartridges and discs and by any and all other scientific, mechanical or electronic means, methods, processes
or devices now known or hereafter conceived, devised or created;

(x)             All rights of the Borrower of any kind or nature, direct or indirect, to acquire, produce, develop, reacquire,
finance, release, sell, distribute, subdistribute, lease, sublease, market, license, sublicense, exhibit, broadcast, transmit,
reproduce, publicize, or otherwise exploit the Series, or any rights in the Series, including, without limitation, pursuant
to agreements between the Borrower and any Affiliate of the Borrower that relate to the ownership, production or
financing of the Series;

(xi)           All contract rights and general intangibles that may arise in connection with the creation, production,
completion, delivery, financing, ownership, possession or exploitation of the Series or which grant to any Person any
right to acquire, produce, develop, reacquire, finance, release, sell, distribute, subdistribute, lease, sublease, market,
license, sublicense, exhibit, broadcast, transmit, reproduce, publicize, or otherwise exploit the Series or any rights in
the Series and all collateral, allied, ancillary, subsidiary and merchandising rights therein, and all properties and things
of value pertaining thereto and all products and proceeds thereof whether now in existence or hereafter made, acquired
or produced and the rights and property set forth in Sections 7.1(a)(i) through (xix) below, including, without
limitation, all of the Borrower’s rights under the Netflix License Agreement, and all such rights pursuant to agreements
between the Borrower and any Affiliate of the Borrower which relate to the ownership, production or financing of the
Series;

(xii)         All rent, revenues, income, compensation, products, increases, proceeds (including the proceeds of letters of
credit) and profits or other property obtained or to be obtained by the Borrower from the production, release, sale,
distribution, subdistribution, lease, sublease, marketing, licensing, sublicensing, exhibition, broadcast, transmission,
reproduction, publication, ownership, exploitation or other uses or disposition of the Series and the Literary Property
(or any rights therein or part thereof), in any and all media, including without limitation, the properties thereof and of
any collateral, allied, ancillary, merchandising and subsidiary rights therein and thereto, and amounts recovered as
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damages by reason of unfair competition, the infringement of copyright, breach of any contract or infringement of any
rights, or derived therefrom in any manner;

(xiii)       Any and all documents, receipts or books and records, including, without limitation, documents or receipts
of any kind or nature issued by any pledgeholder, warehouseman or bailee with respect to the Series and any element
thereof;

(xiv)       All of the Borrower’s right, title and interest in, to and under accounts, contract rights, investment property
and general intangibles (as such terms are defined in the UCC) in connection with or relating to the Series and to the
Physical Properties, including all rights to receive the payment of money under present or future contracts or
agreements (whether or not earned by performance) from the sale, distribution, exhibition, disposition, leasing,
subleasing, licensing, sublicensing and other exploitation of the Series or the Literary Property or any part thereof or
any rights therein in any medium, whether now known or hereafter developed, by any means, method, process or
device in any market;

(xv)         All of the Borrower’s right, title and interest in, to and under the Netflix License Agreement including the
Borrower’s rights to receive payments thereunder, and all other rights to receive film rentals, license fees, distribution
fees, producer’s shares, royalties and other amounts of every description including, without limitation, from (1)
theatrical exhibitors, non-theatrical exhibitors, television networks and stations and airlines, cable television systems,
pay television operators, whether on a subscription, per program charge basis or otherwise, and other exhibitors, (2)
distributors, subdistributors, lessees, sublessees, licensees and sublicensees (including any subsidiary of the Borrower)
and (3) any other Person that distributes, exhibits or exploits the Series or the Literary Property or elements or
components of the Series or the Literary Property or rights relating thereto;

21

Edgar Filing: Genius Brands International, Inc. - Form 424B3

44



(xvi)       All of the Borrower’s right, title and interest in and to any and all sums paid or payable to the Borrower now
due or which hereinafter may become due to the Borrower by any state, federal, provincial, or other governmental
body or authority directly or indirectly as a tax credit, tax refund, tax subsidy, production credit or similar government
benefit, or by any tax shelter, or pursuant to any sale and leaseback transaction, any co-production structure, or any
similar transaction, and any and all allied, ancillary and subsidiary rights therein;

(xvii)      All title or titles of the Series and any Episode and all of the Borrower’s rights to the exclusive use thereof
including rights protected pursuant to trademark, service mark, unfair competition and/or other laws, rules or
principles of law or equity;

(xviii)    All inventions, processes, formulae, licenses, patents, patent rights, trademarks, trademark rights, service
marks, service mark rights, trade names, trade name rights, logos, indicia, corporate and the Borrower names, business
source or business identifiers and renewals and extensions thereof, domestic and foreign, whether now owned or
hereafter acquired, and the accompanying good will and other like business property rights relating to the Series or
any Episode, and the right (but not the obligation) to register claims under trademark or patent and to renew and
extend such trademarks or patents and the right (but not the obligation) to sue in the name of the Borrower or in the
name of the Lender for past, present or future infringement of trademark or patent;

(xix)       Any other property of any kind of the Borrower in the possession or under the control of the Lender or a
bailee of the Lender or any of the Lender’s affiliates; and

(xx)         All accessions to, substitution for, and replacements, proceeds, and proceeds of proceeds of any of the
foregoing, including, without limitation, proceeds of any insurance policies, claims against third Persons, with respect
to the foregoing.

7.2.          Perfection and Protection of the Lender’s Lien. The Borrower shall at its expense, perform all steps
reasonably requested by the Lender at any time to perfect, maintain, protect, and enforce the Lender’s Lien in the
Collateral and the priority thereof (i.e., a first priority Lien subject only to Permitted Liens), including, without
limitation: (a) executing, filing, recording, and railing such financing statements, continuation statements, copyright
mortgages, Form PAs or COs, and copyright assignments herewith and (b) taking such other steps herewith as the
Lender may deem necessary or appropriate and wherever required or permitted by law in order to perfect or preserve
the Lender’s first priority Lien in the Collateral and the priority thereof The Borrower shall do such further acts and
things and execute and deliver to the Lender such additional conveyances, assignments, agreements, and instruments
consistent herewith as the Lender may reasonably require or deem advisable to carry into effect the purposes of this
Agreement or to better assure and confirm to the Lender its rights, powers, and remedies hereunder. The Borrower
appoints the Lender as the Borrower attorney-in-fact to: (i) file or record financing statements and amendments thereto
(including filing such statements and amendments by electronic means with or without a signature as authorized or
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required by applicable law or filing procedures), Form PAs or COs, copyright mortgages, copyright assignments, and
any other documents in all appropriate governmental offices, including the United States Registrar of Copyrights,
accompanied by the required filing fees, relative to all or any part of the Collateral; (ii) take all other steps necessary
or desirable in the Lender’s judgment to perfect, protect, enforce, preserve, or continue the first priority Lien granted
herein without the signature of the Borrower where permitted by law; and (iii) do such further acts and things and
execute such additional conveyances, assignments, agreements, and instruments as the Lender may require or deem
advisable to carry into effect the purposes of this Agreement or to better assure and confirm to the Lender its rights,
powers, and remedies hereunder.

7.3.          Assignment of Rights Only. The Lender shall have under this Agreement and the other Loan Documents an
assignment of and Lien on only the benefits of and rights under the Completion Agreement, the Netflix License
Agreement and the other Collateral. The Lender has not assumed any obligations or duties thereunder. All such
obligations and duties of the Borrower under the Completion Agreement, the Netflix License Agreement and the other
Collateral, shall be and remain enforceable only against the Borrower and shall not be enforceable against the Lender.
Notwithstanding any provision hereof to the contrary, the Borrower shall at all times remain liable to observe and
perform all of its duties and obligations under the Completion Agreement, the Netflix License Agreement and the
other Collateral, and the Lender’s exercise of any of their rights with respect to the Collateral shall not release the
Borrower from any of such duties and obligations. The Lender shall not be obligated to perform or fulfill any of the
Borrower’s duties or obligations under the Completion Agreement or the Netflix License Agreement, or to make any
payment thereunder, or to make any inquiry as to the nature or sufficiency of any payment or property received by it
thereunder or the sufficiency of performance by any party thereunder, or to present or file any claim, or to take any
action to collect or enforce any performance, any payment of any amounts, or any delivery of any property.
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7.4.          Jurisdiction of Organization. The Borrower represents and warrants to the Lender that the Borrower’s books
and records are located at the address specified in Section 13.9 hereof. If (a) the jurisdiction of organization or name
of the Borrower, or the title or titles of the Series or any Episode is to be changed or modified in any manner, or (b)
there is proposed to be a change in location or name of any laboratory, special effects studio, sound studio, other
processing or storage entity or any sound studio, other processing or storage entity or any bailee which holds, or which
is expected to process, any Preprint Materials, then the Borrower shall so notify the Lender and, before making any
such change or modification, shall execute and deliver to the Lender such further documents related thereto and do
such other acts and things as the Lender may reasonably request in order to carry out the purposes of this Agreement
including, without limitation, the execution and delivery of financing statements, amendments, copyright assignments
and mortgages, and laboratory agreements, necessary or desirable to continue and/or perfect the Lender’s Lien in the
Collateral.

7.5.          Title to and Liens on the Collateral.

(a)             Except for Permitted Liens, the Borrower represents and warrants to the Lender and agrees with the Lender
that: (i) all of the Collateral is and will continue to be owned by the Borrower free and clear of all Liens; (ii) the
Lender’s Lien in the Collateral will not be subject to any prior Lien except with respect to Permitted Liens, which by
law or the Lender’s agreement, are prior to the Lender’s Lien in the Collateral; and (iii) the Borrower will not sell, offer
to sell, hypothecate or otherwise dispose of any of the Collateral, or any part thereof or interest therein, at any time,
without the prior consent of the Lender.

(b)             The Borrower will appear in, contest and defend against any action or proceeding purporting to affect title
to or any other interest in any portion of the Collateral or the rights or powers of the Lender, its successors or assigns,
or the right or interest of the Lender, legal or beneficial, in any portion of the Collateral; and will pay all reasonable
costs and expenses, including costs of evidence of title and outside attorneys’ fees, in any such action or proceeding in
which the Lender may appear.

7.6.          Access and Examination. Until all of the Obligations have been indefeasibly paid in full and the Lender’s
commitment to Borrower hereunder has terminated, the Lender shall have the right and the Borrower shall permit the
Lender to, at all times upon two (2) Business Days’ notice (and at any time, without any notice, when a Default or
Event of Default exists), during normal business hours, (i) to examine, audit, make extracts from or copies of and
inspect any and all of the Borrower’s books, records, files concerning or mentioning the Collateral and/or the Collateral
Proceeds, (ii) to discuss the Borrower’s affairs with the Borrower’s officers and management (iii) be given access,
during normal business hours, to any and all of the Borrower’s computer hardware or software, whether maintained by
the Borrower, or third Persons on the Borrower’s behalf, that pertains to or reflects, such records and (iv) permit the
Lender to inspect the Collateral or any part thereof at such place as the Collateral may be held or located or at such
other reasonable place. At such time or times as the Lender may request, the Borrower will, at its cost and expense,
prepare a list or lists in such form as shall be satisfactory to the Lender, certified by a duly authorized officer/manager
of the Borrower, describing in such reasonable detail as the Lender shall require, the Collateral, and specifying the
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location of the Collateral and the Borrower records pertaining thereto.

7.7.          Attorney-in-Fact.

(a)             The Borrower hereby constitutes and appoints the Lender as its true and lawful attorney-in-fact, in its place
and stead and with full power of substitution, either in the Lender’s own name or in the name of the Borrower to do the
following after an Event of Default, to the extent the Borrower has such right:

(i)              Endorse any notes, checks, drafts, money orders, or other evidences of payment payable to the Borrower
relating to the Collateral that may come into the possession of the Lender and obtain, take possession of, substitute the
Lender or any designee of the Lender for the Borrower as the owner of, or signatory on, and otherwise apply in any
manner, all deposit accounts, cash or cash equivalents, instruments and general intangibles of, relating to or derived
from the Series or any other Collateral, and all proceeds thereof including, but not limited to, interest, chattel paper,
notes, certificates, writings, distributions, dividends, profits, rights, benefits, premiums and other payments and rights
to payment, held by any Person for or in the name of the Borrower;

(ii)            Enforce all of the Borrower’s rights under and pursuant to all agreements with respect to the Collateral, all
for the sole benefit of the Lender, and to enter into such other agreements as may be necessary to complete the
production, distribution, and exploitation of the Series;
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(iii)          Enter into and perform such agreements as may be necessary in order to carry out the terms, covenants, and
conditions of this Agreement and the other Loan Documents that are required to be observed or performed by the
Borrower;

(iv)           Execute such other and further mortgages, pledges, and assignments of the Collateral as the Lender may
reasonably require solely for the purpose of protecting, maintaining, or enforcing the Lien granted to the Lender by
this Agreement and the other Loan Documents;

(v)             Take over and complete production of the Series or any Episode (including, but not limited to completing
post-production and editing and locking the Series or any Episode);

(vi)           Sign and deliver documents required or appropriate to reduce or eliminate any foreign withholding taxes;

(vii)         Lease, license, sell or otherwise dispose of the Series and/or such distribution rights in and to the Series and
such other rights therein as have not been disposed of by the Borrower or any Person on behalf of the Borrower (or to
engage others to do so with the costs and expenses thereof to be recoupable by the Lender as provided herein);

(viii)       Renegotiate the Netflix License Agreement or such other agreements as the Lender has a Lien in pursuant to
the terms hereof as the Lender in its sole and exclusive discretion deems proper;

(ix)           Require, demand, collect, receive, settle, adjust, compromise and to give acquittances and receipts for the
payment of any and all money payable pursuant to the Netflix License Agreement, or such other agreements included
in the Collateral and such licenses and agreements as the Lender may enter into as aforesaid;

(x)             Prepare and file documents required or appropriate in order to qualify for withholding tax exemptions, and
file any claims and/or proofs of claim, and commence, maintain or discontinue any actions, suits or other proceedings
deemed by the Lender advisable for the purpose of collecting or enforcing payment of any money owing under the
terms of the Collateral;

(xi)           Execute any and all such instruments, agreements or documents, and do all things as may be necessary or
desirable to carry out the purposes of this Agreement;
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(xii)         Apply any receipts so derived from the Lender’s exercise of this power-of-attorney to the Obligations as
herein provided;

(xiii)       Settle, compromise, prosecute or defend any action, claim or proceeding with respect thereto and to sell,
assign, pledge, transfer and make any agreement respecting or otherwise deal with, the same;

(xiv)       Effect Delivery to Netflix; and

(xv)         Do any and all other acts necessary and proper to carry out the intent of this Agreement;

(b)             Nothing herein contained shall be construed as requiring or obligating the Lender to make any demand, or
to make any inquiry as to the nature or sufficiency of any payment received by it, or to present or file any claim or
notice or take any action with respect to any of the Collateral or the money due or to become due thereunder or the
property covered thereby, and no action taken or omitted to be taken by the Lender with respect to any of the
Collateral shall give rise to any defense, counterclaim or setoff in favor of the Borrower or to any claim or action
against the Lender. Neither the Lender nor its attorneys will be liable for any acts or omissions or for any error of
judgment or mistake of fact or law. The Borrower ratifies and confirms all acts taken by the Lender as such
attorney-in-fact or its substitutes by virtue of this power of attorney. This power, being coupled with an interest, is
irrevocable until this Agreement has been terminated and the Obligations have been fully satisfied.
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7.8.          Lender’s Rights, Duties and Liabilities. The Borrower assumes all responsibility and liability arising from or
relating to the use, sale or other disposition of the Collateral. To the extent that the Lender has taken possession of any
of the Collateral pursuant to its rights under this Agreement, neither the Lender nor any of its officers, directors,
employees or agents shall be liable or responsible in any way for the safekeeping of any of the Collateral, or for any
loss or damage thereto, or for any diminution in the value thereof, or for any act of default of any carrier, forwarding
agency or other Person whomsoever, all of which shall be at the Borrower’s sole risk. The Obligations shall not be
affected by any failure of the Lender to take any steps to perfect the Lender’s Liens or to collect or realize upon the
Collateral, nor shall loss of or damage to the Collateral release the Borrower from any of the Obligations. The Lender
may (but shall not be required to), without notice to or consent from the Borrower, sue upon or otherwise collect,
extend the time for payment of, modify or amend the terms of, compromise or settle for cash, credit, or otherwise
upon any terms, grant other indulgences, extensions, renewals, compositions, or releases, and take or omit to take any
other action with respect to the Collateral, any security therefor, any agreement relating thereto, any insurance
applicable thereto, or any Person liable directly or indirectly in connection with any of the foregoing, without
discharging or otherwise affecting the liability of the Borrower for the Obligations or under this Agreement or any
other agreement now or hereafter existing between the Lender and the Borrower.

7.9.          Authority to Collect. The Borrower shall take and shall direct other Persons to take all steps necessary to
cause all Collateral Proceeds, including the Netflix License Fee, to be paid (as directed by the Lender) directly by
Netflix or other obligor thereof to the Collection Account or to the Lender for deposit into the Collection Account to
be applied by the Lender to the repayment of the Obligations. All collections received in the Collection Account or
directly by the Borrower or its Affiliates or the Lender, and all funds in any other account to which such collections
are deposited, shall, be the sole property of the Lender and subject to the Lender’s sole control.

7.10.       Remittances. If, notwithstanding the Borrower’s direction to pay all Collateral Proceeds directly to, as
appropriate, the Collection Account or to the Lender, any Collateral Proceeds, including the Netflix License Fee, are
paid to the Borrower or any other Person, then the Borrower shall and shall direct each such other Person to: (i)
segregate and hold in trust all of such receipts that it receives; and (ii) remit such receipts in the form received directly
to the Collection Account (as more fully set forth in the Netflix Notice of Assignment), or to the Lender for deposit to
the Collection Account, not later than the Business Day following the day of its receipt thereof. The Borrower shall
not commingle any of the Collateral Proceeds with its funds or the funds of any other Person.

7.11.       Copyrights. As soon as each Episode may be copyrighted, the Borrower shall , as promptly as practicable,
take any and all actions necessary to copyright each such Episode and to register such copyright in the name of the
Borrower for the United States in conformity with the laws of the United States, and contemporaneously therewith
shall execute and record a copyright mortgage and assignment and power of attorney in favor of the Lender, granting
to the Lender a Lien thereon for the purpose of securing the Obligations, and immediately deliver to the Lender
written evidence of any and all such copyright registrations and mortgages.
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7.12.       Control of Preprint Materials. The Borrower shall not deliver or deposit any of the Preprint Materials in any
film or sound laboratory without first obtaining and delivering to the Lender a fully executed laboratory agreement
approved by the Lender and the Completion Guarantor. Except as required to effect Delivery in accordance with the
Netflix Notice of Assignment, no print, preprint, sound or other Preprint Materials shall be deposited at any laboratory
or maintained at any place without the prior consent of the Lender and the Completion Guarantor and compliance with
the requirements of this Section 7.11.

7.13.       Cash Collateral Account and Payment to the Lender. The Borrower shall deposit into the Cash Collateral
Account one million Dollars ($1,000,000) as additional security for the payment and performance of all Obligations of
the Borrower hereunder. The Borrower agrees that all amounts held in the Cash Collateral Account shall be paid to the
Lender and applied to the payment of the Obligations without any offset or deduction upon Delivery to Netflix or
upon the occurrence of an Event of Default.
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ARTICLE 8 -BOOKS; RECORDS; FINANCIAL REPORTING; AND NOTICES

8.1.          Books and Records.

(a)             The Borrower shall maintain a system of accounting established and administered in accordance with
customary standards of the television industry in Los Angeles, California, to the production of first-class television
programs and keep adequate records and books of account in which complete entries in accordance with such
accounting principles will be made.

(b)             The Borrower shall maintain, at all times, correct and complete books and records, in all material respects,
with respect to the Collateral that are as complete and comprehensive as those customarily maintained by others
engaged in the production of first class television programs, including all books, records, contracts, production notes
and all other information and data of every kind relating to the Series, the Collateral, and the production, distribution,
or exploitation thereof.

8.2.          Financial Information. The Borrower shall promptly furnish to the Lender all financial and other
information relating to the production of the Series, business, properties, condition, operations and affairs of the
Borrower, financial or otherwise, as the Lender shall reasonably request. Without limiting the generality of the
foregoing, the Borrower shall furnish to the Lender, in such detail as the Lender shall request, the following:

(a)             Monthly, but in any event not later than fifteen (15) days after the last Business Day of each month, a copy
of the Budget showing the then cost to complete each line item;

(b)             Within five (5) days of delivery to the Completion Guarantor copies of all periodic statements of the costs
of production of the Series in the same form as supplied to the Completion Guarantor;

(c)             As soon as available, but in any event within thirty (30) days after the Series has been completed, a copy of
a statement of the final cost of production of the Series (detailed in accordance with the categories in the Budget);

(d)             As soon as available, but in any event not later than fifteen (15) days after the last Business Day of each
month, copies of all invoices (if any) for payments due under the Netflix License Agreement sent to Netflix by the
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Borrower since the date such invoices were last delivered to the Lender; and

(e)             As soon as available, but in any event within five (5) Business Days after being sent to or received from
Netflix, copies of all invoices and other correspondence between the Borrower and. Netflix concerning or mentioning
the Netflix License Fee.

8.3.          Notice of Certain Events. The Borrower shall promptly notify the Lender in writing of the following matters
after obtaining knowledge thereof: (a) any Event of Default or Default; (b) any material default under the Netflix
License Agreement, the Completion Agreement and any other agreement material to the business, financial condition
or results of operations of the Borrower to which the Borrower is a party or by which the Borrower or any of its
respective properties may be bound; (c) immediately after becoming aware thereof, any pending or threatened action,
suit, proceeding, or counterclaim by any Person, or any pending or threatened investigation by a governmental
authority, which action, suit, proceeding, counterclaim or investigation seeks damages in excess of $10,000 (which
amount shall not be fully covered by insurance), or which may otherwise materially and adversely affect the
Collateral, the repayment of the Obligations, the Lender’s rights under the Loan Documents, or the Borrower’s
property, business, operations, or financial condition; and (d) immediately after becoming aware thereof, any pending
or threatened strike, work stoppage, unfair labor practice claim, or other labor dispute affecting the Borrower in a
manner that could reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect on the Series.
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ARTICLE 9 -GENERAL REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

The Borrower warrants and represents to the Lender and (except with respect to any representation or warranty which
is stated to be made as of a specific date which shall be deemed repeated as of such date), the Borrower shall be
deemed to have repeated each such representation and warranty on each date that any Obligations remain outstanding,
as follows.

9.1.          Authorization, Validity, and Enforceability.

(a)             The Borrower has the power and authority to execute, deliver and perform this Agreement, the other Loan
Documents to which it is a party, and to incur the Obligations, and to grant to the Lender a Lien upon and in the
Collateral. The Borrower has taken all necessary organizational action (including without limitation, obtaining
approval of its members if necessary) to authorize the execution, delivery, and performance of this Agreement and the
Loan Documents. No consent, approval, or authorization of, or declaration or filing with, any governmental authority,
and no consent of any other Person, is required in connection with Borrower’s execution, delivery and performance of
this Agreement and the other Loan Documents, except for those already duly obtained.

(b)             This Agreement and the other Loan Documents have been duly executed and delivered by the Borrower
and constitute the legal, valid and binding obligation of the Borrower enforceable against it in accordance with its
terms without defense, setoff or counterclaim, except to the extent that such enforcement may be limited by applicable
bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium, and other similar laws affecting creditors’ rights generally and by
general principles of equity.

(c)             The Borrower’s execution, delivery, and performance of, as applicable, this Agreement, the other Loan
Documents and the Netflix License Agreement, do not and will not conflict with, or constitute a violation or breach
of, or constitute a default under, or result in the creation or imposition of any Lien (other than Permitted Liens) upon
the property of the Borrower by reason of the terms of (i) any contract, mortgage, lease, agreement, indenture, or
instrument to which the Borrower is a party or which is binding upon the Borrower, (ii) any judgment, law, statute,
rule or governmental regulation applicable to the Borrower, or (iii) the organizational documents of the Borrower.

9.2.          Validity and Priority of Liens. The provisions of this Agreement and the other Loan Documents create a
legal and valid Lien on all the Collateral in favor of the Lender and such Lien constitutes a perfected and continuing
Lien on all the Collateral, having priority over all other Liens on the Collateral except for those Permitted Liens that,
by agreement of the Lender, are senior to the Lender’s Lien therein, securing all the Obligations, and enforceable
against the Borrower and all other Persons.
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9.3.          Organization and Qualification. The Borrower is: (a) duly formed and organized and validly existing in
good standing under the laws of the jurisdiction of its organization, (b) qualified to do business in the jurisdiction of
its organization, and (c) has all requisite power and authority to conduct its business and to own its property.

9.4.          Financial Information. Financial information, and other data furnished by the Borrower to the Lender in
connection with the Borrower’s application for credit hereunder, if any, are, in all material respects, accurate and
correct.

9.5.          Solvency. The Borrower is solvent prior to and after giving effect to the Loans on the Closing Date and shall
remain solvent during the term hereof.

9.6.          Rights in the Series and Collateral.

(a)             The Borrower owns or controls all rights in the Series and in the other Collateral necessary to enable the
Borrower to fully perform all of its obligations, representations, warranties and agreements under this Agreement, the
Loan Documents, the Netflix Notice of Assignment and the Netflix License Agreement, as applicable.

(b)             The Borrower has acquired, now owns and will own during production of the Series and continuing
through satisfaction of all Obligations, subject only to those rights granted pursuant to the Netflix License Agreement,
(i) all right, title and interest, including copyrights in and to the Literary Property, including each Teleplay, and the
Series; (ii) all right, title and interest necessary to produce, make, distribute, exhibit and otherwise exploit the Series
worldwide, including, without limitation, all rights in the literary, musical or other property or ideas used therein, (iii)
the right to exhibit the Series and each Episode on television, through subscription video-on-demand, by means of
video cassettes and videodisks or in any other media or manner, by any means now known or unknown, and (iv) the
sole right to exploit all ancillary rights in and to the Series, including, without limitation, all rights granted pursuant to
the Netflix License Agreement, subject to the Chain-of-Title Documents and payment of necessary performing rights
fees in respect of the music in the Series.
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(c)             As soon as the Teleplays have been approved by Netflix and the Completion Guarantor, the Borrower shall
file the Teleplays with the United States Copyright Office and provide the Lender with one or more Copyright
Mortgages covering the Lender’s Lien in the Teleplays so that the Lender can file such Copyright Mortgages with the
United States Registrar of Copyrights.

(d)             All material or matter used in or in connection with the Series, including dialogue, characters, titles,
episodes and events, shall be original and owned by or licensed to the Borrower, or in the public domain, and will not
infringe any copyrights, statutory or common law, or constitute a libel, slander or invasion of privacy of any Person,
or otherwise infringe on or violate the rights or any other Person whomsoever, in any fashion whatsoever.

(e)             Neither the Borrower nor any Person acting on the Borrower’s behalf shall enter into an agreement relating
to music rights in connection with the Series unless such agreement grants all rights with respect thereto for such
media and/or duration as such rights are required under the Netflix License Agreement. The Borrower shall deliver
copies of all such agreements to the Lender for its review (but not approval) upon the Lender’s written request.

9.7.          Required Payments. All rents, royalties and other amounts due and payable by the Borrower under
contracts, leases, license agreements and other instruments relating to the Collateral, including without limitation
contracts, leases or agreements relating to the Literary Property, the Chain-of-Title Documents, the services of all
persons or entities rendering services in connection with the Series, and the furnishing of goods, processing,
equipment and materials used in connection with the Series have been paid if due, or will be paid when due, if by
reason of nonpayment thereof the value of any part of the Collateral or the Lien of the Lender therein may be
impaired, and the Borrower is not in default under any such contract, lease, license agreement or other instrument so
that such impairment has now occurred.

9.8.          Litigation. There are no actions, suits or proceedings pending or, to the knowledge of the Borrower,
threatened against or affecting the Borrower or before any court or governmental agency, arbitrator or instrumentality,
domestic or foreign, relating to the Teleplays, the Series, the Literary Property, the Netflix License Agreement, or
rights therein or thereto or otherwise, that if determined adversely to the Borrower would have a material adverse
effect on the Collateral or the financial condition, other properties or operations of the Borrower, or that would
materially and adversely affect the rights and Lien of the Lender granted to the Lender hereunder.

9.9.          No Defaults. The Borrower is not in default under the Netflix License Agreement, the Completion
Agreement or any of the other Loan Documents to which it is a party.
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9.10.       Taxes. The Borrower has filed all tax returns and other reports that it was required by law to file on or prior
to the date hereof and has paid all taxes, assessments, fees, and other governmental charges, and penalties and interest,
if any, against it or its property, income, or franchise, that are due and payable (except to the extent that (a) any such
taxes, assessments, fees, and other governmental charges, and penalties and interest are diligently contested in good
faith by appropriate proceedings and proper reserves are established on the books of the Borrower as provided in
applicable accounting standards and (b) a stay of enforcement of any Liens arising from the nonpayment thereof when
due is in effect).

9.11.       No Material Adverse Change. Since the Closing Date, no material adverse change has occurred in the
property, business operations or conditions of the Borrower, Genius Brands and to the best of the Borrower’s
knowledge, Netflix.

9.12.       Material Agreements. The Borrower has furnished to the Lender copies of all material agreements,
indentures, and other instruments relating to the Series, or pursuant to which the Borrower has incurred or may be
obligated, whether directly or indirectly, for borrowed money.

9.13.       Completion Guarantor Payments. Neither the Borrower nor any of its Affiliates and the Completion
Guarantor have entered into an agreement or understanding pursuant to which the Completion Guarantor will pay to
the Borrower or to any of its respective Affiliates any rebates, commissions, or any other payment, regardless of what
that payment is called or styled, in connection with or in any way related to the Series other than as specified in the
Completion Agreement.

9.14.       Survival of Warranties. All covenants, agreements, representations and warranties made under this
Agreement or in any of the other Loan Documents shall survive the execution and delivery of this Agreement, the
making of the Loans hereunder, and the execution and delivery of the Note and shall continue in full force and effect
until the full and final payment and performance of all the Obligations.
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9.15.       Margin Stock; Investment Company; and Public Utility Holding Company. The Borrower shall use the
proceeds of the Loan to pay the direct production costs of the Series, and the fees and costs expressly identified
herein, and for no other purpose. The Borrower is not engaged in the business of extending credit for the purpose of
purchasing or carrying margin stock (within the meaning of Regulation U of the Board of Governors of the Federal
Reserve System of the United States), and no part of the proceeds of any Loan will be used to purchase or carry any
margin stock or to extend credit to others for the purpose of purchasing or carrying any margin stock. The Borrower is
not an “investment company” nor an “affiliated person” of, or “promoter” or “principal underwriter” for, an -investment
company,” as such terms are defined in the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended (15 U.S.C. §§80(a)(1), et
seq.). The Borrower is not a “holding company” or a “subsidiary company” of a “holding company” or an affiliate of a
“holding company” within the meaning of the Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935, as amended.

ARTICLE 10 -AFFIRMATIVE AND NEGATIVE COVENANTS

The Borrower covenants to the Lender that so long as any of the Obligations remain outstanding or this Agreement is
in full effect as follows.

10.1.       Taxes and Other Liabilities. The Borrower shall pay and discharge, before the same become delinquent and
before penalties accrue thereon, all taxes, assessments and governmental charges upon or against it or upon its income
or profits or upon any of its properties, and all its other liabilities at any time existing, except to the extent and so long
as: (a) the same are being contested in good faith and by appropriate proceedings in such manner as not to cause any
materially adverse effect upon its financial condition or the loss of any right of redemption from any sale thereunder;
and (b) it shall have set aside on its books reserves (segregated to the extent required by generally accepted accounting
principles) adequate with respect thereto; and further to pay all governmental charges or taxes (except income,
franchise or other similar taxes on the Lender) at any time payable or ruled to be payable in respect of the existence,
execution or delivery of this Agreement or the other Loan Documents by reason of any existing or hereafter enacted
federal or state statute.

10.2.       Legal Rights and Facilities. The Borrower shall maintain and preserve its legal existence and all rights,
privileges, franchises and other authority necessary for the conduct of its business.

10.3.       Compliance. The Borrower shall comply with all laws, rules and regulations relating to, and shall pay or
shall cause to be paid prior to delinquency all license fees, registration fees, taxes, guild or union pension, health and
welfare payments, supplemental market, reuse and other required payments and assessments, and all other charges,
including without limitation non-governmental levies or assessments, that may be levied upon or assessed against, or
that may become a Lien on, the ownership, operation, possession, maintenance, exploitation, exhibition or use of, the
Collateral or which create or may create a Lien upon the Collateral, or any part thereof. The Borrower shall pay prior
to delinquency all required guild or union residual payments arising prior to Delivery to Netflix, and the Borrower
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shall pay or cause Netflix to pay prior to delinquency all required guild or union residual payments arising after
Delivery to Netflix.

10.4.       Maintenance. The Borrower shall maintain the Collateral in good order and repair (normal wear and tear
excepted), conduct its business in an orderly manner without interruption, and refrain from any material change in the
nature of its business.

10.5.       Insurance.

(a)             At all times while the Obligations are outstanding, at its sole cost and expense, the Borrower shall maintain
insurance against loss or damage to the Collateral with responsible and reputable insurance companies or associations
approved by the Lender in such amounts and covering such risks as are usually carried by companies engaged in
similar businesses and owning similar property in the same general area as the area in which such property is located
including, without limitation, fire, public liability, property damage, miscellaneous equipment, pre-production,
production, extra expense, domestic comprehensive general and automobile liability, foreign comprehensive general
liability, domestic workers’ compensation and employer’s liability, foreign workers’ compensation, guild accident
insurance, errors and omissions, cast insurance in an amount which is not less than the amount of the Budget, negative
insurance in an amount which is not less than the amount of the Budget and projected interest, director, soundtrack,
and interruption of business and political risk insurance.
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(b)             Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Borrower shall (i) maintain errors and omissions
insurance, covering, among other things, the legal liability and defense of the Borrower against lawsuits alleging the
unauthorized use of title, format, ideas, characters, plots, plagiarism, copyright infringement and unfair competition,
and (ii) protect against alleged libel, slander, defamation of character and invasion of privacy and (iii) comprehensive
general liability insurance covering the Borrower against, among other things, all claims for bodily injury, personal
injury or property damage which may arise in connection with the Series, including, without limitation, coverage for
all owned, non-owned and hired vehicles (both on and off camera) with a minimum liability limits of $1,000,000. The
errors and omissions policy shall be in a minimum amount of $3,000,000 per occurrence and $5,000,000 in the
aggregate, with a deductible of not more than $25,000, and a period of coverage of approximately not less than three
(3) years from the Closing Date (plus such longer periods as such coverage is required to be in effect pursuant to the
Netflix License Agreement).

(c)             All such insurance policies covering the Collateral shall name the Borrower as named insured and shall
name the Lender as additional insured without the Lender being liable for premiums or other costs or expenses. Each
such policy shall bear a standard first mortgagee endorsement in favor of the Lender and shall provide for all losses to
be paid to the Borrower, and for losses to be adjusted with the insurer by the Borrower; provided that, if the insurer
shall have received written notice from the Lender that an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing
unremedied, any such payment for loss or destruction of or damage to the Collateral shall be paid directly to the
Lender and any such adjustments shall be made solely by the Lender. All such insurance payments received by the
Lender while an Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing unremedied shall be held or applied by the
Lender as provided in Subsection 10.5(11).

(d)             At least thirty (30) days prior to the expiration of each such policy, the Borrower shall furnish the Lender
with evidence satisfactory to the Lender of the payment of premium and the reissuance of a policy continuing
insurance in force as required by this Agreement. All such policies or certificates shall contain a provision that such
policies will not be canceled or materially amended, which term shall include any reduction in the scope or limits of
coverage, without at least thirty (30) days’ prior written notice by such insurer to the Lender (or ten (10) days with
respect to payment of premiums when due). If the Borrower fails to provide, maintain, keep in force or deliver and
furnish to the Lender the policies of insurance required by this Section 10.5, then the Lender may, but shall not be
obligated to, procure such insurance or single interest insurance for such risks covering the Lender’s interest, and the
Borrower will pay all premiums thereon promptly upon demand by the Lender, together with interest thereon at the
rate then applicable to the Loans made to the Borrower hereunder from the date of expenditure by the Lender until
reimbursement by the Borrower.

(e)             All policies of insurance (other than errors and omissions insurance) required to be furnished by the
Borrower pursuant to this Section 10.5 shall have attached thereto a lender’s loss payable endorsement or its
equivalent, or a loss payable clause acceptable to the Lender, for the benefit of the Lender.
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(f)              The Borrower shall observe and comply with the requirements of all policies of insurance required to be
maintained hereunder and shall so perform and satisfy the requirements thereof so that the insurance policies are at all
times in full force and effect.

(g)             Upon request by the Lender, the Borrower shall furnish the Lender a certificate of an officer/manager of
the Borrower containing a detailed list of the insurance policies of the Borrower required by or referred to in this
Section 10.5 then outstanding and in force.

(h)             All insurance money received by the Lender shall be held by the Lender to secure the performance by the
Borrower of the Obligations and shall be applied against and reduce such Obligations.

(i)              Notwithstanding any provisions of this Agreement, the Completion Agreement, the Completion Guaranty
or the Netflix License Agreement to the contrary, if any claim should arise under any of the policies of insurance to be
provided under said agreements, with respect to which the insurer is to make a payment to the Borrower (as
distinguished from a payment to a third Person) such payment shall be made to the Production Bank Account and
shall be disbursed as follows:
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(x)             If the Series has been completed or the production abandoned (e.g., for purposes of this paragraph only, the
Series shall be deemed abandoned if a cast insurance claim is made and thereafter the role with respect to which cast
insurance reimbursement is sought is not subsequently photographed, such proceeds shall first be paid to the Lender
and applied to the repayment of the Obligations until the Obligations have been repaid in full, any balance shall then
be applied and paid to the Completion Guarantor so that the Completion Guarantor may recoup any sums advanced
(plus interest thereon) for the production of the Series or under the Completion Guaranty and finally any balance shall
be paid to the Borrower; and

(y)             If the Series has not been completed or abandoned, such proceeds, to the extent necessary, shall be used to
pay production costs of the Series; provided, however, and notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary,
if the Completion Guarantor has advanced funds for the production of the Series for any reason, the proceeds of such
insurance for such loss shall be paid to the Completion Guarantor up to the amount of said advance(s) and interest and
thereafter in accordance with the first part of this sentence. The balance, if any, remaining after the Completion
Guarantor has been reimbursed in full, shall be paid to the Borrower.

10.6.       Related Agreements. The Borrower shall perform and observe, in all material respects, all material
agreements, covenants, representations and warranties of the Borrower under the Netflix License Agreement, its
agreements with any guilds concerning the Series, the Completion Agreement, and any other document or agreement
entered into in connection with or related to the production, completion, Delivery, or exploitation of the Series
(including, without limitation, any document or agreement entered into in connection with or related to the Literary
Property).

10.7.       Approvals. The Borrower shall obtain from time to time, all approvals, permits and consents necessary to
allow the Borrower to remit payments to the Lender in Dollars from any and all appropriate governmental authorities
having jurisdiction thereof.

10.8.       Indebtedness. The Borrower shall not incur any indebtedness, other than pursuant to this Agreement or in the
ordinary course of producing the Series (e.g., credit arrangements for equipment).

10.9.       Dissolution and Sale of Assets. The Borrower shall not wind up, liquidate or dissolve its affairs, or sell,
lease, license, transfer, or otherwise dispose of or grant an interest in all or a substantial part of the Collateral or,
except upon thirty (30) days prior written notice to the Lender, change its legal or trade name.

10.10.    Use of Proceeds. The Borrower shall not use the proceeds of any Loan made by the Lender hereunder for any
purpose or thing other than the items set forth in Subsection 2.2(a) hereof.
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10.11.    Transactions with Affiliates. The Borrower shall not, except as previously approved in writing by the Lender,
effect any transaction with any Affiliate.

10.12.    Consolidation or Merger. The Borrower shall not consolidate with or merge into any other Person.

10.13.    Liens. The Borrower shall not directly or indirectly create, incur or suffer to exist, and shall promptly
discharge or cause to be discharged, any Lien on or with respect to the Collateral, other than Permitted Liens.

10.14.    Further Assurances. The Borrower shall, at any time or from time to time upon the request of the Lender,
execute and deliver such further documents and do such other acts and things as the Lender may reasonably request in
order to effect fully the purposes of this Agreement the other Loan Documents and to provide for the payment and
performance of the Obligations of the Borrower in accordance with the terms of this Agreement and the other Loan
Documents.

10.15.    Negative Pledge. The Borrower shall not enter into or suffer to exist any agreement prohibiting or
conditioning the creation or assumption of any Lien upon any of its property or assets, other than as contemplated by
this Agreement or the other Loan Documents.

10.16.    Bank Accounts. After the date hereof, the Borrower shall not open or maintain any bank account other than:
(a) the Production Bank Account, (b) accounts maintained at the Lender, or (c) accounts maintained at another
financial institution approved by the Lender.
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ARTICLE 11

ARTICLE 12 -EVENTS OF DEFAULT; REMEDIES

12.1.       Events of Default. It shall constitute an event of default (“Event of Default”) if any one or more of the
following shall occur for any reason:

(a)             Failure of the Borrower to pay the principal of or interest on any of the Obligations when the same
becomes due;

(b)             Failure by the Borrower to pay any fees, expenses, or any other Obligation not otherwise specified in the
foregoing clause “(a)” within five (5) Business Days following the date such item is due, whether upon demand or
otherwise;

(c)             Any representation or warranty made by the Borrower in this Agreement or by the Borrower or Genius
Brands in any of the other Loan Documents, in each case to which it is a party, any financial statement, or report
furnished by the Borrower at any time to the Lender shall prove to be untrue in any material respect as of the date on
which made or furnished;

(d)             Failure of the Borrower to comply with any other covenants on its part to be performed under the terms of
this Agreement or the other Loan Documents, and, if the Lender determines (in its sole discretion) that such failure
may be cured so that the Lender has not suffered and will not suffer any material adverse effect, is not cured within
ten (10) Business Days after notice thereof by the Lender to the Borrower or such other party (with a copy to the
Borrower), as applicable, and in the event such cure cannot be affected within such ten (10) Business Days period the
Borrower commences within such ten (10) Business Days period steps to affect a cure and such steps remain
continuing;

(e)             Failure of the Borrower, Genius Brands, Netflix, or the Completion Guarantor to perform or observe any
material agreement, material covenant, representation or warranty under the Netflix License Agreement or any other
Loan Documents to which such Person is a party, respectively, or any other document or agreement entered into by
the Borrower, Netflix, or the Completion Guarantor in connection with or related to the Series (including, without
limitation, any document or agreement entered into in connection with or related to the Literary Property) within five
(5) Business Days after written notice to the Borrower by the Lender of such failure;
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(f)              The Borrower, Genius Brands, Netflix, or the Completion Guarantor shall become insolvent; or admit in
writing its inability to pay its debts as they mature; or make an assignment for the benefit of creditors; or apply for or
consent to the appointment of a receiver or trustee for it or for a substantial part of its property or business, or if such a
receiver or trustee otherwise shall be appointed;

(g)             Any money, judgment, writ or warrant of attachment, or similar process involving an amount in excess of
$50,000 shall be entered or filed against the Borrower, $250,000 shall be entered or filed against Genius Brands or
$500,000 shall be entered or filed against the Completion Guarantor or any material portion of their respective assets
and shall remain unvacated, unbonded or unstayed for a period of thirty (30) days or in any event later than five (5)
days prior to the date of any proposed sale thereunder;

(h)             An involuntary bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization or liquidation proceedings or other proceedings for
relief under any bankruptcy law or any law for the relief of debtors shall be instituted against the Borrower, Genius
Brands, Netflix, or the Completion Guarantor, and such proceeding shall not be dismissed within ninety (90) days
after its commencement or an order for relief against the Borrower, Genius Brands, Netflix, or the Completion
Guarantor, shall have been entered in such proceeding, or any order, judgment or decree shall be entered against the
Borrower, Genius Brands, Netflix, or the Completion Guarantor decreeing its dissolution or division;

(i)              A bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization or liquidation proceedings or other proceedings for relief under
any bankruptcy law or any law for the relief of debtors shall be instituted by the Borrower, Genius Brands, Netflix, or
the Completion Guarantor;

(j)              Any sale of, or agreement to sell, any of the Collateral or any material portion of the other assets of the
Borrower with regards to the Series, without the Lender’s approval;

(k)             This Agreement, the Netflix License Agreement, any other Loan Document, or any other material
instrument delivered hereunder or thereunder shall at any time after its execution and delivery and for any reason
cease to be in full force and effect, or shall be declared to be null and void, or the validity or enforceability thereof
shall be contested by any party thereto other than the Lender, or any party other than the Lender shall deny that it has
any further obligation under this Agreement, the Netflix License Agreement, any other Loan Documents or any other
material instrument delivered hereunder or thereunder, which could result in a material adverse effect, as determined
by the Lender in its sole discretion;
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(1)	The Completion Guarantor or Netflix fail to, or fail to confirm in writing, upon request by the Lender, to the
Lender that it shall, perform or observe any material covenant or agreement contained in the Completion Guaranty,
the Netflix License Agreement, or any other Loan Documents to which any such Person is a party, which could result
in a material adverse effect;

(l)              Any Person with which the Completion Guarantor is insured for the purpose of assuring that the
Completion Guarantor will satisfy its obligations to the Lender under the Completion Guaranty denies any of its
obligations to the Completion Guarantor or the Lender;

(m)           The abandonment of production of the Series;

(n)             Any guaranty, if any, of the Obligations shall be terminated, revoked, or declared void or invalid or there is
a failure to perform any material covenant thereunder;

(o)             Any Default or Event of Default occurs under any of the other Loan Documents; or

(p)             A Change of Control occurs.

12.2.       Remedies.

(a)             If a Default or Event of Default exists, the Lender may, in its discretion, without notice to or demand on the
Borrower, restrict the amount of or refuse to make Loans. If an Event of Default exists, the Lender may, in its
discretion, do one or more of the following in addition to the actions described in the preceding sentence, at any time
or times and in any order, without notice to or demand on the Borrower: (i) terminate this Agreement; (ii) declare any
or all Obligations to be immediately due and payable; and (iii) pursue its other rights and remedies under the Loan
Documents and applicable law. The foregoing shall not be construed to limit the discretion of the Lender to take any
actions described above at any other time.

(b)             If any Event of Default exists the Lender shall have, in addition to all other rights of the Lender hereunder,
the rights and remedies of a secured party under the UCC. The Lender may require the Borrower to assemble the
Collateral and make it available to the Lender at a place or places to be designated by the Lender.
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(c)             If any Event of Default exists the Lender may, in its sole discretion, in its name or in the name of the
Borrower, or otherwise, demand, sue for, collect or receive any money or property at any time payable or receivable
on account of or in exchange for, or make any compromise or settlement deemed desirable with respect to, any of the
Collateral, but shall be under no obligation so to do, or the Lender may extend the time of payment, arrange for
payment in installments, or otherwise modify the term of, or release, any of the Collateral, without thereby incurring
responsibility to, or discharging or otherwise affecting the liability of, the Borrower. The Lender will not be required
to take any steps to preserve any rights against prior parties to the Collateral. If the Borrower or Netflix fail to make
payment or take any action required under the Netflix License Agreement, the Netflix Notice of Assignment, any
other Loan Document or the Completion Agreement, the Lender may make such payments and take all such actions as
the Lender deems necessary to protect the Lender’s Lien in the Collateral and/or the value thereof The Lender is
hereby authorized (without limiting the general nature of the authority hereinabove conferred) to pay, purchase,
contest or compromise any Liens which the Lender believes appear to be equal to, prior to or superior to the Lien of
the Lender in the Collateral.

(d)             If any Event of Default exists the Lender may, without notice or demand or legal process, enter upon any
premises, or wherever any portion of the Collateral may be, and take possession of the Collateral together with all
additions and accessories thereto, demand and receive such possession from any person who has possession thereof,
remove, keep and store the Collateral or any portion thereof, or put a custodian in charge thereof, and take such other
measures as it may deem reasonably necessary or proper for the care or protection thereof
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(e)             If any Event of Default exists the Lender may, with or without taking possession thereof, sell, lease,
license, or cause to be sold, or otherwise disposed of, at such price or prices as the Lender shall in its sole and absolute
discretion so determine, and for cash or on credit or for future delivery, without assumption of any credit risk, and in a
commercially reasonably manner, all or any portion of the Collateral, at any public or private disposition thereof,
without demand of performance or notice of intention to sell or of time or place of sale; provided, however, that unless
the Collateral in the Lender’s possession is perishable or threatens to decline speedily in value or is of a type
customarily sold on a recognized market, the Lender shall give the Borrower notice of the time and place of any
public disposition thereof or of the time after which any private disposition thereof is to be made. The requirement of
notice shall be met if notice of disposition is delivered or mailed, by certified mail, postage prepaid, to the Borrower
as set forth in Section 13.9 hereof or such other address as the Borrower may by notice have furnished the Lender in
writing for such purpose, at least ten (10) days prior to the time of such disposition. Each acquirer at any such
disposition (including, if applicable, the Lender) shall hold the property acquired absolutely free from any claim or
right of whatever kind including any equity of redemption and the Borrower hereby waives (to the extent permitted by
law) all rights of redemption, stay and/or appraisal which it now has or may have at any time in the future under any
rule of law or statute now existing or hereafter enacted. Any public or private disposition of the Collateral or any part
thereof shall be held at such time or times within ordinary business hours and at such place or places as the Lender
may fix in the notice of disposition. At any such disposition, the Collateral, or any portion thereof, to be disposed of
may be disposed of in one lot as an entirety or in separate parcels, as the Lender may (in its sole discretion) determine
and, if permitted by law, the Lender may bid (which bid may be, in whole or in part, in the form of cancellation of
indebtedness) for and purchase the Collateral or any portion thereof for the account of the Lender. The Lender shall
not be obligated to make any disposition of the whole or any part of the Collateral if it shall determine not to do so,
regardless of the fact that notice of disposition of the Collateral may have been given. The Lender may by
announcement at the time and place fixed for disposition, without prior notice or publication, adjourn any public or
private disposition of the Collateral or cause the same to be adjourned from time to time, and such disposition may,
without further notice, be made at the time and place to which the same was so adjourned. In case a disposition of all
or any part of the Collateral is made on credit or for future delivery, the Collateral so sold may be retained by the
Lender until the sale price is paid by the purchaser or purchasers thereof, but the Lender shall not incur any liability in
case any such purchaser or purchasers shall fail to take up and pay for the Collateral so disposed of and, in case of any
such failure, such Collateral may be sold again upon like notice.

(f)              Any laboratory that has possession of any of the Collateral is hereby constituted and appointed by the
Borrower as pledgeholder for the Lender. The Lender may authorize each such pledgeholder to sell all or any portion
of the Collateral upon the order and direction of the Lender, and the Borrower hereby waives any and all claims for
damages, or otherwise, for any action taken by such pledgeholder.

(g)             If any Event of Default exists, the Lender shall be entitled to the appointment of a receiver to take
possession of all or any portion of the Collateral and to exercise such powers as the court shall confer upon the
receiver. The Borrower, to the fullest extent permitted by law, hereby waives notice and the right to receive notice of
any application by the Lender for such appointment; provided, however, that, notwithstanding any such application or
appointment, the Lender shall be entitled to apply, without notice to the Borrower, any cash or cash items constituting
Collateral in the possession of the Lender to payment of the Obligations under this Agreement, the Note and the other
Loan Documents.
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(h)             If any Event of Default exists, the Lender may, but shall not be obligated to, take over the production of the
Series and at the option of the Lender, in its sole discretion, fund the remaining unpaid balance of the Strike Price
from the proceeds of Loans, whether made following a request by the Borrower pursuant to Section 2.2 or a deemed
request as provided in this Section 11.2(h). The Borrower hereby irrevocably authorizes the Lender to charge the
Borrower’s loan account for the purpose of paying the Strike Price. If the Lender takes over production of the Series,
subject to the Completion Agreement and other existing third party agreements, the Lender may substitute personnel,
cut, edit, score and make such changes in the Series as it may desire, abandon production of the Series, and be free of
any obligation to make any payment in any such event of any fee payable to the Borrower in connection with the
production of the Series. The Borrower hereby agrees to waive any right to claim that it sustained any loss or damage
by reason or as a result of any action taken by the Lender pursuant to this Subsection 1 1.2(11).
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(i)              Upon any disposition of any item of Collateral by the Lender hereunder (whether by virtue of the power of
attorney herein granted, pursuant to judicial process or otherwise), the receipt of the Lender or the officer making the
disposition shall be a sufficient discharge to the purchaser or purchasers of such item or items of Collateral so sold and
such purchaser or purchasers shall not be obligated to see to the application of any part of the purchase money paid
over to the Lender or such officer or be answerable in any way for the misapplication or non-application thereof

(j)              If any Event of Default exists, the Lender is hereby authorized at any time and from time to time, without
notice to the Borrower (any such notice being expressly waived by the Borrower), to setoff and apply any and all
deposits (general or special, time or demand, provisional or final) at any time held, including amounts in the
Production Bank Account and the Collection Account, any certificate of deposit, and any other indebtedness at any
time owing by the Lender to or for the credit or the account of the Borrower against any and all of the Obligations,
irrespective of whether or not the Lender shall have made any demand under this Agreement, the Note or any other
Loan Document. The Lender agrees promptly to notify the Borrower after any such setoff and application. The rights
of the Lender under this Subsection 11.2(j) are in addition to other rights and remedies (including, without limitation,
other rights of setoff) which the Lender may have.

12.3.       Cumulative Remedies; No Prior Recourse to the Collateral. The enumeration herein of the Lender’s rights
and remedies is not intended to be exclusive, and such rights and remedies are in addition to and not by way of
limitation of any other rights or remedies that the Lender may have under the UCC or other applicable law. The
Lender shall have the right, in its sole discretion, to determine which rights and remedies are to be exercised and in
which order. The exercise of one right or remedy shall not preclude the exercise of any others, all of which shall be
cumulative. The Lender may, without limitation, proceed directly against the Borrower to collect the Obligations
without any prior recourse to the Collateral.

12.4.       Failure or Indulgence Not Waiver. No failure or delay on the part of the Lender or any holder of the Note in
the exercise of any power, right, remedy or privilege under this Agreement, the Note or any of the other Loan
Documents shall operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall any single or partial exercise of any such power, right, remedy
or privilege preclude any other or further exercise thereof or of any other right, power, remedy or privilege. All rights
and remedies existing under this Agreement, the Note and the other Loan Documents are cumulative to, and not
exclusive of, any rights or remedies otherwise available.

12.5.       Performance of the Obligations by the Lender. If the Borrower shall fail to do any act or thing which they
have covenanted to do hereunder, under any other Loan Document, or if any representation or warranty of the
Borrower under any such agreement shall be breached, the Lender may (but shall not be obligated to) perform such act
or thing on behalf of the Borrower or cause it to be done or remedy any such breach, and there shall be added to the
liabilities of the Borrower secured hereunder the cost or expense incurred by the Lender in so doing, and any and all
amounts expended by the Lender in taking any such action shall be repayable to it upon demand being made to the
Borrower therefor and shall bear interest at the rate of interest then applicable to the Loans made to the Borrower
hereunder from and including the date advanced to the date of repayment.
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ARTICLE 13 -TERM AND TERMINATION

13.1.       Termination. The Lender may terminate this Agreement without notice upon the occurrence of an Event of
Default. Upon the effective date of termination, all Obligations shall become immediately due and payable in full.
Notwithstanding such termination, the Borrower shall remain bound by all of the terms and conditions of this
Agreement until all Obligations have been paid in full in cash, and the Lender shall retain all rights and remedies
hereunder (including, without limitation, a Lien on and all rights and remedies with respect to the Collateral). This
Agreement shall also terminate when all Obligations have been fully and indefeasibly paid and performed. Upon the
indefeasible payment in full of all Obligations and the termination of this Agreement, the Lender shall, at the
Borrower’s request and expense, assign and deliver to the Borrower, and the Borrower shall provide a receipt for, all
Collateral in which the Lender shall have any interest hereunder or which shall then be held by the Lender or in its
possession and, if requested by the Borrower, the Lender shall execute and deliver to the Borrower at the Borrower’s
expense, for filing in each office in which any financing statement relative to the Collateral, or any part thereof, shall
have been filed, termination statements under the UCC and a quitclaim and assignment of the Lender’s rights under the
Copyright Mortgages releasing the Lender’s Lien therein and reassigning to the Borrower and other Persons, as
appropriate, the Lender’s rights under the Copyright Mortgages, all without recourse upon or warranty by the Lender
and at the sole cost and expense of the Borrower.
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ARTICLE 14 -MISCELLANEOUS

14.1.       Severability. In case any provision of this Agreement, the Note or of any other Loan Document shall be
invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any jurisdiction then, as to such jurisdiction only, such provision shall to the extent
of such prohibition or unenforceability be deemed severed from the remainder of such agreement and the validity,
legality and enforceability of the remaining provisions shall not in any way be affected or impaired thereby.

14.2.       Governing Law. This Agreement, the other Loan Documents and all other documents provided for therein
and the rights and obligations of the parties thereto shall be governed by and construed and enforced in accordance
with the laws of the State of California without reference to its conflict or choice of law principles.

14.3.       Jurisdiction. Except as otherwise provided in Section 13.4 hereof, any legal action or proceeding with respect
to this Agreement, the other Loan Documents or any other agreement, document or other instrument executed in
connection herewith or therewith, or any action or proceeding to execute or otherwise enforce any judgment obtained
against the Borrower or any of its properties, may be brought in the courts of the State of California in Los Angeles
County, California, or in the federal courts of the United States for the Central District of California, as the Lender
may elect, provided always that suit also may be brought in the courts of any country or place where the Borrower or
any of its assets may be found, and, by execution and delivery of this Agreement, the Borrower irrevocably submits to
each such jurisdiction. The Borrower irrevocably waives any objection which it may now or hereafter have to the
venue of any suit, action or proceeding, arising out of or relating to this Agreement, the other Loan Documents or any
other agreement, document or other instrument executed in connection herewith brought in the courts of the State of
California in Los Angeles County, California, or in the federal courts of the United States for the Central District of
California, and hereby further irrevocably waives any claim that any such suit, action or proceeding brought in any
such court has been brought in an inconvenient forum.

14.4.       Arbitration.

(a)             Except as otherwise provided in the Netflix Notice of Assignment, all controversies, claims, disputes, or
counterclaims between the parties hereto concerning, based in any way upon, arising under, relating to, or arising in
connection with this Agreement, or any resulting transaction, including, but not limited to, their respective obligations
hereunder, a disagreement about the meaning, interpretation, application performance, breach, termination,
enforceability, or validity of this Agreement, and whether based on statute, tort, contract, common law or otherwise,
shall be subject to and resolved by binding arbitration conducted under the auspices of the Independent Film &
Television Alliance in effect as of the date the request for arbitration is filed and its rules (the “Rules”) and, to the extent
not otherwise covered above, the arbitration shall be conducted in accordance with Title 9 of the U.S. Code.
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(b)             Each of the parties may initiate such an arbitration pursuant to the Rules. The arbitration shall be held in
Beverly Hills or Los Angeles, California (such site being herein referred to as the “Forum”). The Borrower and the
Lender shall abide by any decision rendered in such arbitration, and that any court having jurisdiction may enforce
such a decision.

(c)             The arbitration award shall also provide for payment by the losing party (i.e., the party or parties against
whom an arbitration award is issued) of: (i) the fees and costs incurred in connection with said arbitration, as well as
outside attorneys’ fees and costs incurred by the prevailing parties (i.e., all parties to the arbitration other than the
losing party), and (ii) shall further provide for the payment by the losing party of interest on said award at the same
interest rate payable by the Borrower to the Lender hereunder. The arbitrator shall immediately upon conclusion of the
arbitration proceedings, render and issue a written decision.

(d)             Each of the parties hereto submits to the non-exclusive personal jurisdiction of the courts of the Forum as
an appropriate place for compelling arbitration or giving legal confirmation of any arbitration award, and irrevocably
waives any objection which it may now or hereafter have to the venue of any such enforcement proceeding brought in
any of said courts and any claim of inconvenient forum. Service of process for all arbitration proceedings may be
made in accordance with the Rules. Service of process in any judicial or other proceeding (including proceedings to
judicially confirm any arbitration award) may be made in the manner provided in Section 13.9 hereof and shall be
deemed effective as provided therein.

(e)             Any claim or action of any kind (including, but not limited to, any claims for breach of contract), against
the Lender arising out of or connected with this Agreement shall be barred and waived unless asserted by the
commencement of an arbitration proceeding within one (1) year after the accrual of the action or claim. This section
and the foregoing limitation shall survive termination of this Agreement.

(f)              Nothing in this section shall prejudice the right of the Lender to exercise their non-judicial foreclosure
rights and remedies in respect of the Collateral, or prejudice the right of either party to obtain provisional relief or
other equitable remedies as shall otherwise be available judicially pending the resolution of an arbitration proceeding
provided in this Section.
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14.5.       Waiver of Jury Trial, Etc. TO THE EXTENT PERMITTED BY LAW, THE BORROWER AND THE
LENDER HEREBY WAIVE ANY RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY. THE BORROWER FURTHER WAIVES ANY
RIGHTS OF SETOFF, AND THE RIGHT TO IMPOSE COUNTERCLAIMS (OTHER THAN THOSE RIGHTS OF
SETOFF AND COUNTERCLAIMS ARISING SOLELY AND DIRECTLY FROM THE SERIES OR THIS
AGREEMENT) IN ANY LITIGATION IN ANY COURT WITH RESPECT TO, IN CONNECTION WITH, OR
ARISING OUT OF THIS AGREEMENT, THE OTHER LOAN DOCUMENTS, THE OBLIGATIONS OR THE
COLLATERAL, OR ANY INSTRUMENT OR DOCUMENT DELIVERED PURSUANT HERETO OR THERETO,
OR ANY OTHER CLAIM OR DISPUTE HOWSOEVER ARISING, BETWEEN THE BORROWER, ON THE ONE
HAND, AND THE LENDER ON THE OTHER HAND. Each of the parties expressly agrees that service of process in
any judicial or other proceeding (including proceedings to judicially confirm any arbitration award) may be made in
accordance with the provisions of Section 13.9 hereof and shall be deemed effective as provided therein.

14.6.       Waiver With Respect to Damages. THE LENDER HAS NO FIDUCIARY RELATIONSHIP WITH, OR
FIDUCIARY DUTY TO, THE BORROWER ARISING OUT OF OR IN CONNECTION WITH THIS
AGREEMENT OR ANY OTHER LOAN DOCUMENT AND THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN THE LENDER
AND THE BORROWER IN CONNECTION THEREWITH IS SOLELY THAT OF CREDITOR AND DEBTOR.
TO THE EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW, THE BORROWER SHALL NOT ASSERT, AND THE
BORROWER HEREBY WAIVES, ANY CLAIMS AGAINST THE LENDER ON ANY THEORY OF LIABILITY,
FOR SPECIAL, INDIRECT, CONSEQUENTIAL OR PUNITIVE DAMAGES (AS OPPOSED TO DIRECT OR
ACTUAL DAMAGES) ARISING OUT OF, IN CONNECTION WITH, OR AS A RESULT OF, THIS
AGREEMENT, ANY OTHER FUNDAMENTAL DOCUMENT, ANY AGREEMENT OR INSTRUMENT
CONTEMPLATED HEREBY OR THEREBY, OR THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY OR
THEREBY.

14.7.       Expenses and Fees. The Borrower shall pay on demand all reasonable actual out-of-pocket costs and
expenses, including reasonable outside attorneys’ fees and court costs, incurred by the Lender in connection with the
negotiation, preparation and filing of this Agreement, the other Loan Documents and the other agreements and
documents referred to herein up to the limits of the Attorney Costs, and shall pay all reasonable actual out-of-pocket
costs and expenses, including reasonable outside attorneys’ fees and court costs, incurred by the Lender after the
Closing Date in connection with this Agreement, the other Loan Documents and the Series, including, without
limitation, amendments thereof, costs and expenses of preserving and protecting the Collateral, costs and expenses
(including reasonable outside attorneys’ and paralegals’ fees and disbursements) paid or incurred to obtain payment of
the Obligations, enforce the Lender’s Liens, sell or otherwise realize upon the Collateral and otherwise enforce the
provisions of the Loan Documents or to defend any claims made or threatened against the Lender arising out of the
transactions contemplated hereby, and in connection with the enforcement of the rights of the Lender thereunder or in
connection with the realization upon any Collateral.

14.8.       Taxes.

(a)             Any and all payments (including payments of principal, interest and all fees) by the Borrower hereunder
shall be made free and clear of and without deduction for any and all present or future non-US taxes and other taxes,
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levies, imposts, deductions, charges or withholdings, and all liabilities with respect thereto, excluding, taxes imposed
on the Lender’s and Lender’s income or measured by the overall net income or gross receipts of the Lender, and
franchise taxes imposed on it, by the jurisdiction under the laws of which the Lender are organized or any political
subdivision thereof (all such non-excluded taxes, levies, imposts, deductions, charges, withholdings and liabilities
being hereinafter referred to as “Taxes”). If the Borrower or Netflix, shall be required by law to deduct any Taxes (other
than with regard to foreign withholding taxes) from or in respect of any sum payable hereunder to the Lender, (i) the
sum payable shall be increased as may be necessary so that after making all required deductions (including deductions
applicable to additional sums payable under this Section 13.8) the Lender receives an amount equal to the sum it
would have received had no such deductions been made, (ii) the Borrower shall make such deductions and (iii) the
Borrower shall pay the full amount deducted to the relevant taxation authority or other authority in accordance with
applicable law.
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(b)             In addition, the Borrower shall pay any present or future stamp or documentary taxes or any other excise or
property taxes, charges or similar levies which arise from any payment made hereunder or from the execution,
delivery or registration of, or otherwise with respect to, this Agreement or any other Loan Documents (hereinafter
referred to as “Other Taxes”).

(c)             The Borrower will indemnify the Lender for the full amount of Taxes or Other Taxes (including, without
limitation, any Taxes or Other Taxes imposed by any jurisdiction on amounts payable under this Section 13.8) paid by
the Lender and any liability (including penalties, interest and expenses) arising therefrom or with respect thereto,
whether or not such Taxes or Other Taxes were correctly or legally asserted. This indemnification shall be made
within thirty (30) days from the date the Lender makes written demand therefor. The Lender shall, at the time of any
written demand for indemnification under this subsection (b), provide to the Borrower a receipt for, or other evidence
of the payment of, the Taxes or Other Taxes for which indemnification is sought.

(d)             Within thirty (30) days after the date of any payment of Taxes, the Borrower will furnish to the Lender, at
its address referred to in Section 13.9, the original or a certified copy of a receipt evidencing payment thereof. If no
Taxes are payable in respect of any payment hereunder with respect to which a claim for indemnity has been made
hereunder, the Borrower will furnish to the Lender, at such address, a certificate from each appropriate taxing
authority, or an opinion of counsel acceptable to the Lender, in either case stating that such payment is exempt from or
not subject to Taxes.

(e)             Without prejudice to the survival of any other agreement of the Borrower hereunder, the agreements and
obligations of the Borrower contained in this Section 13.8 shall survive the payment in full of principal and interest
hereunder.

14.9.       Notices. In order to be effective under the terms hereof, any notice, approval, authorization, consent, request,
demand or other communication provided for hereunder or under any of the other Loan Documents to be given shall
be (a) given in writing and (b) delivered either personally (which includes delivery by FedEx, DHL or other similar
service), by certified mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid, or by transmission by a telecommunications
device (e.g., e-mail or facsimile transmission). Any such notice, waiver, approval, demand or other communication
shall be deemed to have been received, and shall be effective (a) on the day when personally served, including
delivery by overnight mail and courier service, (b) on the third day after its deposit in the United States mail, and (c)
on the Business Day of confirmed transmission by telecommunications device. The addresses of the parties hereto
(until notice of a change thereof is served as provided in this Section 13.9) shall be as follows:

To the Borrower:

Llama Productions LLC

With a copy to:

Blank Rome LLP
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301 North Canon Drive, Suite 305
Beverly Hills, California 90210
Attention:  Rebecca Hershinger
Fax No.:  (310) 273-4202
Email:  rebecca@gnusbrands.com

2029 Century Park East, 6th Floor
Los Angeles, California 90067
Attention:  Mark Greenfield
Fax No.:  (424) 239-3437
Email:  greenfield@blankrome.com

And to

Genius Brands International, Inc.
301 North Canon Drive, Suite 305
Beverly Hills, California  90210
Attention:  Gregory B. Payne
Fax No.:  (310) 273-4202
Email:  greg@gnusbrands.com

To the Lender:

Bank Leumi USA
555 West 5th Street, Suite 3300
Los Angeles, California 90013
Attention:  David Henry
Fax No.:  (213) 452-8630
Email:  David.Henry@leumiusa.com

With a copy to:

Babok & Robinson LLP
9201 Wilshire Boulevard, Suite 303
Beverly Hills, California  90210
Attention:  Barry Babok, Esq.
Fax No.:  (310) 860-1218
Email:  barry@babokrobinson.com
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14.10.    Waiver of Notice. Unless otherwise expressly provided herein, the Borrower waives presentment, protest and
notice of demand or dishonor and protest as to any instrument, as well as any and all other notices to which it might
otherwise be entitled. No notice to or demand on the Borrower which the Lender may elect to give shall entitle the
Borrower to any further notice or demand in the same, similar or other circumstances.

14.11.    Successors and Assigns. This Agreement shall be binding upon the parties hereto and their respective
successors and assigns, and shall inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns;
provided that the Borrower may not assign its rights or delegate its duties hereunder or any interest herein without the
prior written consent of the Lender and any such purported assignment or delegation shall be null and void.

14.12.    Indemnification. The Borrower shall, at all times, defend and indemnify and hold the Lender (which for the
purposes of this paragraph shall include the shareholders, officers, directors, employees, representatives and agents of
the Lender) harmless from and against any and all liabilities, claims, demands, causes of action, losses, damages,
settlements, judgments or recoveries resulting from any alleged or actual breach of the warranties, agreements or
covenants made by the Borrower herein, and from any suit or proceeding of any kind or nature whatsoever against the
Lender arising from or connected with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, the other Loan Documents or
any of the documents, instruments or agreements to be executed pursuant hereto or any of the rights and properties
assigned to the Lender hereunder, and from any suit or proceeding that the Lender may, in the good faith exercise of
its business judgment, reasonably deem necessary or advisable to institute against any other person or the Borrower
for any reason whatsoever to protect the rights of the Lender hereunder or under the other Loan Documents, or any
rights otherwise granted to the Lender, including reasonable outside attorneys’ fees and costs and expenses incurred by
the Lender, all of which shall be charged to and paid by the Borrower and shall be secured by the Collateral
hereunder; provided, however, the Borrower shall have no obligation under this Section 13.12 with respect to any
such event resulting from the Lender’s gross negligence or willful misconduct.

14.13.    Amendments and Waivers. No amendment or modification of any provision of this Agreement or any other
Loan Document shall be effective without the written agreement of the Lender and the Borrower. Any waiver or
consent shall be effective only in the specific instance and for the specific purpose for which it was given. No notice
to or demand on the Borrower in any case shall entitle the Borrower to any other or further notice or demand in
similar or other circumstances. Any amendment, modification, waiver or consent effected in accordance with this
Section 13.3 shall be binding on the Lender, and if signed by the Borrower, on the Borrower.

14.14.    USA Patriot Act Notice. The Lender notifies the Borrower that pursuant to the requirements of the USA
Patriot Act (Title III of Pub. L. 107-56, signed into law October 26, 2001) (the “Act”), the Lender is required to obtain,
verify and record information that identifies the Borrower, which information includes the name and address of the
Borrower and other information that will allow the Lender to identify the Borrower in accordance with the Act. In
particular:
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To help the government fight the funding of terrorism and money laundering activities, Federal law requires all
financial institutions to obtain, verify, and record information that identifies each person or entity that opens an
account.

14.15.    Final Agreement. This Agreement and the other Loan Documents are intended by the Borrower and the
Lender to be the final, complete, and exclusive expression of the agreement by and among them. This Agreement and
the other Loan Documents supersede any and all prior oral or written agreements relating to the subject matter hereof.
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14.16.    Counterparts. This Agreement and the other Loan Documents may be executed in any number of
counterparts, each of which when so executed and delivered shall be deemed to be an original and all of which taken
together shall constitute one and the same instrument, respectively. Delivery of any executed counterpart of this
Agreement by facsimile or transmitted electronically in either a Tagged Image Format File (“TIFF”) or Portable
Document Format (“PDF”) shall be equally effective as delivery of a manually executed counterpart of this Agreement.
Any party delivering an executed counterpart by facsimile TIFF, or PDF shall also deliver a manually executed
counterpart of this Agreement, but failure to do so shall not affect the validity, enforceability or binding effect of this
Agreement.

14.17.    Section Headings. The various headings used in this Agreement are inserted for convenience of reference
only and shall not affect the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement or any provision hereof.

14.18.    No Beneficiaries. The parties hereto do not intend by the inclusion of references to various third Person
agreements to create any third Person beneficiary rights herein or under any of those agreements.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank; signature page follows.]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the parties have executed this Agreement as of the date first above written.

“BORROWER”
Llama Productions LLC

By:    /s/ Gregory B. Payne                    
Gregory B. Payne, Vice President

“LENDER”
Bank Leumi USA

By:   /s/ David K. Henry                    
Name: David K. Henry
Its: First Vice President

By:    /s/ G de Chalendar                    
Name: G de Chalendar
Its: Senior Vice President
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UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-Q

xQUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
ACT OF 1934

For the quarterly period ended June 30, 2016

oTRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from ___________ to ___________

Commission file number: 000-54389

GENIUS BRANDS INTERNATIONAL, INC.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Nevada 20-4118216
(State or other jurisdiction of (I.R.S. Employer
incorporation or organization) Identification No.)

301 North Canon Drive, Suite 305
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Beverly Hills, California 90210
(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)

310-273-4222

(Registrant’s telephone number, including area code)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was
required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes x No o

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if
any, every Interactive Data File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T
(§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required
to submit and post such files). Yes x No o

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer,
or a smaller reporting company.  See the definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer” and “smaller reporting
company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Large accelerated filer o Accelerated filer o

Non-accelerated filer (Do not check if a smaller reporting company) o Smaller reporting company x

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange
Act). Yes o No x

Indicate the number of shares outstanding of each of the issuer’s classes of common stock, as of the latest practicable
date: 11,963,133 shares of common stock, par value $0.001, were outstanding as of August 12, 2016.
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PART I - FINANCIAL INFORMATION

ITEM 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.

Genius Brands International, Inc.

Consolidated Balance Sheets

As of June 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015

6/30/2016 12/31/2015
(unaudited)

ASSETS
Current Assets:
Cash and Cash Equivalents $4,938,720 $5,187,620
Accounts Receivable, net 340,126 171,867
Inventory, net 6,562 7,080
Prepaid and Other Assets 211,098 65,464
Total Current Assets 5,496,506 5,432,031

Property and Equipment, net 119,426 150,948
Film and Television Costs, net 1,250,352 1,003,546
Intangible Assets, net 1,883,690 1,918,206
Goodwill 10,365,805 10,365,805
Total Assets $19,115,779 $18,870,536

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current Liabilities:
Accounts Payable $492,502 $359,433
Accrued Expenses 303,110 509,477
Deferred Revenue 352,744 305,850
Accrued Salaries and Wages 116,385 96,385
Disputed Trade Payable 925,000 925,000
Service Advance – Current Portion 1,489,583 –
Short Term Debt - Related Party – 410,535
Total Current Liabilities 3,679,324 2,606,680

Long Term Liabilities:
Deferred Revenue 2,747,235 652,689
Services Advance – 1,489,583
Total Liabilities 6,426,559 4,748,952
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Stockholders’ Equity
Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, $0.001 par value, 10,000,000 share authorized,
respectively; 4,955 and 5,290 shares issued and outstanding, respectively 5 6

Common Stock, $0.001 par value, 700,000,000 shares authorized, respectively;
11,938,133 and 11,259,450 shares issued and outstanding, respectively 11,939 11,260

Common Stock to Be Issued 71 71
Additional Paid in Capital 42,891,483 41,156,023
Accumulated Deficit (30,213,445) (27,045,776)
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) (833 ) –
Total Stockholders’ Equity 12,689,220 14,121,584
Total Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity $19,115,779 $18,870,536

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Genius Brands International, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Operations

Three and Six Months Ended June 30, 2016 and 2015

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
6/30/2016 6/30/2015 6/30/2016 6/30/2015

Revenues:
Licensing & Royalties $113,456 $121,322 $261,468 $273,987
Television & Home Entertainment 46,726 8,875 250,607 141,089
Product Sales 16,150 3,418 16,150 15,173
Total Revenues 176,332 133,615 528,225 430,249

Cost of Sales 50,949 15,431 73,311 22,572
Gross Profit 125,383 118,184 454,914 407,677

Operating Expenses:
Salaries and Related Expenses 562,301 494,657 1,088,453 985,398
Professional Services 131,235 131,071 303,927 304,898
Rent Expense 34,818 34,555 69,825 72,136
Marketing & Sales 204,318 162,885 465,950 251,060
Amortization of Film & TV Costs 17,644 – 135,157 –
Depreciation & Amortization 35,612 34,540 71,378 60,150
Stock Compensation Expense 312,977 – 877,962 –
Bad Debt Expense (Recovery) – – – (1,550 )
Other General & Administrative 255,449 212,677 522,950 448,388
Loss on Impairment of Assets 1,850 – 1,850 7,500
Total Operating Expenses 1,556,204 1,070,385 3,537,452 2,127,980

Loss from Operations (1,430,821 ) (952,201 ) (3,082,538 ) (1,720,303)

Other Income (Expense):
Other Income – 2,548 60 5,545
Interest Expense (724 ) (1,077 ) (2,153 ) (10,803 )
Interest Expense - Related Parties – (6,229 ) (6,141 ) (12,319 )
Gain on Settlement of Distribution Contracts 248,593 – 258,103 150,000
Unrealized Loss on Foreign Currency Translation – (30,896 ) – (36,237 )
Net Other Income (Expense) 247,869 (35,654 ) 249,869 96,186

Loss before Income Taxes (1,182,952 ) (987,855 ) (2,832,669 ) (1,624,117)

Income Taxes – – – –

Net Loss $(1,182,952 ) $(987,855 ) $(2,832,669 ) $(1,624,117)
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Preferred Stock Beneficial Conversion Feature (250,000 ) – (335,000 ) –

Net Loss Applicable to Common Stockholders (1,432,952 ) (987,855 ) (3,167,669 ) (1,624,117)

Net Loss per Common Share (Basic and Diluted) $(0.12 ) $(0.15 ) $(0.28 ) $(0.25 )

Weighted Average Shares Outstanding (Basic and Diluted) 11,716,662 6,487,912 11,516,407 6,431,494

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Genius Brands International, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income

Three and Six Months Ended June 30, 2016 and 2015

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
6/30/2016 6/30/2015 6/30/2016 6/30/2015

Net Loss applicable to Common Stockholders $(1,432,952) $(987,855) $(3,167,669) $(1,624,117)

Other Comprehensive Income (Loss), Net of Tax:
Unrealized Gain (Loss) on Foreign Currency Translation (1,238) – (833) –
Other Comprehensive Income (Loss), Net of Tax: (1,238) – (833) –
Comprehensive Income (Loss) $(1,434,190) $(987,855) $(3,168,502) $(1,624,117)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

Edgar Filing: Genius Brands International, Inc. - Form 424B3

91



5

Edgar Filing: Genius Brands International, Inc. - Form 424B3

92



Genius Brands International, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Six Months Ended June 30, 2016 and 2015

6/30/2016 6/30/2015
Cash Flows from Operating Activities:
Net Loss $(2,832,669) $(1,624,117)

Adjustments to Reconcile Net Loss to Net Cash used in Operating Activities:
Amortization of Film and Television Costs 135,157 –
Depreciation Expense 33,063 29,827
Amortization Expense 38,315 30,323
Imputed Interest Expense 6,141 12,319
Bad Debt Expense / (Recovery) – (1,550 )
Stock Issued for Services 24,000 –
Stock Compensation Expense 877,962 –
Gain on Distribution Contracts (258,103 ) (150,000 )
Loss on Impairment of Assets 1,850 7,500
Loss on Foreign Currency Translation – 36,237

Decrease (Increase) in Operating Assets:
Accounts Receivable 79,503 137,368
Inventory 518 (2,354 )
Prepaid Expenses & Other Assets (145,634 ) 20,861
Film and Television Costs, net (381,963 ) (412,512 )

Increase (Decrease) in Operating Liabilities:
Accounts Payable 133,069 (79,567 )
Accrued Salaries 20,000 37,765
Deferred Revenue and Advances 2,140,369 58,006
Other Accrued Expenses (195,786 ) 3,596
Net Cash Used in Operating Activities (324,208 ) (1,896,298)

Cash Flows from Investing Activities:
Investment in Intangible Assets (5,650 ) (102,220 )
Investment in Fixed Assets (1,542 ) (180,853 )
Net Cash Used in Investing Activities (7,192 ) (283,073 )

Cash Flows from Financing Activities:
Proceeds from Exercise of Warrants 82,500 –
Proceeds from Services Advance – 750,000
Proceeds of Related Party Notes – 525
Net Cash Provided by Financing Activities 82,500 750,525
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Net Decrease in Cash and Cash Equivalents (248,900 ) (1,428,846)
Beginning Cash and Cash Equivalents 5,187,620 4,301,099
Ending Cash and Cash Equivalents $4,938,720 $2,872,253

Supplemental Disclosures of Cash Flow Information:
Cash Paid for Interest $– $1,076

Schedule of Non-Cash Financing and Investing Activities:
Imputed Dividend on Preferred Stock $335,000 $–
Issuance of Common Stock in Satisfaction of Short Term Advances $410,535 $–

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Genius Brands International, Inc.

Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2016 (unaudited)

Note 1: Organization and Business

Organization and Nature of Business

Genius Brands International, Inc. (“we”, “us”, “our”, or the “Company”) is a global content and brand management company
that creates and licenses multimedia content. Led by industry veterans, Andrew Heyward (Chief Executive Officer)
and Amy Moynihan Heyward (President), the Company distributes its content in all formats as well as a broad range
of consumer products based on its characters. In the children's media sector, the Company’s portfolio features "content
with a purpose" for toddlers to tweens, which provides enrichment as well as entertainment, including tween
music-driven brand SpacePOP; preschool property debuting on Netflix Llama Llama; award-winning Baby Genius,
re-launched with new entertainment and over 40 new products; adventure comedy Thomas Edison's Secret Lab®,
available on Netflix, public broadcast stations and the Company’s Kid Genius channel on Comcast's Xfinity on
Demand; Warren Buffett's Secret Millionaires Club, created with and starring iconic investor Warren Buffett. The
company is also co-producing an all-new adult-themed animated series, Stan Lee's Cosmic Crusaders, with Stan Lee's
Pow! Entertainment and The Hollywood Reporter. 

In addition, the Company acts as licensing agent for certain brands, leveraging its existing licensing infrastructure to
expand these brands into new product categories, new retailers, and new territories. These include Llama Llama; From
Frank, a humor greeting card and product line; and Celessence Technologies, the world's leading microencapsulation
company.

The Company commenced operations in January 2006, assuming all of the rights and obligations of its then Chief
Executive Officer, under an Asset Purchase Agreement between the Company and Genius Products, Inc., in which the
Company obtained all rights, copyrights, and trademarks to the brands “Baby Genius,” “Little Genius,” “Kid Genius,” “123
Favorite Music” and “Wee Worship,” and all then existing productions under those titles. In October 2011, the Company
(i) changed its domicile to Nevada from California, and (ii) changed its name to Genius Brands International, Inc.
from Pacific Entertainment Corporation (the “Reincorporation”). In connection with the Reincorporation, the Company
changed its trading symbol from “PENT” to “GNUS”.

Edgar Filing: Genius Brands International, Inc. - Form 424B3

95



On November 15, 2013, the Company entered into an Agreement and Plan of Reorganization (the “Merger Agreement”)
with A Squared Entertainment LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“A Squared”), A Squared Holdings LLC, a
California limited liability company and sole member of A Squared (the “Parent Member”) and A2E Acquisition LLC,
its newly formed, wholly-owned Delaware subsidiary (“Acquisition Sub”). Upon closing of the transactions
contemplated under the Merger Agreement (the “Merger”), which occurred concurrently with entering into the Merger
Agreement, the Acquisition Sub merged with and into A Squared, and A Squared, as the surviving entity, became a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.  As a result of the Merger, the Company acquired the business and
operations of A Squared.

Liquidity

Historically, the Company has incurred net losses. As of June 30, 2016, the Company had an accumulated deficit of
$30,213,445 and total stockholders’ equity of $12,689,220. At June 30, 2016, the Company had current assets of
$5,496,506, including cash of $4,938,720 and current liabilities of $3,679,324, including certain trade payables of
$925,000 to which the Company disputes the claim, resulting in working capital of $1,817,182. For the three months
ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, the Company reported a net loss of $1,182,952 and $987,855, respectively. For the six
months ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, the Company reported a net loss of $2,832,669 and $1,624,117, respectively,
and reported net cash used by operating activities $324,208 and $1,896,298, respectively.

During the six months ended June 30, 2016, the Company received gross proceeds of $2,000,000 pursuant to its
distribution agreement with Sony Pictures Home Entertainment as well as $275,000 for the settlement of a distribution
agreement. While the Company believes that its current cash balances will be sufficient to fund operations for the next
twelve months, there can be no assurance that cash flows from operations will continue to improve in the near future.
If the Company is unable to attain profitable operations and maintain positive operating cash flows, it may need to (i)
seek additional funding, (ii) scale back its development plans, or (iii) reduce certain operations.

Subsequent to the end of the period, on August 8, 2016, Llama Productions LLC, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, closed a $5,275,000 multiple draw-down, secured, non-revolving credit facility (the “Facility”) with Bank
Leumi USA for the production of its animated series Llama Llama (the “Series”). The Series is configured as fifteen
half-hour episodes comprised of thirty 11 minute programs to be delivered to Netflix in Fall 2017. The Facility is
secured by the license fees the Company will receive from Netflix for the delivery of the Series as well as the
Company’s copyright in the Series. The Facility has a term of 40 months and has an interest rate of either Prime plus
1% or one, three, or six month LIBOR plus 3.25%.

7
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Note 2: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid debt instruments with initial maturities of three months or less to be cash
equivalents.

Business Combination

On November 15, 2013, the Company entered into a Merger Agreement with A Squared, the Member, and the
Acquisition Sub. Upon closing of the Merger, which occurred concurrently with entering into the Merger Agreement,
our Acquisition Sub merged with and into A Squared, and A Squared, as the surviving entity, became a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company. As a result of the Merger, the Company acquired the business and operations of A
Squared.

The financial statements have been prepared using the acquisition method of accounting in accordance with FASB
Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 805 Business Combinations.

Principles of Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Genius Brands International, Inc., its
wholly-owned subsidiaries A Squared and Llama Productions LLC as well as its interest in Stan Lee Comics, LLC.
All significant inter-company balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“U.S.
GAAP”) requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported
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amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods.

Financial Statement Reclassification

Certain account balances from prior periods have been reclassified in these consolidated financial statements so as to
conform to current period classifications.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Accounts receivable are presented on the balance sheets net of estimated uncollectible amounts. The Company
assesses its accounts receivable balances on a quarterly basis to determine collectability and records an allowance for
estimated uncollectible accounts in an amount approximating anticipated losses based on historical experience and
future expectations. Individual uncollectible accounts are written off against the allowance when collection of the
individual accounts appears doubtful. The Company recorded an allowance for doubtful accounts of $110,658 as of
each of June 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (average) or market and consist of finished goods such as DVDs, CDs and
other products. A reserve for slow-moving and obsolete inventory is established for all inventory deemed potentially
non-saleable by management in the period in which it is determined to be potentially non-saleable. The current
inventory is considered properly valued and saleable. The Company concluded that there was an appropriate reserve
for slow moving and obsolete inventory of $26,116 and $28,813 at June 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015,
respectively.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are recorded at cost. Depreciation on property and equipment is computed using the
straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets, which range from two to seven years. Maintenance,
repairs, and renewals, which neither materially add to the value of the assets nor appreciably prolong their lives, are
charged to expense as incurred. Gains and losses from any dispositions of property and equipment are reflected in the
statement of operations.
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Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill represents the excess of purchase price over the estimated fair value of net assets acquired in business
combinations accounted for by the purchase method. In accordance with ASC 350 Intangibles Goodwill and Other,
goodwill and certain intangible assets are presumed to have indefinite useful lives and are thus not amortized, but
subject to an impairment test annually or more frequently if indicators of impairment arise. The Company completes
the annual goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible asset impairment tests at the end of each fiscal year. To test for
goodwill impairment, we are required to estimate the fair market value of each of our reporting units, of which we
have one. While we may use a variety of methods to estimate fair value for impairment testing, our primary method is
discounted cash flows. We estimate future cash flows and allocations of certain assets using estimates for future
growth rates and our judgment regarding the applicable discount rates. Changes to our judgments and estimates could
result in a significantly different estimate of the fair market value of the reporting units, which could result in an
impairment of goodwill of indefinite lived intangible assets in future periods.

Other intangible assets have been acquired, either individually or with a group of other assets, and were initially
recognized and measured based on fair value. In accordance with ASC 350 Intangible Assets, the costs of new product
development and significant improvement to existing products are capitalized while routine and periodic alterations to
existing products are expensed as incurred. Annual amortization of these intangible assets is computed based on the
straight-line method over the remaining economic life of the asset.

Film and Television Costs

The Company capitalizes production costs for episodic series produced in accordance with ASC 926-20
Entertainment-Films - Other Assets - Film Costs. Accordingly, production costs are capitalized at actual cost and then
charged against revenue based on the initial market revenue evidenced by a firm commitment over the period of
commitment. The Company expenses all capitalized costs that exceed the initial market firm commitment revenue in
the period of delivery of the episodes.

The Company capitalizes production costs for films produced in accordance with ASC 926-20 Entertainment-Films -
Other Assets - Film Costs. Accordingly, production costs are capitalized at actual cost and then charged against
revenue quarterly as a cost of production based on the relative fair value of the film(s) delivered and recognized as
revenue. The Company evaluates its capitalized production costs annually and limits recorded amounts by their ability
to recover such costs through expected future sales.
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Additionally, the Company develops new videos, music, books and digital applications in addition to adding content,
improved animation and bonus songs/features to its existing product catalog. After the initial release of the film or
episodic series, the costs of significant improvement to existing products are capitalized while routine and periodic
alterations to existing products are expensed as incurred.

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenue in accordance with ASC 926-605 Entertainment-Films - Revenue Recognition.
Accordingly, the Company recognizes revenue when (i) persuasive evidence of a sale with customer exists, (ii) the
film is complete and has been delivered or is available for delivery, (iii) the license period of the arrangement has
begun and the customer can begin its exploitation, exhibition, or sale, (iv) the arrangement fee is fixed or
determinable, and (v) collection of the arrangement fee is reasonably assured.

The Company’s licensing and royalty revenue represents revenue generated from license agreements that are held in
conjunction with third parties that are responsible for collecting fees due and remitting to the Company its share after
expenses. Revenue from licensed products is recognized when realized or realizable based on royalty reporting
received from licensees. Licensing income the Company recognizes as an agent is in accordance with ASC 605-45
Revenue Recognition - Principal Agent. Accordingly, the Company’s revenue is its gross billings to its customers less
the amounts it pays to suppliers for their products and services.

The Company recognizes revenue related to product sales when (i) the seller’s price is substantially fixed, (ii) shipment
has occurred causing the buyer to be obligated to pay for product, (iii) the buyer has economic substance apart from
the seller, and (iv) there is no significant obligation for future performance to directly bring about the resale of the
product by the buyer as required by ASC 605 Revenue Recognition.

Stock Based Compensation

As required by ASC 718 - Stock Compensation, the Company recognizes an expense related to the fair value of our
stock-based compensation awards, including stock options, using the Black-Scholes calculation as of the date of grant.

9
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Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings (loss) per common share (“EPS”) is calculated by dividing net income (loss) applicable to common
shareholders by the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding for the period. Diluted EPS is
calculated by dividing net income (loss) applicable to common shareholders by the weighted average number of
shares of common stock outstanding, plus the assumed exercise of all dilutive securities using the treasury stock or “as
converted” method, as appropriate. During periods of net loss, all common stock equivalents are excluded from the
diluted EPS calculation because they are antidilutive.

Net income (loss) applicable to common shareholders is calculated by deducting any dividend on preferred stock. As
the conversion price of the Series A Preferred Stock on a converted basis was below the market price of the common
stock on the closing date, an imputed dividend was calculated.

Income Taxes

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are recognized based on differences between the financial statement and tax
basis of assets and liabilities using presently enacted tax rates. At each balance sheet date, the Company evaluates the
available evidence about future taxable income and other possible sources of realization of deferred tax assets, and
records a valuation allowance that reduces the deferred tax assets to an amount that represents management’s best
estimate of the amount of such deferred tax assets that more likely than not will be realized.

Fair value of financial instruments

The carrying amounts of cash, receivables and accrued liabilities approximate fair value due to the short-term maturity
of the instruments.

We adopted ASC 820 as of January 1, 2008 for financial instruments measured at fair value on a recurring basis. ASC
Topic 820 defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value in accordance with U.S. GAAP and
expands disclosures about fair value measurements.
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Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. ASC Topic 820 establishes a three-tier fair value
hierarchy which prioritizes the inputs used in measuring fair value. The hierarchy gives the highest priority to
unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (level 1 measurements) and the lowest
priority to unobservable inputs (level 3 measurements). These tiers include:

· Level 1, defined as observable inputs such as quoted prices for identical instruments in active markets;

·
Level 2, defined as inputs other than quoted prices in active markets that are either directly or indirectly observable
such as quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets or quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in
markets that are not active; and

·
Level 3, defined as unobservable inputs in which little or no market data exists, therefore requiring an entity to
develop its own assumptions, such as valuations derived from valuation techniques in which one or more significant
inputs or significant value drivers are unobservable.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In May 2014, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update 2014-09, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers”
(“ASU 2014-09”). ASU 2014-09 affects any entity that either enters into contracts with customers to transfer goods or
services or enters into contracts for the transfer of non-financial assets unless those contracts are within the scope of
other standards (e.g. insurance contracts). This ASU will supersede all revenue recognition requirements in Topic 605,
Revenue Recognition, and industry-specific guidance throughout the industry topics of the codification. The
guidance's core principle is that an entity should recognize revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or
services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in
exchange for those goods or services. In applying the revenue principles, an entity will identify the contract(s) with a
customer, identify the performance obligations, determine the transaction price, allocate the transaction price to the
performance obligations and recognize revenue when the performance obligation is satisfied (either over time or at a
point in time). The ASU further states that an entity should disclose sufficient information to enable users of financial
statements to understand the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from contracts
with customers. In August 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-14, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic
606): Deferral of the Effective Date”, which approved a one-year deferral of the effective date of the ASU from the
original effective date of annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2016, to annual reporting periods
(including interim reporting periods) beginning after December 15, 2017, with an option for early adoption of the
standard on the original effective date. Additionally, in March 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-08, “Revenue from
Contracts with Customers (Topic 606): Principal versus Agent Considerations (Reporting Revenue Gross versus Net)”,
which clarified the implementation guidance on principal versus agent considerations. In April 2016, the FASB issued
ASU 2016-10, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606): Identifying Performance Obligations and
Licensing”, that amended the revenue guidance on identifying performance obligations and accounting for licenses of
intellectual property. In May 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-11 “Revenue Recognition (Topic 605) and Derivatives
and Hedging (Topic 805): Rescission of SEC Guidance Because of Accounting Standards Updates 2014-09 and
2014-16 Pursuant to Staff Announcements at the March 3, 2016 EITF Meeting”, which rescinded from the FASB
Accounting Standards Codification certain SEC paragraphs as a result of two SEC Staff Announcements. The FASB
also issued ASU 2016-12 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606): Narrow-Scope Improvements and
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Practical Expedients”, which clarified guidance on assessment of collectability, presentation of sale taxes, measurement
of noncash consideration, and certain transition matters. The Company is still evaluating the impact that the provisions
of ASU 2014-09 and related subsequent updates will have on the Company's condensed consolidated financial
position, results of operations and cash flows.
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In February 2016, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update 2016-02, “Leases”. The standard requires lessees to
recognize the assets and liabilities that arise from leases on the balance sheet.  A lessee should recognize in the
statement of financial position a liability to make lease payments (the lease liability) and a right-of-use asset
representing its right to use the underlying asset for the lease term.  The new guidance is effective for annual and
interim reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2018.  The amendments should be applied at the beginning of
the earliest period presented using a modified retrospective approach with earlier application permitted as of the
beginning of an interim or annual reporting period.  We are currently evaluating the potential impact of adopting this
guidance on our consolidated financial statements.

In March 2016, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update 2016-09, “Compensation - Stock Compensation”
(“ASU 2016-09”). ASU 2016-09 simplifies the accounting and reporting of certain aspects of shared-based payment
transactions, including income tax treatment of excess tax benefits, forfeitures, classification of share-based awards as
either equity or liabilities, and classification in the statement of cash flows for certain share-based transactions related
to tax benefits and tax payments. ASU 2016-09 is effective for public business entities for annual periods beginning
after December 15, 2016, and interim periods within those annual periods; early adoption is permitted. We are
currently evaluating the potential impact of adopting this guidance on our consolidated financial statements.

Various other accounting pronouncements have been recently issued, most of which represented technical corrections
to the accounting literature or were applicable to specific industries, and are not expected to have a material effect on
our financial position, results of operations, or cash flows.

Note 3: Inventory

During the second quarter of 2014, the Company began a strategic initiative to restructure its product sales business by
phasing out the direct sale of physical products including DVDs and CDs and shifting to a licensing model. In
addition to nominal changes to the reserve made during the normal course of business, during the second quarter of
2014, the Company determined that a portion of its inventory may not be saleable and recorded an additional reserve
of $174,963 which was recorded as a loss on inventory. As of June 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, the Company
had recorded a total reserve of $26,116 and $28,813, respectively.

Note 4: Property and Equipment, Net

The Company has property and equipment as follows as of June 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015:
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6/30/2016 12/31/2015
Furniture and Equipment $12,385 $ 12,385
Computer Equipment 38,352 36,810
Leasehold Improvements 176,903 176,903
Software 15,737 15,737
Less Accumulated Depreciation (123,951) (90,887 )
Property and Equipment, Net $119,426 $ 150,948

During the three months ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, the Company recorded depreciation expense of $16,428 and
$17,958, respectively. During the six months ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, the Company recorded depreciation
expense of $33,063 and $29,827, respectively.
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Note 5: Film and Television Costs, Net

As of June 30, 2016, the Company had Film and Television Costs, net of $1,250,352 compared to $1,003,546 at
December 31, 2015. The increase relates primarily to the production and development of SpacePop, Llama Llama,
and Stan Lee’s Cosmic Crusaders offset by the amortization of film costs associated with the revenue recognized for
Thomas Edison’s Secret Lab. During the three months ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, the Company recorded Film and
Television Cost amortization expense of $17,644 and $0, respectively. During the six months ended June 30, 2016 and
2015, the Company recorded Film and Television Cost amortization expense of $135,157 and $0, respectively. The
Company recorded accumulated Film and Television Cost amortization of $262,708 and $127,551 as of June 30, 2016
and December 31, 2015, respectively.

Note 6: Goodwill and Intangible Assets, Net

Goodwill

In association with the Merger, the Company recognized $10,365,805 in Goodwill, representing the excess of the fair
value of the consideration for the Merger over net identifiable assets acquired. Pursuant to ASC 350-20, Goodwill is
not subject to amortization but is subject to annual review to determine if certain events warrant impairment to the
Goodwill asset. Through June 30, 2016, the Company has not recognized any impairment to Goodwill.

Intangible Assets, Net

The Company had following intangible assets as of June 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015:

6/30/2016 12/31/2015
Identifiable Artistic-Related Assets (a) $1,740,000 $1,740,000
Trademarks (b) 129,831 129,831
Product Masters (b) 64,676 64,676
Other Intangible Assets (b) 185,019 181,220
Less Accumulated Amortization (c) (235,836 ) (197,521 )
Intangible Assets, Net $1,883,690 $1,918,206
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(a)

In association with the Merger, the Company acquired $1,740,000 of Identifiable Artistic-Related Assets. These
assets, related to certain properties owned by A Squared and assumed by the Company, were valued using an
independent firm during the fourth quarter of 2013. Based on certain legal, regulatory, contractual, and economic
factors, the Company has deemed these assets to be indefinite-lived. Hence, pursuant to ASC 350-30, these assets
are not subject to amortization and are tested annually for impairment. Through June 30, 2016, the Company has
not recognized any impairment expense related to these assets.

(b)
Pursuant to ASC 350-30-35, the Company reviews these intangible assets periodically to determine if the value
should be retired or impaired due to recent events. During the three and six months ended June 30, 2016 and 2015,
the Company did not recognize any impairment of these assets.

(c)

During the three months ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, the Company recognized $19,184 and $16,580,
respectively, in amortization expense related to the Trademarks, Product Masters, and Other Intangible Assets.
During the six months ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, the Company recognized $38,315 and $30,323,
respectively, in amortization expense related to the Trademarks, Product Masters, and Other Intangible Assets.

Expected future intangible asset amortization as of June 30, 2016 is as follows:

Fiscal Year:
2016 $35,862
2017 53,534
2018 26,119
2019 9,236
2020 8,655
Remaining 10,284
Total $143,690
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Note 7: Deferred Revenue

As of June 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, the Company had total deferred revenue of $3,099,979 and 958,539,
respectively. Deferred revenue includes both variable fee contracts with licensees and customers in which the
Company had collected advances and minimum guarantees against future royalties as well as fixed fee contracts. The
Company recognizes revenue related to these contracts when all revenue recognition criteria have been met.

Note 8: Accrued Liabilities - Current

As of June 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, the Company has the following accrued liabilities:

6/30/2016 12/31/2015
Accrued Salaries and Wages (a) $116,385 $96,385
Disputed Trade Payables (b) 925,000 925,000
Services Advance - Current Portion (c) 1,489,583 –
Other Accrued Expenses 303,110 509,477
Total Accrued Liabilities $2,834,078 $1,530,862

(a) Accrued Salaries and Wages represent accrued vacation payable to employees.

(b)

As part of the Merger, the Company assumed certain liabilities from a previous member of A Squared which has
claimed certain liabilities totaling $925,000. The Company disputes the basis for this liability. As of June 30,
2016, the Company believes that the statute of limitations applicable to the assertion of any legal claim relating to
the collection of these liabilities has expired and therefore believes this liability is uncollectible. The Company is
working with the counterparty to extinguish this liability.

(c)

During the first quarter of 2014, the Company entered into an exclusive three-year agreement with Sony DADC,
the optical disc manufacturing and fulfillment arm of Sony, to provide all CD, DVD and BD replication,
packaging and distribution to the Company’s direct customers. Under the terms of the long-term, exclusive supply
chain services agreement, the Company will order a minimum level of disc replication, packaging and distribution
services for its content across all physical media, including DVD, CD, and Blu-ray from Sony DADC. As
consideration for these minimum order levels, the Company received a total of $1,500,000, $750,000 during the
first quarter of 2014 and $750,000 during the first quarter of 2015. At the end of the term, the Company is
obligated to repay a pro-rata portion of the advance if it has not ordered a minimum number of DVD/CD units
during the term.

Note 9: Short Term Debt - Related Parties
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As part of the Merger, the Company acquired certain liabilities from A Squared. From time to time, A Squared
required short-term advances to fund its operations and provide working capital from its founder, the Company’s
current Chief Executive Officer, Andrew Heyward. As of June 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, these advances
totaled $0 and $410,535, respectively. On May 4, 2016, the Company issued to Mr. Heyward 238,683 shares of
common stock valued at $1.72 per share, the day’s closing stock price, in satisfaction of these advances.

These advances were interest free and had no stated maturity. The Company applied an imputed interest rate of 6% in
accordance with ASC 835-30-45. During three months ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, the Company recognized
imputed interest expense of $0 and $6,229 as a contribution to additional paid-in capital, respectively. During six
months ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, the Company recognized imputed interest expense of $6,141 and $12,319 as a
contribution to additional paid-in capital, respectively.

Note 10: Stockholders’ Equity

Common Stock

As of each of June 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, the total number of authorized shares of common stock was
700,000,000.

On April 2, 2014, we filed an amendment to our Articles of Incorporation to affect the Reverse Split on a 1-for-100
basis. The Reverse Split was effective with FINRA on April 7, 2014. All common stock share and per share
information in this Form 10-Q, including the accompanying consolidated financial statements and notes thereto, have
been adjusted to reflect retrospective application of the Reverse Split, unless otherwise indicated. The total number of
authorized shares of common stock was not adjusted in conjunction with the Reverse Split.

On September 18, 2015, stockholders, representing at least of majority of outstanding shares of the Company’s voting
capital, approved an amendment to the Company’s Articles of Incorporation, as amended, to effect a reverse split of its
issued and outstanding common stock, par value $0.001 per share, by a ratio of not less than 1-for-2 and not more than
1-for-5 at any time prior to August 31, 2016, with the exact ratio to be set at a whole number within this range as
determined by the Company’s Board of Directors.
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On October 29, 2015, the Company conducted a private placement with certain accredited investors pursuant to which
it sold an aggregate of 4,330,000 shares of its common stock, par value $0.001 per share, and warrants to purchase up
to an aggregate of 4,330,000 shares of common stock for a purchase price of $1.00 per share and associated warrant
for gross proceeds of $4,330,000 (the “2015 Private Placement”). The 2015 Private Placement closed on November 3,
2015. Stock offering costs were $502,218. (See Note 12 for additional information about these warrants.)

As of June 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, there were 11,938,133 and 11,259,450 shares of common stock
outstanding, respectively. Below are the changes to the Company’s common stock during the six months ended June
30, 2016:

·On various dates during the six months ended June 30, 2016, the Company issued 335,000 shares of the Company’s
common stock as a conversion of 335 shares of Series A Preferred Stock.

·
On various dates during the six months ended June 30, 2016, the Company issued 75,000 shares of the Company’s
common stock for the exercise of 75,000 warrants each with an exercise price of $1.10 for total cash proceeds of
$82,500.

·On March 12, 2016, the Company issued 30,000 shares of the Company’s common stock as part of a settlement
agreement with an entity that had provided music production services to the Company.

·On May 4, 2016, the Company issued to Mr. Heyward 238,683 shares of common stock valued at $1.72 per share,
the day’s closing stock price, in satisfaction of certain short term advances.

Preferred Stock

The Company has 10,000,000 shares of preferred stock authorized with a par value of $0.001 per share. The Board of
Directors is authorized, subject to any limitations prescribed by law, without further vote or action by our
stockholders, to issue from time to time shares of preferred stock in one or more series. Each series of preferred stock
will have such number of shares, designations, preferences, voting powers, qualifications and special or relative rights
or privileges as shall be determined by our board of directors, which may include, among others, dividend rights,
voting rights, liquidation preferences, conversion rights and preemptive rights.

As of June 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, there were 4,955 and 5,290 shares of Series A Preferred Stock
outstanding, respectively.
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On May 12, 2014, the Board of Directors authorized the designation of a class of preferred stock as “Series A
Convertible Preferred Stock”. On May 14, 2014, the Company filed the Certificate of Designation, Preferences and
Rights of the 0% Series A Convertible Preferred Stock with the Secretary of State of the State of Nevada.

Each share of the Series A Preferred Stock is convertible into shares of the Company’s common stock, par value
$0.001 per share, based on a conversion calculation equal to the Base Amount divided by the conversion price. The
Base Amount is defined as the sum of (i) the aggregate stated value of the Series A Preferred Stock to be converted
and (ii) all unpaid dividends thereon. The stated value of each share of the Series A Preferred Stock is $1,000 and the
initial conversion price is $2.00 per share, subject to adjustment in the event of stock splits, dividends and
recapitalizations. Additionally, in the event the Company issues shares of its common stock or common stock
equivalents at a per share price that is lower than the conversion price then in effect, the conversion price shall be
adjusted to such lower price, subject to certain exceptions. The Company is prohibited from effecting a conversion of
the Series A Preferred Stock to the extent that as a result of such conversion, the investor would beneficially own
more than 9.99% in the aggregate of the issued and outstanding shares of the Company’s common stock, calculated
immediately after giving effect to the issuance of shares of common stock upon conversion of the Series A Preferred
Stock. The shares of Series A Preferred Stock possess no voting rights.

On May 14, 2014, we entered into securities purchase agreements with certain accredited investors pursuant to which
we sold an aggregate of 6,000 shares of our then newly designated Series A Convertible Preferred Stock at a price of
$1,000 per share for gross proceeds to us of $6,000,000. Related to the sale, we incurred offering costs of $620,085
resulting in net proceeds of $5,379,915. The transaction closed on May 15, 2014.

As the conversion price of the Series A Preferred Stock on a converted basis was below the market price of the
common shares on the closing date, this resulted in a beneficial conversion feature recorded as an “imputed” dividend of
$2,010,000. In addition, during the first quarter of 2016, upon the conversion of the 85 preferred shares into 85,000
common shares as described above, the conversion price adjustment related to the 2015 Private Placement was
deemed a contingency and resulted in additional imputed dividend of $85,000. During the second quarter of 2016,
upon the conversion of the 250 preferred shares into 250,000 common shares as described above, the conversion price
adjustment related to the 2015 Private Placement was deemed a contingency and resulted in additional imputed
dividend of $250,000. During the year ended December 31, 2015, 400 preferred shares converted into 400,000
common shares at the conversion price adjustment related to the 2015 Private Placement and resulted in an additional
imputed dividend of $400,000.
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Note 11: Stock Options

The Company has adopted the provisions of ASC 718 - Compensation which requires companies to measure the cost
of employee services received in exchange for equity instruments based on the grant date fair value of those awards
and to recognize the compensation expense over the requisite service period during which the awards are expected to
vest.

On December 29, 2008, the Company adopted the Pacific Entertainment Corporation 2008 Stock Option Plan (the
“Plan”), which provides for the issuance of qualified and non-qualified stock options to officers, directors, employees
and other qualified persons. The Plan is administered by the Board of Directors of the Company or a committee
appointed by the Board of Directors. The number of shares of the Company’s common stock initially reserved for
issuance under the Plan was 110,000. On September 2, 2011, the stockholders holding a majority of the Company’s
outstanding common stock adopted an amendment to the Company’s 2008 Stock Option Plan to increase the number
of shares of common stock issuable under the plan to 500,000.

On September 18, 2015, the Company adopted the Genius Brands International, Inc. 2015 Incentive Plan (the “2015
Plan”). The 2015 Plan was approved by our stockholders in September 2015. The 2015 Plan as approved by the
stockholders authorized the issuance up to an aggregate of 450,000 shares of common stock. On December 14, 2015,
the Board of Directors voted to amend the 2015 Plan to increase the total number of shares that can be issued under
the 2015 Plan by 3,880,000 from 450,000 shares to 4,330,000 shares. The increase in shares available for issuance
under the 2015 Plan was approved by stockholders on February 3, 2016.

The following table summarizes the changes in the Company’s stock option plan during the six months ended June 30,
2016:

Options
Outstanding
Number of
Shares

Exercise
Price per
Share

Weighted
Average
Remaining
Contractual
Life

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price per
Share

Balance at December 31, 2015 4,223,208 $0.94 - $4.00 4.94 years $ 58,512 $ 2.70
Options Granted –
Options Exercised –
Options Cancelled 165,879 $0.94 - $4.00
Options Expired –
Balance at June 30, 2016 4,057,329 4.44 years $ 636,872 $ 2.70
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Exercisable December 31, 2015 300,061 $0.94 4.80 years $ 58,512 $ 0.94
Exercisable June 30, 2016 300,061 $0.94 4.30 years $ 369,074 $ 0.94

During the year ended December 31, 2015, the Company granted options to purchase 4,223,208 shares of common
stock to officers, directors, employees, and consultants. These stock options generally vest between one and three
years, while a portion vested upon grant. The fair value of these options was determined to be $2,402,395 using the
Black-Scholes option pricing model based on the following assumptions:

Exercise Price $0.94 - $4.00
Dividend Yield 0%
Volatility 134% - 137%
Risk-free interest rate 0.89% - 1.25%
Expected life of options 2.5 - 3.5 years

During the three months ended March 31, 2016, the Company recognized stock based compensation expense of
$564,985. During the three months ended March 31, 2016, the Company adjusted the calculation of stock based
compensation expense to (i) align with the graded vested of the majority of the options granted in 2015, (ii) make
adjustments in certain accounting estimates utilized in the Black Scholes model, and (iii) reflect the accurate number
of options granted in 2015. As such, included in the total stock based compensation expense recognized in this first
quarter of 2016 is $220,564 of true-up expenses from prior periods. The Company has assessed these adjustments
individually and in aggregate and considers them immaterial to the current and prior periods.

During the three months ended June 30, 2016, the Company recognized $312,977 in stock compensation expense.
During the three and six months ended June 30, 2015, the Company did not recognize any stock based compensation
expense.

15
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Note 12: Warrants

The Company has warrants outstanding to purchase up to 4,980,000 and 5,055,000 at each of June 30, 2016 and
December 31, 2015, respectively.

In connection with the sale of the Company’s Series A Convertible Preferred Stock in May 2014, Chardan Capital
Markets LLC (“Chardan”) acted as sole placement agent in consideration for which Chardan received a cash fee of
$535,000 and a warrant to purchase up to 300,000 shares of the Company’s common stock. These warrants are
exercisable immediately, have an exercise price of $2.00 per share, and have a five-year term.

On October 29, 2015, the Company entered into securities purchase agreements with certain accredited investors
pursuant to which the Company sold an aggregate of 4,330,000 shares of its common stock, par value $0.001 per
share, and warrants to purchase up to an aggregate of 4,330,000 shares of common stock for a purchase price of $1.00
per share and the associated warrants for gross proceeds to the Company of $4,330,000 (the “2015 Private Placement”).
The closing of the 2015 Private Placement occurred on November 3, 2015. The warrants are exercisable into shares of
common stock for a period of five (5) years from issuance at an initial exercise price of $1.10 per share, subject to
adjustment in the event of stock splits, dividends and recapitalizations. The warrants are exercisable immediately. The
Company is prohibited from effecting an exercise of the warrants to the extent that as a result of such exercise, the
holder would beneficially own more than 4.99% (subject to increase up to 9.99% upon 61 days’ notice) in the
aggregate of the issued and outstanding shares of common stock, calculated immediately after giving effect to the
issuance of shares of common stock upon exercise of the warrant.

In connection with the sale of the Company’s common stock in October 2015, Chardan acted as sole placement agent
in consideration for which Chardan received a cash fee of $300,000 and a warrant to purchase up to 425,000 shares of
the Company’s common stock. These warrants are exercisable immediately, have an exercise price of $1.20 per share,
and have a five-year term.

The following table summarizes the changes in the Company’s outstanding warrants during the six months ended June
30, 2016:

Warrants Outstanding
Number of Shares

Exercise
Price per
Share

Weighted Average
Remaining Contractual Life

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price per
Share

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value
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Balance at
December 31, 2015 5,055,000 $1.10-2.00 4.75 years $ 1.16 $–

Warrants Granted – – – – –
Warrants Exercised 75,000 – – – –
Warrants Expired – – – – –
Balance at June 30,
2016 4,980,000 $1.10-2.00 4.25 years $ 1.16 $5,016,000

Exercisable
December 31, 2015 5,055,000 $1.10-2.00 4.75 years $ 1.16 $-

Exercisable June 30,
2016 4,980,000 $1.10-2.00 4.25 years $ 1.16 $5,016,100

Note 13: Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes in accordance with ASC 740 Income Taxes, which requires the recognition
of deferred tax liabilities and assets at currently enacted tax rates for the expected future tax consequences of events
that have been included in the financial statements or tax returns.  A valuation allowance is recognized to reduce the
net deferred tax asset to an amount that is more likely than not to be realized.

ASC 740 provides guidance on the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in a company’s financial
statements. ASC 740 requires a company to determine whether it is more likely than not that a tax position will be
sustained upon examination based upon the technical merits of the position.  If the more-likely-than-not threshold is
met, a company must measure the tax position to determine the amount to recognize in the financial statements.

At the adoption date of January 1, 2008, the Company had no unrecognized tax benefit which would affect the
effective tax rate if recognized.

The Company includes interest and penalties arising from the underpayment of income taxes in the statements of
operation in the provision for income taxes. As of June 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, the Company had no
accrued interest or penalties related to uncertain tax positions.

The Company files income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction and in the state of California. The Company is
currently subject to U.S. federal, state and local, or non-U.S. income tax examinations by tax authorities since
inception of the Company.
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Note 14: Employment Agreements

On November 15, 2013, as a closing condition to the Merger, the Company entered into five-year employment
agreements with Andrew Heyward, to serve as Chief Executive Officer, and Amy Moynihan Heyward, to serve as
President of the Company, for which each receives an annual base salary of $200,000 and $180,000, respectively.

Effective July 14, 2014, the Company employed Stone Newman in the newly created operating position of President -
Worldwide Consumer Products and executed a three-year employment agreement which either party may terminate on
the twelfth and twenty-fourth month anniversary upon thirty (30) days’ notice. Mr. Newman has oversight over all
consumer products, licensing and merchandising sales and rights for the Company’s brands and programming as well
as certain brands he previously managed prior to his employment by the Company. The agreement provides Mr.
Newman with an annual salary of $275,000 plus an additional participation for certain customers.

Effective April 18, 2016, the Company entered into an employment agreement with Rebecca Hershinger for the
position of Chief Financial Officer. Ms. Hershinger will be entitled to be paid a salary at the annual rate of $175,000
per year, which salary will be increased to $190,000 per year not later than October 1, 2016. The term of the
agreement is one year with a mutual option for an additional one-year period. Ms. Hershinger was reimbursed for
certain moving and related expenses associated with her relocation from Park City, Utah to Los Angeles, California.
In addition, Ms. Hershinger is entitled to receive a grant of stock options commensurate with those given to the
Company’s Executive Vice President and an annual discretionary bonus based on her performance.

Note 15: Lease Commitments

The Company has no capital leases subject to the Capital Lease guidelines in the FASB Accounting Standards
Codification.

Rental expenses incurred for operating leases during the three months ended June 30, 2016 and 2015 were $34,818
and $34,555, respectively. Rental expenses incurred for operating leases during the six months ended June 30, 2016
and 2015 were $69,825 and $72,136, respectively.

The Company leased approximately 2,807 square feet of office space at 9401 Wilshire Boulevard, Beverly Hills,
California pursuant to a standard office lease dated February 3, 2012. The lease had a term of 3 years, from May 1,
2012 through April 30, 2015. The monthly rent was $10,807 which was to be adjusted upward 3% each year on the
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anniversary of the lease. The Company did not renew this lease.

During the first quarter of 2015, the Company entered into an agreement for new office space to which it relocated its
operations upon the expiration of its prior lease. Effective May 1, 2015, the Company began leasing approximately
3,251 square feet of general office space at 301 North Canon Drive, Suite 305, Beverly Hills, California 90210
pursuant to a 35-month sub-lease that commenced on May 1, 2015. The Company will pay approximately $136,542
annually subject to annual escalations of 3%.

The following is a schedule of future minimum lease payments required by the non-cancelable operating lease
agreement:

Year Amount
2016 $69,448
2017 143,451
2018 36,214

$249,113

Note 16: Commitment and Contingencies

In the normal course of its business, the Company enters into various agreements which call for the potential future
payment of royalties or “profit” participations associated with its individual properties. These profit participations can be
for the use of third party intellectual property, such as the case with Stan Lee and the Mighty 7 and Llama Llama
among others, in which the Company is obligated to share net profits with the underlying rights holders on a certain
basis as defined in the respective agreements.

In addition, in the normal course of its business, the Company enters into agreements with various service providers
such as animation studios, post-production studios, writers, directors, musicians or other creative talent in which the
Company is obligated to share with these service providers net profits of the properties on which they have rendered
services, on a certain basis as defined in each respective agreement.
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Note 17: Related Party

On April 21, 2016, the Company entered into a merchandising and licensing agreement with Andy Heyward
Animation Art (“AHAA”), whose principal is Andrew Heyward, the Company’s Chief Executive Officer. The Company
entered into a customary merchandise license agreement with AHAA for the use of characters and logos related to
Warren Buffet’s Secret Millionaires Club and Stan Lee’s Mighty 7 in connection with certain products to be sold by
AHAA. The terms and conditions of such license are customary within the industry and the Company earns an
arm-length industry standard royalty on all sales made by AHAA utilizing the licensed content. During the second
quarter of 2016, the Company earned $247 in royalties from this agreement. 

Note 18: Subsequent Events

Pursuant to FASB ASC 855, Management has evaluated all events and transactions that occurred from June 30, 2016
through the date of issuance of these financial statements. During this period, we did not have any significant
subsequent events, except as disclosed below:

·On various dates subsequent to the end of the quarter, the Company issued 25,000 shares of the Company’s common
stock for the exercise of 25,000 warrants each with an exercise price of $1.10 for total cash proceeds of $27,500.

·

On August 8, 2016, Llama Productions LLC, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, closed a $5,275,000
multiple draw-down, secured, non-revolving credit facility (the “Facility”) with Bank Leumi USA for the production of
its animated series Llama Llama (the “Series”). The Series is configured as fifteen half-hour episodes comprised of
thirty 11 minute programs to be delivered to Netflix in Fall 2017. The Facility is secured by the license fees the
Company will receive from Netflix for the delivery of the Series as well as the Company’s copyright in the Series.
The Facility has a term of 40 months and has an interest rate of either Prime plus 1% or one, three, or six month
LIBOR plus 3.25%.
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ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS
OF OPERATIONS.

The following discussion and analysis of our results of operations, financial condition and liquidity and capital
resources should be read in conjunction with our unaudited financial statements and related notes for the three and
six months ended June 30, 2016. In addition to historical consolidated financial information, the following discussion
contains forward-looking statements that reflect our plans, estimates and beliefs. Our actual results could differ
materially from those discussed in the forward-looking statements or our past performance.

Overview

The management’s discussion and analysis is based on our financial statements, which have been prepared in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”). The
preparation of these financial statements requires us to make certain estimates and judgments that affect the reported
amounts of assets, liabilities and expenses and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. We base our
estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates under
different assumptions and conditions.

Our Business

We are a global content and brand management company that creates and licenses multimedia content. Led by
industry veterans, Andrew Heyward (Chief Executive Officer) and Amy Moynihan Heyward (President), we
distribute our content in all formats as well as a broad range of consumer products based on its characters. In the
children's media sector, our portfolio features "content with a purpose" for toddlers to tweens, which provides
enrichment as well as entertainment, including tween music-driven brand SpacePOP; preschool property debuting on
Netflix Llama Llama; award-winning Baby Genius, re-launched with new entertainment and over 40 new products;
adventure comedy Thomas Edison's Secret Lab®, available on Netflix, public broadcast stations and our  Kid
Genius channel on Comcast's Xfinity on Demand; Warren Buffett's Secret Millionaires Club, created with and starring
iconic investor Warren Buffett. We are also co-producing an all-new adult-themed animated series, Stan Lee's Cosmic
Crusaders, with Stan Lee's Pow! Entertainment and The Hollywood Reporter. 

In addition, we act as licensing agent for certain brands, leveraging our existing licensing infrastructure to expand
these brands into new product categories, new retailers, and new territories. These include Llama Llama; From Frank,
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a humor greeting card and product line; and Celessence Technologies, the world's leading microencapsulation
company.

Our Products

Original Content

We own and produce original content for which there is generally a three-year cycle from the inception of an idea,
through production of the content and development and distribution of a range of consumer products to retail, creating
an inevitable lag time between the creation of the intellectual property to the realization of economic benefit of those
assets. The goal is to maintain a robust and diverse portfolio of brands, appealing to various interests and ages,
featuring evergreen topics with global appeal. Our portfolio of intellectual property can be licensed, re-licensed, and
exploited for years to come, with revenue derived from multiple sources and territories. In many cases, a significant
portion of our production costs are covered through either pre-sales or financings.

Our portfolio of original content includes:

Content in Production

Llama Llama: We are currently in production on fifteen half-hour animated episodes to premiere on Netflix in 2017.
Llama’s creators include Oscar-winning director Rob Minkoff (The Lion King), director Saul Blinkoff (Doc
McStuffins), showrunner Joe Purdy, art director Ruben Aquino (Frozen) and Emmy-winning producers Jane Startz
and Andrew Heyward. Based on the NY Times #1 best-selling children’s books, the animated series centers on young
Llama Llama’s first steps in growing up and facing childhood milestones. Each episode will be structured around a
childhood milestone coupled with a life lesson learned by Llama Llama and his friends, told with a sense of humor,
vitality, and understanding. The global licensing program was unveiled in June 2016 at the Licensing Expo.
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SpacePop: Premiering on YouTube on June 20, 2016, SpacePOP is music and fashion driven animated property that
has garnered approximately 4.5 million views and over 12,000 subscribers since its launch. With 108 three-minute
webisodes greenlit for production, SpacePOP has a best-in-class development and production team on board including
Steve Banks (head writer and story editor of Sponge Bob Square Pants) as content writer; Han Lee (Pink Fizz, Bobby
Jack) for original character designs; multiple Grammy Award-winning producer and music veteran Ron Fair (Fergie,
Mary J. Blige, Black Eyed Peas, Pussycat Dolls, Christina Aguilera and more), singer-songwriter Stefanie Fair
(founding member of RCA’s girl group Wild Orchid with Fergie) for the original SpacePOP theme music; and veteran
music producer and composer John Loeffler (Kidz Bop, Pokemon) for original songs. Current promotional partners
include with Six Flags, Dippin’ Dots, and Camplified. We have collaborated with licensing partners throughout North
America, including Taste Beauty (beauty and bath products), Bare Tree Media (emoticons), Canal Toys (craft and
activity kits), Yowie Group, Ltd. (confections), Jaya Apparel (apparel), and Sony Pictures Home Entertainment (home
entertainment). Additionally, SpacePOP products ranging from apparel and accessories, to beauty, cosmetics, candy,
books, and music will be available at select Claire's and Kohl's starting in October. We expect to add a program at a
third national retailer starting in December 2016 with a dedicated feature space merchandising over 20 SpacePOP
items from our various licensees creating the ultimate SpacePOP destination in time for holiday 2016.

Stan Lee’s Cosmic Crusaders: Stan Lee’s Cosmic Crusaders is a co-production between us, Stan Lee’s POW!
Entertainment, and The Hollywood Reporter of an adult-themed animated series whose launch coincided with “Stan
Lee’s 75 Years in Business” salute in The Hollywood Reporter’s Comic-Con issue. Cosmic Crusaders is based on a
concept by Stan Lee and written by Deadpool co-creator Fabian Nicieza. With 52 eleven-minute episodes greenlit for
production, the first four episodes premiered exclusively on THR.com with one episode airing each day during
Comic-Con International 2016. Stan Lee’s Cosmic Crusaders is the first series to launch on THR.com and will be
promoted through THR’s YouTube channel, Facebook, Twitter and Instagram pages. The global consumer products
program was introduced at Licensing Expo 2016 with national retailer Hot Topic secured as anchor retail partner.

Content in Development

Rainbow Rangers: From Shane Morris, the writer of Frozen, and Rob Minkoff, the director of The Lion King,
Rainbow Rangers is an animated series about the adventures of seven heroic pixies from Kaleidoscopia, a fantastic
land on the other side of the rainbow. The Rangers serve as Earth’s guardians and first-responders. When danger
arrives, these seven pixie girls ride a rainbow across the sky and land wherever they are needed most in the small
human city of Hopewell Junction.

Already Released Content
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Thomas Edison’s Secret Lab: Thomas Edison’s Secret Lab is a STEM-based comedy adventure series by
Emmy-nominated writer Steve Banks (SpongeBob Square Pants), multi-Emmy Award-winning writer Jeffrey Scott
(Dragon Tales), and Emmy Award-winning producer Mark Young (All Dogs Go To Heaven 2). The series includes 52
eleven-minute episodes as well as 52 original music videos produced by Grammy Award-winning producer Ron Fair.
The animated series follows the adventures of Angie, a 12-year-old prodigy who, along with her young science club,
discovers Thomas Edison’s secret lab!

Warren Buffet’s Secret Millionaire’s Club: With 26 thirty-minute episodes and 26 four-minute webisodes, this animated
series features Warren Buffett acts as a mentor to a group of kids who have international adventures in
business. Secret Millionaire’s Club empowers kids by helping them learn about the business of life and the importance
of developing healthy life habits at an early age.

Baby Genius: For more than ten years, Baby Genius has earned worldwide recognition for creating award-winning
products for toddlers. Its catalogue of 500 songs, 125 music videos, and toys feature classic nursery rhymes, learning
songs, classical music, holiday favorites and more.

Licensing Agent

Augmenting our original content, we act as an agent for established brands which maximizes the existing
infrastructure while creating incremental sources of revenue for us without additional overhead. These brands include
From Frank, a popular line of greeting cards and Celessence, microencapsulation technology releases fragrance and is
used to scent products.

Kid Genius on Comcast

In April 2015, we partnered with Comcast to launch the new Kid Genius Channel on Xfinity on Demand. Kid Genius
is currently in 21 million homes and has rollout plans to reach 60 million homes by Q4 2016. Kid Genius combines
the powerful value of owning a channel in its own right with the ability to promote our brands and products.
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Recent Events

Production Financing

On August 8, 2016, Llama Productions LLC, our wholly-owned subsidiary, closed a $5,275,000 multiple draw-down,
secured, non-revolving credit facility (the “Facility”) with Bank Leumi USA for the production of our animated series
Llama Llama (the “Series”). The Series is configured as fifteen half-hour episodes comprised of thirty 11 minute
programs to be delivered to Netflix in Fall 2017. The Facility is secured by the license fees we will receive from
Netflix for the delivery of the Series as well as our copyright in the Series. The Facility has a term of 40 months and
has an interest rate of one, three, or six month LIBOR plus 3.25%.

Distribution agreement with Sony Pictures Home Entertainment Inc.

On February 18, 2016, we entered into a distribution agreement with Sony Pictures Home Entertainment Inc. (“Sony”),
pursuant to which we agreed to grant Sony certain rights for the marketing and distribution of our animated
feature-length motion pictures and animated television series in the United States and in Canada, and potentially
additional countries. In consideration for such rights, and subject to certain conditions, Sony has paid us an advance in
the amount of $2.0 million, against future royalties.

Results of Operations

Comparison of Results of Operations for the three months ended June 30, 2016 and 2015

Revenue.

6/30/2016 6/30/2015 Change % Change
Licensing & Royalties $113,456 $121,322 $(7,866) -6%
Television & Home Entertainment 46,726 8,875 37,851 426%
Product Sales 16,150 3,418 12,732 372%
Total Revenue $176,332 $133,615 $42,717 32%
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Licensing and royalty revenue includes items for which we license the rights to our copyrights and trademarks of our
brands and those of the brands for which we act as a licensing agent. During the three months ended June 30, 2016
compared to June 30, 2015, this category decreased modestly by $7,866 (6%) due the transition from one distribution
partner to another.

Television & Home Entertainment revenue is generated from distribution of our properties for broadcast on television,
VOD, or SVOD in domestic and foreign markets and the sale of DVDs for home entertainment. During the three
months ended June 30, 2016, Television & Home Entertainment revenue increased $37,851 (426%) compared to the
three months ended June 30, 2015, representing the commencement of deliveries of Thomas Edison’s Secret Lab in the
third quarter of 2015.

Product sales represent physical products, including DVDs and CDs, in which we hold intellectual property rights
such as trademarks and copyrights to the characters and which are manufactured and sold by us either directly at
wholesale to retail stores or online retailers. During the three months ended June 30, 2016, product sales increased by
$12,732 (372%) compared to the three months ended June 30, 2015 due direct product sales of Warren Buffet’s Secret
Millionaires Club at the Berkshire Hathaway annual shareholders’ meeting.

Cost of Sales and Operating Costs.

6/30/2016 6/30/2015 Change % Change
Cost of Sales $50,949 $15,431 $35,518 230%
Amortization of Film & TV Costs 17,644 -   17,644 N/A
General and Administrative 1,332,392 907,500 424,892 47%
Marketing and Sales 204,318 162,885 41,433 25%
Loss on Impairment of Assets 1,850 -   1,850 N/A
Total Costs and Operating Expenses $1,607,153 $1,085,816 $521,337 48%

Cost of Sales increased $35,518 during the three months ended June 30, 2016 compared to the same period of 2015.
The increase was primarily the result of certain non-capitalizable expenses associated with the release of Thomas
Edison’s Secret Lab as well as costs related to direct sales of Warren Buffet’s Secret Millionaires Club at the Berkshire
Hathaway annual shareholders’ meeting. Similarly, amortization of Film and TV costs increased during the three
months ended June 30, 2016 compared to the prior period as a result of the amortization of film costs associated with
Thomas Edison’s Secret Lab.

21

Edgar Filing: Genius Brands International, Inc. - Form 424B3

126



General and Administrative expenses consist primarily of salaries, employee benefits, as well as other expenses
associated with finance, legal, facilities, marketing, rent, other professional services, and depreciation and
amortization. General and administrative costs for the three months ended June 30, 2016 increased $424,892 (47%)
compared to the same period in 2015. Of this increase, $312,977 was attributable to stock based compensation for
options granted to officers, directors, employees, and consultants in the fourth quarter of 2015.

Marketing and sales expenses increased $41,433 for the three months ended June 30, 2016 compared to the three
months ended June 30, 2015 primarily due to promotional efforts for our SpacePop property.

Other Income / (Expense).

6/30/2016 6/30/2015 Change %
Change

Other Income – 2,548 (2,548 ) -100%
Interest Expense (724 ) (1,077 ) 353 -33%
Interest Expense - Related Parties – (6,229 ) 6,229 -100%
Gain on Settlement of Distribution Contracts 248,593 – 248,593 N/A
Unrealized Loss on Foreign Currency Translation – (30,896 ) 30,896 100%
Net Other Income (Expense) $247,869 $ (35,654 ) $283,523 -795%

Other income (expense) represents non-operating income and expense such as interest expense and the gain or loss on
certain transactions as well as unrealized foreign currency translation adjustments related to certain contracts
denominated in foreign currency. For the three months ended June 30, 2016, other income totaled $247,869 compared
to other expense of $35,654 in the prior period. This $283,523 increase was primarily the result of the gain based on
the settlement on distribution contracts in the current period for which the Company received a cash payment.

Comparison of Results of Operations for the six months ended June 30, 2016 and 2015

Revenue.

6/30/2016 6/30/2015 Change % Change
Licensing & Royalties $261,468 $273,987 $(12,519) -5%
Television & Home Entertainment 250,607 141,089 109,518 78%
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Product Sales 16,150 15,173 977 6%
Total Revenue $528,225 $430,249 $97,976 23%

Licensing and royalty revenue includes items for which we license the rights to our copyrights and trademarks of our
brands and those of the brands for which we act as a licensing agent. During the six months ended June 30, 2016
compared to June 30, 2015, this category decreased modestly by $12,519 (5%) due the transition from one distribution
partner to another.

Television & Home Entertainment revenue is generated from distribution of our properties for broadcast on television,
VOD, or SVOD in domestic and foreign markets and the sale of DVDs for home entertainment. During the six months
ended June 30, 2016, Television & Home Entertainment revenue increased $109,518 (78%) compared to the six
months ended June 30, 2015, representing the commencement of deliveries of Thomas Edison’s Secret Lab in the third
quarter of 2015.

Product sales represent physical products, including DVDs and CDs, in which we hold intellectual property rights
such as trademarks and copyrights to the characters and which are manufactured and sold by us either directly at
wholesale to retail stores or online retailers. During the six months ended June 30, 2016, product sales increased by
$977 (6%) compared to the six months ended June 30, 2015 due direct product sales of Warren Buffet’s Secret
Millionaires Club at the Berkshire Hathaway annual shareholders’ meeting offset by diminishing direct sales in the
first quarter due to the exit from the direct sales business.
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Cost of Sales and Operating Costs.

6/30/2016 6/30/2015 Change % Change
Cost of Sales $73,311 $22,572 $50,739 225%
Amortization of Film & TV Costs 135,157 -   135,157 N/A
General and Administrative 2,934,495 1,869,420 1,065,075 57%
Marketing and Sales 465,950 251,060 214,890 86%
Loss on Impairment of Assets 1,850 7,500 (5,650 )-75%
Total Costs and Operating Expenses $3,610,763 $2,150,552 $1,460,211 68%

Cost of Sales increased $50,739 during the six months ended June 30, 2016 compared to the same period of 2015. The
increase was primarily the result of certain non-capitalizable expenses associated with the release of Thomas Edison’s
Secret Lab as well as costs related to direct sales of Warren Buffet’s Secret Millionaires Club at the Berkshire
Hathaway Annual Shareholders’ meeting. Similarly, amortization of Film and TV costs increased during the six
months ended June 30, 2016 compared to the prior period as a result of the amortization of film costs associated with
Thomas Edison’s Secret Lab.

General and Administrative expenses consist primarily of salaries, employee benefits, as well as other expenses
associated with finance, legal, facilities, marketing, rent, other professional services, and depreciation and
amortization. General and administrative costs for the six months ended June 30, 2016 increased $1,065,075 (57%)
compared to the same period in 2015. Of this increase, $877,962 was attributable to stock based compensation for
options granted to officers, directors, employees, and consultants in the fourth quarter of 2015.

Marketing and sales expenses increased $214,890 (86%) for the six months ended June 30, 2016 compared to the six
months ended June 30, 2015 primarily due to promotional efforts for our SpacePop and fees paid to external sales
consultants for certain key agreements.

Other Income / (Expense).

6/30/2016 6/30/2015 Change %
Change

Other Income 60 5,545 (5,485 ) -99%
Interest Expense (2,153 ) (10,803 ) 8,650 -80%
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Interest Expense - Related Parties (6,141 ) (12,319 ) 6,178 -50%
Gain on Settlement of Distribution Contracts 258,103 150,000 108,103 72%
Unrealized Loss on Foreign Currency Translation – (36,237 ) 36,237 -100%
Net Other Income $249,869 $96,186 $153,683 160%

Other income (expense) represents non-operating income and expense such as interest expense and the gain or loss on
certain transactions as well as unrealized foreign currency translation adjustments related to certain contracts
denominated in foreign currency. For the six months ended June 30, 2016, other income totaled $249,869 compared to
other income of $96,186 in the prior period. This $153,683 increase was primarily the result of the gain based on the
settlement on distribution contracts in the current period for which the Company received a cash payment.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Working Capital

At June 30, 2016, we had current assets of $5,496,506, including cash of $4,938,720 and current liabilities of
$3,679,324, including certain trade payables of $925,000 to which we dispute the claim, resulting in working capital
of $1,817,182 representing a decrease of $1,008,169 from working capital of $2,825,351 as of December 31, 2015.
During the six months ended June 30, 2016, we received gross proceeds of $2,000,000 pursuant to our distribution
agreement with Sony Pictures Home Entertainment and $275,000 for the settlement of a distribution agreement and
issued to our Chief Executive Officer, Andrew Heyward, 238,683 shares of common stock valued at $1.72 per share
in satisfaction of $410,535 in short term advances.
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Credit Facility

Subsequent to the end of the quarter, on August 8, 2016, Llama Productions LLC, our wholly-owned subsidiary,
closed a $5,275,000 multiple draw-down, secured, non-revolving credit facility (the “Facility”) with Bank Leumi USA
for the production of our animated series Llama Llama (the “Series”). The Series is configured as fifteen half-hour
episodes comprised of thirty 11 minute programs to be delivered to Netflix in Fall 2017. The Facility is secured by the
license fees we will receive from Netflix for the delivery of the Series as well as our copyright in the Series. The
Facility has a term of 40 months and has an interest rate of either Prime plus 1% or one, three, or six month LIBOR
plus 3.25%.

Comparison of Cash Flows for the Six Months Ended June 30, 2016 and 2015

Cash totaled $4,934,720 at June 30, 2016 and $2,872,253 at June 30, 2015. The change in cash during the six month
periods ended June 30, 2016 and 2015 is as follows:

6/30/2016 6/30/2015 Change
Cash provided used in operations $(324,208) $(1,896,298) $1,572,090
Cash provided used in investing activities (7,192) (283,073) 275,881
Cash provided by financing activities 82,500 750,525 (668,025)
Decrease in cash $(248,900) $(1,428,846) $1,179,946

During the six months ended June 30, 2016, our primary source of cash was operating activity, specifically the
collection of the advance from Sony as well as the payment received as settlement for the termination of a distribution
contract. During the comparable period in 2015, our primary source of cash was financing activity including the
collection of the second payment related to a long-term, exclusive supply chain services contract. During both periods,
these funds were primarily used to fund operations

Operating Activities

Cash used in operating activities in the six months ended June 30, 2016 was $324,208 as compared to a use of
$1,896,298 during the prior period, representing an increase in cash provided by operating activities of $1,572,090
based on the operating results discussed above as well as the receipt of the advance from Sony offset by film and
television costs related to the development and production SpacePop, Llama Llama, and Stan Lee’s Cosmic Crusaders.
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Investing Activities

Cash used in investing activities for the six months ended June 30, 2016 was $7,192 as compared to a use of $283,073
for the comparable period in 2015, representing a decrease in cash used in investing activities of $275,881. This
decrease is primarily the result of approximately $180,000 spent on leasehold improvements in our new leased office
space in the first quarter of 2015 and as well as the development expenditures for certain intangible assets without
comparable activity in 2016.

Financing Activities

Cash generated from financing activities during the six months ended June 30, 2016 was $82,500 as compared to
$750,525 generated in the comparable period in 2015 representing a decrease of $668,025. During the first quarter of
2014, we entered into a long-term, exclusive supply chain services agreement in which we will order a minimum level
of disc replication, packaging and distribution services for our content across all physical media. As consideration for
these minimum order levels, we received a total of $1,500,000, $750,000 during the first quarter of 2014 and
$750,000 during the first quarter of 2015. During the six month ended June 30, 2016, cash generated from financing
activities related to cash received from the exercise of certain outstanding warrants.

Capital Expenditures

As of June 30, 2016, we do not have any material commitments for capital expenditures.
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Critical Accounting Policies

Our accounting policies are described in the notes to the financial statements. Below is a summary of the critical
accounting policies, among others, that management believes involve significant judgments and estimates used in the
preparation of our financial statements.

Principles of Consolidation

Our consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Genius Brands International, Inc., our wholly-owned
subsidiaries A Squared Entertainment, LLC and Llama Productions LLC as well as our interest in Stan Lee Comics,
LLC. All significant inter-company balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill represents the excess of purchase price over the estimated fair value of net assets acquired in business
combinations accounted for by the purchase method. In accordance with ASC Topic 350 Intangibles Goodwill and
Other, goodwill and certain intangible assets are presumed to have indefinite useful lives and are thus not amortized,
but subject to an impairment test annually or more frequently if indicators of impairment arise. We complete the
annual goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible asset impairment tests during the fourth quarter. To test for goodwill
impairment, we are required to estimate the fair market value of each of our reporting units. While we may use a
variety of methods to estimate fair value for impairment testing, our primary methods are discounted cash flows. We
estimate future cash flows and allocations of certain assets using estimates for future growth rates and our judgment
regarding the applicable discount rates. Changes to our judgments and estimates could result in a significantly
different estimate of the fair market value of the reporting units, which could result in an impairment of goodwill.

Other intangible assets have been acquired, either individually or with a group of other assets, and were initially
recognized and measured based on fair value. In accordance with ASC 350 Intangible Assets, the costs of new product
development and significant improvement to existing products are capitalized while routine and periodic alterations to
existing products are expensed as incurred. Annual amortization of these intangible assets is computed based on the
straight-line method over the remaining economic life of the asset.

Film and Television Costs

Edgar Filing: Genius Brands International, Inc. - Form 424B3

133



We capitalize production costs for episodic series produced in accordance with ASC 926-20 Entertainment-Films -
Other Assets - Film Costs. Accordingly, production costs are capitalized at actual cost and then charged against
revenue based on the initial market revenue evidenced by a firm commitment over the period of commitment. We
expense all capitalized costs that exceed the initial market firm commitment revenue in the period of delivery of the
episodes.

We capitalize production costs for films produced in accordance with ASC 926-20 Entertainment-Films - Other
Assets - Film Costs. Accordingly, production costs are capitalized at actual cost and then charged against revenue
quarterly as a cost of production based on the relative fair value of the film(s) delivered and recognized as revenue.
We evaluate our capitalized production costs annually and limits recorded amounts by their ability to recover such
costs through expected future sales.

Additionally, we develop new videos, music, books and digital applications in addition to adding content, improved
animation and bonus songs/features to our existing product catalog. After the initial release of the film or episodic
series, the costs of significant improvement to existing products are capitalized while routine and periodic alterations
to existing products are expensed as incurred.

Revenue Recognition

We recognize revenue in accordance with ASC 926-605 Entertainment-Films - Revenue Recognition. Accordingly,
we recognize revenue when (i) persuasive evidence of a sale with customer exists, (ii) the film is complete and has
been delivered or is available for delivery, (iii) the license period of the arrangement has begun and the customer can
begin its exploitation, exhibition, or sale, (iv) the arrangement fee is fixed or determinable, and (v) collection of the
arrangement fee is reasonably assured.
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Our licensing and royalty revenue represents revenue generated from license agreements that are held in conjunction
with third parties that are responsible for collecting fees due and remitting to us its share after expenses. Revenue from
licensed products is recognized when realized or realizable based on royalty reporting received from licensees.
Licensing income we recognize as an agent is in accordance with ASC 605-45 Revenue Recognition - Principal
Agent. Accordingly, our revenue is our gross billings to our customers less the amounts we pay to suppliers for their
products and services.

We recognize revenue related to product sales when (i) the seller’s price is substantially fixed, (ii) shipment has
occurred causing the buyer to be obligated to pay for product, (iii) the buyer has economic substance apart from the
seller, and (iv) there is no significant obligation for future performance to directly bring about the resale of the product
by the buyer as required by ASC 605 Revenue Recognition.

Other Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the
reporting periods.

Off Balance Sheet Arrangements

We have no off-balance sheet arrangements.

ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK.

Not applicable.

ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES.
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Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our chief
executive officer and chief financial officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls
and procedures, as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended
(the ‘‘Exchange Act’’). Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures that are
designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by an issuer in the reports that it files or submits under the
Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to the issuer’s management, including its principal executive and
principal financial officers, or persons performing similar functions, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding
required disclosure. Based upon our evaluation, our chief executive officer and chief financial officer concluded that
our disclosure controls and procedures are effective for the period ended June 30, 2016, in ensuring that information
that we are required to disclose in reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed,
summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the Securities and Exchange Commission rules and
forms.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting.

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the quarter ended June 30,
2016, that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial
reporting.

Inherent Limitations Over Internal Controls

Internal control over financial reporting cannot provide absolute assurance of achieving financial reporting objectives
because of its inherent limitations, including the possibility of human error and circumvention by collusion or
overriding of controls. Accordingly, even an effective internal control system may not prevent or detect material
misstatements on a timely basis. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to
the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with
the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

26

Edgar Filing: Genius Brands International, Inc. - Form 424B3

136



PART II - OTHER INFORMATION

ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS.

As of June 30, 2016, there were no material pending legal proceedings to which we are a party or as to which any of
its property is subject, and no such proceedings are known to us to be threatened or contemplated against us.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS.

There have been no changes to the Risk Factors set forth in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2015.

ITEM 2. UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS.

On May 4, 2016, we issued to our Chief Executive Officer, Andrew Heyward, 238,683 shares of common stock
valued at $1.72 per share, the day’s closing stock price, in satisfaction of short term cash advances totaling $410,535.

The securities referenced above were issued solely to “accredited investors” in reliance on the exemption from
registration afforded by Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act, as amended.

ITEM 3. DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES.

There were no reportable events under this Item 3 during the three months ended June 30, 2016.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES.
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Not applicable.

ITEM 5. OTHER INFORMATION.

None.

ITEM 6. EXHIBITS.

Exhibit
No. Description

10.1
Employment Agreement, dated as of April 18, 2016, by and between Genius Brands International, Inc. and
Rebecca Hershinger (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on April 20,
2016.)

10.2 Loan Satisfaction Agreement between Genius Brands International, Inc. and Andrew Heyward dated May
5, 2016 (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on May 16, 2016.)

31.1* Section 302 Certification of Chief Executive Officer.

31.2* Section 302 Certification of Chief Financial Officer.

32.1** Section 906 Certification of Chief Executive Officer.

32.2** Section 906 Certification of Chief Financial Officer

101.INS* XBRL Instance Document
101.SCH* XBRL Schema Document
101.CAL* XBRL Calculation Linkbase Document
101.DEF* XBRL Definition Linkbase Document
101.LAB* XBRL Label Linkbase Document
101.PRE* XBRL Presentation Linkbase Document

* Filed herewith

** Furnished herewith
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended, the registrant has duly caused this
report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

GENIUS BRANDS INTERNATIONAL, INC.

Date: August 15, 2016 By: /s/ Andrew Heyward
Andrew Heyward, Chief Executive Officer

(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: August 15, 2016 By: /s/ Rebecca D. Hershinger
Rebecca D. Hershinger, Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
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